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Corporate Profile
AT

Sino Resources Group Limited (carrying on business in Hong Kong as Sino
Gp Limited) (stock code: 223) is principally engaged in the production and
sale of coal in the PRC, as well as organization of exhibitions and trade shows
and providing related ancillary services.

During the reporting period, the Group focuses on coal mining business in
China. In 2008, it has acquired a coal mine which called Sheng Ping Coal
Mine in Heilongjiang Province, Shuangyashan, with an annual production
capacity of 600,000 tonnes, to be increased to 900,000 tonnes by 2011.
Sheng Ping Coal Mine has been highly recognized by PRC Government
authority as a benchmark of Coal Mining operations; it is designated as a
training hub for other mine operators in the province. The mine has recently
received recognition as a “Mine Star” for its excellent safety records by China
Coal Mining Operational Safety Bureau.

The Group, through its wholly-owned subsidiary namely Pro-Capital
Investments Limited, is also engaged in organization of exhibitions and trade
shows and providing related ancillary services.

WMERREERAT (LUSino Gp Limited & BIEZ
BEEER) (RERRK 223) T EBEBEEPEHE
EREERRX  URENREREZRESRIZMHIA
B8 B 75 AR 7% ©

RI|BERA - NEEEFERETEREET - 12008
FoAKEWBUREBRETIEEN LT FIEE-
BRILEEFER2R60B M - 5 ERN2011F A =7
EFF0BM - A FPRBHNRFLZ2EFELE  BF
R EMPFIRRERERERE  CREERZ
EBMLHETRBREEHNEIDL - BOFEKERR
EAEEEEREMFAPERERS RIRZE" KRB
HeE Bz REFEXRRE -

AEBTEBHE2EMNEB A RAPro-Capital
Investments Limited RHRERESRES RIZHE
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Financial Highlights
MR RE

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
ZEBAFE —ZTTN\F "ZTTLE C"BTTRE "ZTTEF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
EWTRT BT T BT T BT T BT T
(Restated)

(E73)

Operating Performance

Turnover =E 3 609,233 213,795 236,319 261,650 228,678

Profit/(loss) from ML (FE) ER 121,278 (2,230) (29,988) (28,683) 42,964
operating activities

Profit/(loss) attributable AT REEG

to equity holders of (B518) &R

the Company 56,558 (7,174) (34,411) (33,191) 34,775
Financial Position B 75 iR 5
Total assets EEHAE 1,394,262 1,172,409 120,848 156,357 205,690
Cash reserves RefHE 51,540 67,839 40,412 63,331 92,948
Total bank borrowings RITEELE - - - - 2,299
Net cash reserves ReHETH 51,540 67,839 40,412 63,331 60,649
Shareholders’ funds BRES 607,096 179,440 45,796 73,504 115,811
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2009

The Group successfully acquired Sheng Ping Coal Mine in Heilongjiang
Province in March 2008, which made itself one of the largest coal miners in
North-eastern China and also composed a prelude for its march in resource
industry.

| deeply appreciate shareholders’ recognition to our development direction
which enables the management to lead the Group into the more profitable
and promising resource industry.

| am pleased to declare that for the year ended 31 March 2009, total turnover
of the Group was HK$609,233,000, representing an increase of 1.85 times
over the same period last year. Profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company was HK$56,558,000, amounted. Basic earnings per share were
HK$7 cents. Thanks to our aggressive expansion, the resource segment has
become our core business.

Due to economic downturn and outbreak of swine flu, the Company has
been streamlining its exhibition business. The Company announced in March
2009 the disposal of its subsidiary, Group Idea International Limited, while it
entered into a revenue sharing arrangement with Group Idea at the same time.
The transaction has effectively reflected the Company’s new business focus
and allowed higher flexibility in resources allocation among the resource and
exhibition businesses.

With an adjusted focus on the resources sector, certain corporate changes
took place in the last financial year. To better reflect its corporate value and
core business, the Company has changed its name to “Sino Resources
Group Limited (carrying on business in Hong Kong as Sino Gp Limited)” since
June 2008. The management team was reformed, with re-designation of
the Chairman and appointment of certain top executives, to cater for future
business development of the Company.

FUTURE PROSPECTS AND GROWTH STRATEGY

Since the global economy slipped into a downturn in the third quarter of 2008,
negative impact has been posed on the overall demand of coal. However,
infrastructure programs launched by China government are to stimulate
steel demand which will in turn benefit our coal business. Furthermore, the
acceleration of coal resources consolidation by the State also provides vast
development space for the Group, for sharpening its edges through coal
resources expansion. In view of such favorable facts, | keep my positive view
on coal industry prospects.

The Company is well-positioned to capture opportunities vested in the
booming resources sector. The Company will keep improving operational
efficiency, achieving better resources allocation and optimizing profits in the
forthcoming year.

“ETAhFHEOMH
AEER=BR\FE= B ERBR G EBTEN
IR - BT AR DR AREGRRDES —
TAMMERARESRBERANEREBT —BS
A5 o

HRARBHRRMEQABRFANAR  EEEE
RO EEAEEETRANENES BRASEFH
BIRITH -

RAREEM BE-ZZEAF=A=T—HLFE
REE R E ¥EE Y 5609,233,0005 T 0 B A F EH
£ 7H1.851% A< A B IR 3R FE 45 755 T 49 %56,558,00078
T BREABRNATEMN - EAEEEBART -
BEREXEBCOHE T HMERNELETR -

HASETITREREES ARG TREEE -
ARPBR=ZZBEENF=AEMHHEKE 2 FAGroup
Idea International Limited @ [EBRFE2:% A 8] 5T L LA
PERH -BZREEIRMTARANTEEEL
FERERBEER CEANERDLEMEE -

EXEBBELEQERITENBE  A2FRE-HF
MR TABEE c AEFHRMREFEBEENRLES
ERAR-ZFENFAABERR[BMNEREERR
PR A ) (BASino Gp Limited ERBEBBEEER) ] -
EEERKBER ENEaIFERBISREEA
B LERRRREBER -

ARRERBRFH

BERREBER ST NFE=ZFHETHE LHE
BRERREREREELE - A FEBRFROED
EEBE  SANFHEAMTIR #MSEREHE
REBEZE -Z-FE BRMREXRERESHE
E TRAAEERUEANBREME  EBBAER
AREE  MEESNHEFED - EEENFEET -
RAHERTENASDARTLE -

ARBRWEMEERIEERT S EENES - 5
M—Fh RASEEICESENER  AZERTE
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Chairman’s Statement
EFEHE

It is expected that inorganic growth through acquisitions shall create extra
revenue source and operational synergies to the Company. The Board
will continue to explore suitable acquisition targets in order to broaden its
resources business horizon.

The Group believes that an excellent management team is the cornerstone
of success. To further strengthen our management team, the Board intends
to appoint experts in the resources sector as senior management and is
proactively searching for competent candidates in the market.

In the long run, the high-end revenue stream of the resources sector shall
converge towards the field of new and renewable energy. The Company
has envisaged enormous growth potential in this field and is interested in
exploring related investment opportunities in the future.

CONCLUSION

In the new year, the Group will continue to focus on resources and renewable
energy and seek attractive acquisition opportunities in China.

To conclude, the staff of Sino Resources and | will continue our unremitting
efforts to live up to the commitment to maximizing profitability and
shareholders' return.

|

Geng Ying
Chairman
31 December 2009, Hong Kong

AATBEBWBEHRNER  BREBIMMARES
HEEZ REREREKEE EFTSKEEASK
BENRBHZR -

REBERE BYEEFNEERBBREAEEE[K
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FERTEEIMASRERE RERSKEAE
EAE-

REMS  BRITENSWAREBERRIERR

AEHER BERUEENERERED  A2FH
EERSHBRERS -

B

FH—F AEESREREEERR U BHERE
B UHNERAASREBENHBERE -

BE FARUSMNERZBETHREXS 2 HUNUE
EEURABANENIRRREABRHER -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB R DT

AN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is mainly engaged in coal production and sales in China, as well as
organisation of exhibitions and trade fairs and provision of ancillary service.

In 2008, the most severe financial tsunami swept global economy and
resulted in a wave of company shutdowns in the rarely seen difficult business
environment. However, as encouraged by central government’s domestic
demand stimulus package, China’s economy grows at a relatively steady
pace.

During the year ended 31 March 2009 (the “period under review”), domestic
coal price had seen fluctuations with the highest point at RMB1,500 per
tonne. As the economy sharply slowed down by the financial tsunami, market
demand for resources decreased dramatically, thus the retreat of coal price.
Nevertheless, due to the enormous coal demand in China, domestic coal
price held on the high side generally, providing positive operation environment
for coal companies.

During the period under review, the Group acquired Sheng Ping Coal Mine,
marking the transformation into the resources sector. Under the upward trend
of coal price, Sheng Ping Coal Mine achieved satisfactory results.

RESULTS ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group recorded turnover of
HK$609,233,000, representing a considerable increase of 1.85 times over
last year, on the back of increased coal sales. During the period under
review, the Group managed to turn loss into profit: profit after income tax
was approximately HK$56,558,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2008:
loss HK$7,174,000); profit attributable to shareholders was approximately
HK$56,558,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2008: loss HK$7,174,000); and
basic earnings per share was approximately HK$7 cents (for the year ended
31 March 2008: loss HK$2 cents).

For the year ended 31 March 2009, coal business of the Group saw
substantial increase in profitability. Turnover from coal business was
approximately HK$395,793,000, representing over 64.96% of the total
turnover; operation profit reached HK$159,737,000, serving as the main profit
source of the Group; operating loss from exhibition and related business was
approximately HK$11,243,000.

REOE

AEENTEXBAETEALEERBEESR K  URE
NRENEZSRESRREEBEM SRS -

ZEENE CBE-BHNEREREEERMEE &
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BE_RZNF=RA=1+-ALFE(DEHR]) -
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BERERSE ERERERFEERT A FEED
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RiRgW

BE_ZZNF=A=+-HLFE AEEHEEH
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8 81 4911,243,0005% JT °

Sino Resources Group Limited
Annual Report 2009




Management Di
EEEWRR D

and Analysis

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

Governments around the globe have unveiled financial revival plans which
abated the credit crisis in short term. As the PRC Government has proactively
implemented various economic stimulus packages toward the primary target
of “8%” economic growth, the Group is confident in the prospects of China’s
economic development. Meanwhile, the PRC Government has endeavoured
to promoting new energy and renewable energy industries, the Group’s future
development shall benefit from such policies.

On exhibition service, given the globally contracted business operational
expenses and reduced intention of the exhibitors to participate, the exhibition
industry is now facing unprecedented challenges. Despite the supporting plan
by HKSAR Government to assist exhibitions against the financial tsunami,
the Group is not ready to give positive view for exhibition industry under the
gloomy investment atmosphere and economic outlooks.

In the coming year, the Group will seek business restructuring to capitalise on
its resources to develop coal business with higher profitability. Looking into
the future, the Group is positioned to better profit from its coal business by
leveraging acquisition opportunities of high quality mines with initiatives to
improve coal output, strict cost control and sales promotion.

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

AMRERE

PRFEMEEHERERT SRR SEEREE
HABUAE N EPRBFREEREE S HRHK
BEE JBITEEERIMGENINEEER Mt
AEBHPENEERRAZAMED 5 —HH
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEENWR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group derived its working capital mainly from internal cash flow from
operating activities.

As at 31 March 2009, shareholders’ funds of the Group aggregately
amounted to HK$607,096,000 (31 March 2008: HK$179,440,000). As at
31 March 2009, the Group’s assets-liabilities ratio (total liabilities to total
assets) was approximately 56.46% (31 March 2008: 84.69%). Net current
liabilities of the Group amounted to approximately HK$422,413,000 (31 March
2008: HK$547,388,000). Current assets of the Group was approximately
HK$159,907,000 (31 March 2008: HK$142,012,000), of which fixed deposits,
cash and bank balances amounted to approximately HK$51,540,000 (31
March 2008: HK$67,839,000).

As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s gearing ratio (total debts to total equity)
was 27% (31 March 2008: 109%).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND
ANY RELATED HEDGES

The Group is mainly engaged in coal production and sales in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Group’s sales and purchase are mainly
transacted in Renminbi and the books are recorded in Hong Kong dollar.
Therefore, it may be exposed to foreign exchange risk. However in view of
the stable currency policies adopted by the PRC government, the directors
consider that the foreign exchange risk is insignificant.

The Group currently has no foreign exchange rate hedging policy in respect
of commercial transactions denominated in foreign currencies. However, the
directors monitor exchange rate exposure regularly and will consider hedging
significant exchange rate exposure as and when necessary.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP

Details of pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 March 2009 were set out in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2009 were set out in note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board of the Company does not recommend any payment of final
dividend to shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2009 (for the year
ended 31 March 2008: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWRR D

OTHER EVENTS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had a total of 2,608 employees (2008: 2,971)
in Hong Kong and the PRC. All employees are remunerated according to their
performance, experience and the prevailing industry practices.

The Group also participates in retirement benefit schemes for its staff in Hong
Kong and the PRC. It introduced a share option scheme on 10 April 2002,
with options to be granted to employees at the discretion of the Board. There
was no option outstanding as at 31 March 2009.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 31 March 2008, the Group duly completed the acquisition of the entire
equity interests in Sheng Ping Coal Mine in Shuangyashan City, Heilongjiang
Province, the PRC, at a total consideration of HK$700,000,000. The coal
mine has more than 60,000,000 tonnes of reserves of premium “1/3 Coking
Bituminous” coal, with an annual production capacity of 600,000 tonnes.
Its own coal washing facility can produce Clean Coal used primarily to
manufacture iron and steel. The coal mine is well recognized in the region as
a benchmark and training hub for mine operators. Recently, it has received
the ‘Star Mine’ award from the China Coal Mining Operational Safety Bureau
in recognition of its excellent safety records.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 26 February 2009, Pro-Capital Investments Limited (“Pro-Capital”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Sale and Purchase
Agreement pursuant to which Pro-Capital agreed to sell the entire equity
interest in Group Idea International Limited (“Group Idea”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group for an aggregate consideration of HK$5 million (the
“Disposal”).

It was also proposed that Group ldea and Pro-Capital to enter into the
Master Project Management Agreement upon completion of the Disposal.
Under the Master Project Management Agreement, Pro-Capital will act as the
exclusive project manager in relation to the provision of certain management
services for the exhibitions and trade fairs to be organised by Group Idea
from time to time. Pro-Capital or its subsidiaries will retain the revenues from
the exhibitions managed by it, after sharing with Group Idea 20% of such
revenues.

The Disposal was completed on 6 April 2009.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT
The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year ended 31
March 2009.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. GENG Ying, aged 70, was appointed as the chairman and an executive
director of the Company on 1 August 2009. She has 10 years experience
in mining industry and over 20 years experience in commercial business in
the PRC and overseas. After her graduation fromithsE2fz = (Geological
Institute of Vocational Studies) in the PRC in 1961, Ms. Geng joined Beijing
Geological Team. Equipped with extensive knowledge in geology, Ms. Geng
had been exploring mines for ten years and gained extensive experience in
mining and resources industries. Subsequently, she was transferred to work
at b I ZEHT 32 FR (Beijing Institute of Pharmaceutical) andit 5 jE5& 865 (Beijing
Tumor Hospital). Ms. Geng was educated indt A EE 7 (School of Chinese
Medicine of Beijing) and became a healthcare doctor after attaining medical
postgraduate qualification. Ms. Geng started her businesses in the PRC in
late 1984, and she went to the United States of America (“USA”) in 1986 for
further development. She was the chairman of Hely Development Corporation
in California, USA. Ms. Geng successfully acquired two manufacturing plants
in Malaysia during the years from 1992 to 2001. Ms. Geng has gained over
20 years experience in commercial business in the PRC and overseas. Ms.
Geng has all round talents and is a painter. Ms. Geng is also the chairman
and the secretary general of the China Cultural Heritage Foundation, and she
held public offices in the United Nations. Ms. Geng’s father was one of the
veterans of the Communist Party of the PRC, who was a principal leader in
military, diplomatic and political fields of the PRC. Ms. Geng and her family
have extensive and profound networks in political and economic fields in the
PRC and overseas.

Mr. GAO Feng, aged 39, was appointed as the vice chairman and an
executive director of the Company on 15 June 2009. He has extensive
management experience in particular for PRC businesses for over 10 years,
and has served various important roles in a couple of listed companies and
sizable financial institutions. From February 2008 to May 2009, Mr. Gao
was the executive director of China Infrastructure Investment Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange with a stock code
of 600, in which he was responsible for fund management and investors
relationship. From February 2006 to May 2007, he was also an executive
director of Premium Land Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange with a stock code of 164. Besides, Mr. Gao was the former
president of North America for I.N.&C. Financial Organization Ltd. and the
former president of Asia-Pacific for Morgan Funding Organization. Mr. Gao
holds a master’s degree in business administration from Keuka College in
New York.

Mr. CHIU Sui Keung, aged 42, was appointed as the chief executive officer
and an executive director of the Company on 20 April 2009. Mr. Chiu has over
fifteen years’ experience in the financial industry and accounting field. He has
possessed extensive experience in corporate finance including initial public
offerings, takeovers, mergers and acquisitions, fund raising and corporate
advisory. Mr. Chiu graduated with a Bachelor’'s Degree in Commerce from
the University of Melbourne, Australia and has obtained a Master’s Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University in Sydney, Australia. He has also
obtained a Diploma in Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations Affecting
Foreign Businesses jointly organized by Southwest University of Political
Science and Law, the PRC and the Hong Kong Management Association. He
is a member of CPA Australia and the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. SUN Wei, aged 29, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 20 April 2009. Mr. Sun joined the Company in October 2008,
he has 6 years of experience in the development of the mining resources
business, he is responsible for business development in particular of exploring
new business and acquisition opportunities in line with the Company’s
business and growth strategies.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. TANG Ping Sum, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 30 April 2009. He is a qualified
accountant and has over 10 years’ experiences in the securities industry in
Hong Kong. After about 4 years of services in the Securities and Futures
Commission in Hong Kong, Mr. Tang joined Hantec Group as general manager
from 1998 to 1999; and as executive director and deputy chairman in 2000
after the listing of the group on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited in the same year, and until he left Hantec Group in 2006.
Mr. Tang then joined Taifook Securities Group Limited in 2007 as head of
Taifook’s China Division, responsible for developing the group’s securities
businesses in PRC. Mr. Tang left Taifook in 2008 and joined Tanrich Financial
Holdings Limited helping the chairman to implement structural improvements
and develop businesses in the PRC market. Mr. Tang is a degree holder of
Bachelor of Commerce and Master of Applied Finance, and he is licensed
to carry out regulated activities types 1, 2, 6 and 9 under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance.

Mr. CHENG Wing Keung, Raymond, aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 25 August 2007.
Mr. Cheng is a solicitor practicing in Hong Kong and has over 20 years
of experience in corporate, company secretarial and listing affairs. He
is an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute of Company
Secretaries in Hong Kong. He holds a degree in laws in the University of
London and a Master Degree in Business Administration in the University of
Strathclyde, Scotland. Mr. Cheng was an independent non-executive director
of Fortuna International Holdings Limited (0530) from 27 September 2004 to
20 September 2006. At present, he is an independent non-executive director
in three listed companies in Hong Kong: Skyfame Realty (Holdings) Limited
(0059), Emperor Capital Group Limited (0717) and China Investment Fund
Company Limited (0612).

Mr. LU Xin, aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 11 November 2008. He has accumulated over
20 years of experience in finance, investment and corporate management.
Mr. Lu graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics in
China and holds a bachelor degree in Cameralistics, he also holds a MBA
degree from the University of South Australia. Mr. Lu was previously under
the employment of the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China
and China Trust and Investment Corporation for Economic Development. Mr.
Lu was appointed as the Vice Chairman and Managing Director of Sinofert
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 297, formerly known as Wah Tak Fung Holdings Limited) during
the period from June 2001 to January 2004. Mr. Lu is at present the Chairman
of World International Consulting Limited.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHOW Chi Fai, aged 38, who was appointed as the company secretary of
the Company on 29 December 2008 and possess over 14 years of experience
in accounting and finance field. Mr. Chow holds a bachelor’s degree in
Accountancy from the University of South Australia and is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Corporate Governance Report
CEERRE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance through the establishment and adoption of good practices
and procedures which are in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The principles of corporate governance adopted by the
Company enhance board practices, internal controls, transparency and
accountability to the Company’s shareholders.

The Company applied the principles and complied with all code provisions
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
throughout the accounting period covered by the annual report (the “Period”).

The Board will review the corporate governance practices and procedures
from time to time and shall make necessary arrangements when the Board
considers appropriate.

We have summarized the corporate governance practices and procedures
adopted by the Company during the Period as below:

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (THE “BOARD”)

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of seven directors,
including four executive directors and three INEDs. One of the INEDs has the
relevant accounting and related financial management expertise as required
by the Listing Rules. The names of the directors by category are as follows:

Executive directors
Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman) (Appointed on 1 August 2009)
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) (Appointed on 15 June 2009)
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 20 Apr 2009)
Mr. Sun Wei (Appointed on 20 April 2009)
Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai (Resigned on 6 Apr 2009)
Mr. Chan Siu Chung (Resigned on 20 Apr 2009)
Mr. Ma Li Shan (Appointed on 7 June 2008 and resigned on 16 Jan 2009)

Mr. Javed Igbal Khan (Appointed on 7 June 2008 and resigned on 6 Apr 2009)
Mr. Fong Wang (Appointed on 7 June 2008 and resigned on 20 Apr 2009)

Mr. Ip Ki Cheung (Resigned on 15 July 2009)
Mr. Hung Cheng, Richael (Resigned on 1 August 2009)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Tang Ping Sum (Appointed on 30 Apr 2009)

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lu Xin (Appointed on 11 November 2008)

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (Resigned on 30 Apr 2009)

Mr. John Reynolds (Appointed on 7 June 2008 and resigned
on 11 November 2008)

Mr. Chang Wing Yau, George (Resigned on 7 June 2008)

Mr. Law Sung Ching, Gavin (Resigned on 7 June 2008)
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Biographical details of each director are set out under the Directors and
Senior Management Profiles section on pages 10 to 11 of this annual report.

Each of the executive directors has respectively entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years but is subject
to retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-election.

All of the independent non-executive directors have no fixed term of
appointment, but are subject to retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-
election.

None of the directors has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is
of the view that all INEDs meet the independence rules and continues to
consider each of them to be independent.

The Board, as led by the Chairman and the Vice Chairman, is collectively
responsible for the set up of the Group’s overall strategies, operating and
financial policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, evaluation
of the performance of the Company’s business, and oversight of the
management team. The management team is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group under the supervision of the Managing Director.

CHAIRMAN, VICE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of the Chairman, Vice Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are held by separate individuals with a view to maintaining an effective
segregation of duties regarding the management of the Board and the day-to-
day management of the Group’s businesses.

The Chairman and the Vice Chairman lead the Board and oversees the
functioning of the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders, and Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively. The Chairman is primarily responsible for the approval
of the agenda prepared by the Company Secretary for each Board meeting,
and taking into account, where appropriate, matters proposed by members
of the Board and including them in the agenda. With the support of the
Vice Chairman, other executive directors and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and receive sufficient and reliable information
in a timely manner before the Board meetings. The Chairman and the Vice
Chairman also actively encourage directors to engage in the Board’s affairs
and make contribution to the Board’s decisions.
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The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the Group’s businesses, the formation and implementation of operating
and financial policies among the Group and accountability to the Board for
all the Group’s operations. The Chief Executive Officer together with the
management team ensure that the Company’s business plans are consistent
with the strategies and objectives established by the Board. In addition,
the Chief Executive Officer ensures that the Company meets its funding
requirements and closely monitors the operating and financial results
against the Company’s business plans and budgets, and takes remedial
actions if necessary. The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for the
establishment and maintenance of an effective management team to assist
him in the day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses.

BOARD PRACTICES

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to give all directors an
opportunity to attend in person. Sixteen regular Board meetings had been
held during the Period. Each of the directors has full access to information
of the Company and has access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary in respect of compliance with board procedures and all applicable
rules and regulations. Each of the directors may also take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary, in accordance
with the approved procedures. The minutes of the Board are prepared by
the Company Secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board
and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the members of the
Board or dissenting views expressed.
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ETERRBEREBTTTAREHR EBETRNE
B2HFERBNT

The Board held sixteen meetings during the Period and the attendance record
of each member of the Board is set out below:

Attendance of
Board meetings

Directors in Attendance
2008/2009 Rate
R-BENE/
ShERHE
EFEERRE HEE
Executive directors HiTES
Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman) Rt (FF) (RZZEZIE
(Appointed on 1 August 2009) NB—BREZE) N/ATEHR N/ATE A
Mr. Hung Cheng, Richael HEEE (RZEZIE
(Resigned on 1 August 2009) NA—HEHE) 14/16 88%
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BEEE (BEE) (R-ZZEZhE
(Appointed on 15 June 2009) ABTHEREZRME) N/ATER N/ATE A
Mr. Ip Ki Cheung (Resigned on 15 July 2009) HLBEEE (RZEENFLATHEAFE) 16/16 100%
Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai (Resigned on 6 April 2009) RRELE (RZESENFNASAET) 12/16 75%
Mr. Chan Siu Chung (Resigned on 20 April2009) BEKEEE (RZEZNFMA =+ AFHE) 15/16 94%
Mr. Ma Li Shan (Appointed on 7 June 2008 BuIEE (RZEENFRALAEZEH
and resigned on 16 January 2009) WRZZEZNFE—B+RAEME) 8/9 89%
Mr. Javed Igbal Khan (Appointed on 7 June 2008 EEEEE (RZEENFEAALAEZE
and resigned on 6 April 2009) WRZZEZNFEMASHEHME) 2/16 13%
Mr. Fong Wang (Appointed on 7 June 2008 FREE (RZEENERALAEZE
and resigned on 20 April 2009) YR-ZZEZNEMA =+ AEHE) 2/16 13%
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) HHRAE (THER) (R-ZZBBhF
(Appointed on 20 April 2009) MAE-+RHREZE) N/ATEA N/ATEA
Mr. Sun Wei (Appointed on 20 April 2009) BEEE (R-ZEENENA-TAEZME) N/ATEHA N/ATEA
Independent non-executive directors BIARTES
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (Resigned on 30 Apr 2009) BEHLE (RZESNEFNA =T AFHE) 12/16 75%
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond EoKEEE 11/16 69%
Mr. Lu Xin (Appointed on 11 November 2008) EMREE (RZEENF+-A+—REZME) 8/12 67%
Mr. John Reynolds (Appointed on 7 June 2008 John Reynolds£4% (RZZEZENFARB+LH
and resigned on 11 November 2008) EZRUR-_ZEZENE+-A+—AFT) 1/3 33%
Mr. Chang Wing Yau, George (Resigned on 7 June 2008) BRAREE (RZEENFRALARHE) N/ATEHR N/ATE A
Mr. Law Sung Ching, Gavin (Resigned on 7 June 2008) BEELE (RZEENFERALABME) N/ATEHR N/ATiE A
Mr. Tang Ping Sum (Appointed on 30 Apr 2009) HRAHKEE (RZEENFNA=Z+RHEZRE) N/ATEHR N/ATEA

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with article 86(3) of the Articles, any director appointed by the

EECERE EERER

RIBMAIES6Q)F  EFEMEEUHEBHREZHRZ
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EEEENREFTESEIFILA L ANESALER

board to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by Shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company. In accordance with articles 87(1)
of the Articles, every director (including those appointed for a specific term

or holding office as Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director of the BE)VBEZLVB=FHARTE R -
Company) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

RECEERTR  FRTESEEZEREEEH (T
TER)  -BA BUFHTESUERETH B
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BFERE LWERE -

Under the CG Code, non-executive directors should be appointed for specific
terms, subject to re-election. Currently, the independent non-executive
Directors have no set term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS (THE
“MODEL CODE”)

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules on the terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the Period. After having made specific enquiry to
all directors of the Company, the directors are of the opinion that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and its code
of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the Period.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the directors
in relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 36 to 41 of
the annual report which acknowledges their reporting responsibilities as the
external auditors of the Company:

() Annual and Interim Reports and Financial Statements
The directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for each financial year
which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at the year end and of the Group’s profit or loss and
cash flow for the year then ended.

(ii) Accounting Policies
In preparing the financial statements for each financial year, the directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies and apart from those
new and amended accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements, have applied them consistently with previous
financial periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are
prudent and reasonable.

(iii) Accounting Records

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Group and enable the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and applicable disclosure provisions of the
Listing Rules.

(iv) Safeguarding Assets
The directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities.
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(v) Going Concern
The directors, having made specific enquiries, consider that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the
Company and of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established
the following Board Committees to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. A majority of the members of each of these Committees
is INEDs. Each of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committee is
governed by its respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Tang Ping
Sum and the other two members of the Committee are Mr. Cheng Wing
Keung, Raymond and Mr. Lu Xin.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is based on “A Guide for the
Formation of an Audit Committee” and updated by “A Guide for Effective
Audit Committees” as issued by the HKICPA (previously known as the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants) in December 1997 and in February 2002
respectively. It sets out the powers and duties of the Audit Committee, which
includes those as set out in code provisions C.3.3(a) to (n) of the CG Code,
and is reviewed by the Board from time to time.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the management and the external
auditors of the Company and reviews matters relating to audit, accounting
and financial statements as well as internal control, risk evaluation and
general compliance of the Group, and reports directly to the Board. It reviews
the external auditors about their independence and objectivity and holds
meetings with, the external auditors to discuss the nature and scope of audit
and reporting obligations and also makes recommendations to the Board on
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the Period and the
attendance record of each Audit Committee member is set out below:
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Attendance of
Audit Committee

meetings in Attendance
2008/2009 Rate
RISTNE BhER
HEERZRAEERRY HEE
Independent non-executive directors BIURTES
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (Resigned on 30 Apr 2009) WEEEE (RZZTEAFWA=+HEMT) 3/3 100%
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BBk 58 S 3/3 100%
Mr. Lu Xin (Appointed on 11 November 2008) EMREE (R=ZZZENF+—-—A+—BEZM) 2/2 100%
Mr. John Reynolds (Appointed on 7 June 2008 John Reynoldsﬁ*ﬁi (R=ZZENFAALBREZE
and resigned on 11 November 2008) WA—ZEZNFE+—A+—HEHE) TiE A 38 A
Mr. Chang Wing Yau, George (Resigned on 7 June 2008) [RK¥EE (RZZZEN\FEAXALAFE) iE A TiE A
Mr. Law Sung Ching, Gavin (Resigned on 7 June 2008) BEEELEE (RZEENFARALHEHME) i A 38 A
Mr. Tang Ping Sum (Appointed on 30 Apr 2009) BAKREE (RZZEAFTUA=1+HEZMT) iE A iE A
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The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the Period is
summarized below:

() Review of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee met and held discussions with the Group’s external
auditors and senior management, and reviewed the draft annual report
and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 and interim
report and financial statements for the six months ended 30 September
2008 before making recommendations for the Board’s approval. It
reviewed and discussed the management’s reports and representations
with a view to ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial
statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure
requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

(ii) Review of the Company’s financial controls, risk
management and internal control systems
The Audit Committee reviewed the process by which the Group
evaluated its control environment and its risk assessment process, and
the way in which business and control risks were managed. It made
recommendations to the Board about the effectiveness of internal control
systems in the Group’s business operations. These controls and systems
allowed the Board to monitor the Company’s overall financial position
and to protect its assets.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises two INEDs and one executive
director, chaired by Mr. Tang Ping Sum and the other two members of the
Committee are Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung.

The Remuneration Committee’s major responsibilities include the review of
the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and
senior management and the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration, and the review and
approval of performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals
and objectives.

The Remuneration Committee held no meeting during the Period.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises two INEDs and one executive director,
chaired by Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and the other two members of
the Committee are Mr. Tang Ping Sum and Mr. Lu Xin.

The Nomination Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to review of the structure, size and composition of the Company’s
Board of Directors including, inter alia, the skills, knowledge, integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry;

(i)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorship;

(iii) assess the independence of independent non-executive directors; and

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or reappointment of directors and succession planning

for directors.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Period.

REERE
REZEREMERIFNTEER —ERTESA
Mo MABREEBER MEBTARSBBHEAL
ERERSEE ©

REZEGCIERSEE

iy WINAQXTEZTGLE  BERARK 85 (8
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iy MENEEXRABESERNECEEAR I
MMBRFREBATETESHEOESZRM
EEZR

(i) FFEBAFDITEEBALME R

vy REEIHEFZETESRESHITHEER
Z2EEOESSRHHEBER -

REZEGRZBBRETT —REE -

Attendance of

Nomination
Committee meeting
in 2008/09 Attendance
Directors R-BENE BhE Rate
BE=E HEREZAGEERY HEE
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond WKEEE (RZEENF
(Redesignate to chairman of AAtHBEEIZEEERE)
the Committee on 7 June 2008) 11 100%
Mr. Ip Ki Cheung (Resigned on 15 July 2009) BLEEE (RZZEZEAFLATRBEE) 1/1 100%
Mr. Lu Xin (Appointed on 11 November 2008) EMREE (RZZEZENE
+—B+—BREZEE) 1/1 100%
Mr. Sun Wei (Resigned on 9 December 2009) BELEE (RZZEZFAF+ZANBEMT) 0 0%
Mr. John Reynolds (Appointed on 7 June 2008 John Reynolds%t4 (RZEZENFE
and resigned on 11 November 2008) AAtBEZFUR=-ZENEFE
+—B+—HB&HE) 0 0%
Mr. Tang Ping Sum (Appointed on 9 December 2009) BRAREE (RZZBEAF+-ANBEZMT) 0 0%

The Nomination Committee has reviewed and discussed (1) the prevailing
structure, size and composition of the Board; (2) the independence of
the INEDs; and (3) nomination of directors for re-election at the forth
coming annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee has made
recommendations to the Board.

In selecting a suitable candidate to become a member of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider various criteria such as education,
qualification, experience and reputation of such candidate.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND GROUP RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of internal control
include a defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication, and to ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement
of the Group’s objectives.

(i) Organisational Structure
An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.

(ii) Authority and Control

The relevant executive directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate strategy
and policy and contractual commitments.

(iii) Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate
and timely accounting and management information. Regular reviews
and audits are carried out to ensure that the preparation of financial
statements is carried out in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies and applicable
laws and regulations.

(iv) Group Risk Management
The Group has developed and implemented risk mitigation strategies
including the use of insurance to transfer the financial impact of risk
upon directors and senior management.

The Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s system of
internal control over financial, operational and compliance issues for the
year 2009 and concluded that the Company has set up a sound control
environment and necessary control mechanism to monitor and correct non-
compliance. The Board is satisfied that the Company in 2009 fully complied
with the provisions on internal controls as set out in CG Code.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng (“HLB”) are currently appointed as the external
auditors of the Company, which provides audit and non-audit services to
the Company. In order to maintain HLB’s independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standards, the Audit Committee, under its terms of reference, holds meetings
with HLB to discuss the nature and scope of their audit and related fees,
and to approve the nature and scope of non-audit services requested by the
Company and related fees.

The nature of audit and non-audit services provided by HLB and fees paid
to HLB (including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed
third party having knowledge of all relevant information would reasonably
conclude as part of the audit firm nationally or internationally) are set out

5% 1% BY ED

HESTMERA(AF) ARZEARDE ZE
BHE > MARARMRBRFRBRE - HESR
FERREAEAETRREF 2B - FBREM
EREEEEHBASENEEFRTIBIUTRE
R zHERSEAREEER  LERARQAIFER
ZHRBRERBHERBEUNEBRER -

BEERH RN FRERB 2 MER XN TFERE (8
FESTMEBAZHEES BEREE ZEMAH
B AABFEREENCEEABEZSAEER
ERZETMEBEM2EAARER D W2 EAHEE)
ZERWMT :

below:
HK$’000
Auditors’ remuneration: 1 T R FET
- Audit services - ZE R 1,900
- Tax services - B ARE -
- Other services - HApRTE -
1,900

The Board has accepted the recommendation from the Audit Committee on
re-appointing HLB as the external auditors of the Company.

EXSCEMNERZESHNERREAKRQAIINE
B ZEBRE -

Sino Resources Group Limited
Annual Report 2009



Report of the Directors
EEEWmE

The board of directors (the “Board”) submit herewith their report and
the audited financial statements of Sino Resources Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2009 are set
out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2009 and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 42 to 123.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2008: Nil) in
respect of the year to shareholders of the Company.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the

assets and liabilities of the Group:

MERHEE

UTAAEECHBcRAXEREEREENE

RESULTS x5
For the year ended 31 March 2009 BE-STNE-A=+—RAIEE
2009 2008
—ZEThEF —EENF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B =E FHET FHExT
Turnover & 4] 7 609,233 213,795
Cost of sales $HE R A (147,885) -
Gross profit EF 461,348 213,795
Other revenue Hth 2 7 2,434 1,422
Other income Hp i A 8 2,833 23,748
Advertising and promotion expenses EEREERX (31,507) (31,792)
Agency commission REFS (13,275) (13,396)
Amortisation and depreciation of RESEK HBHERITE
trade shows and exhibition operation (4,434) (5,707)
Hotel and travel package expenses BIERKREEZERX (11,224) (8,603)
Operating lease rentals KEHERS (39,700) (49,160)
Staff costs BT (52,454) (49,242)
Selling expenses HERX (1,727) -
Other operating expenses Hih&@EHEX (182,609) (75,815)
Impairment loss recognised in CRIABRFEEZHEESSE
respect of intangible assets (8,407) (7,480)
Profit/(loss) from operating activities BEXEAT (ER) 8 121,278 (2,230)
Finance costs & B AN 9 (21,594) -
Profit/(loss) before tax MIRERF(558) 99,684 (2,230)
Taxation i 1E 12 (43,126) (4,944)
Profit/(loss) for the year TEE(BHE) Ef 56,558 (7,174)
Attributable to equity holders of EAFBREREL
the Company 56,558 (7,174)
Dividends 2 14 - _
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable EATBRRE
to equity holders of the Company sSEREFN(BR) 15
- Basic —EK 7 centsi# (il (2 centsi& L)
- Diluted — 58 6 centsi#ll (2 centsiEAl)
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) MEITHEE &
As at 31 March
®=A=+—H
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
ZEBAE C—ZEENFE CZZEZTLFE ZZEREFE CZEZTRF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHExT FHExT FET FHBT
(Restated)
(E75))
Assets and liabilities HBEHRAR
Non-current assets FRBEE 1,234,355 1,030,397 65,178 63,082 68,591
Current assets RBEE 159,907 142,012 55,670 93,275 137,099
Current liabilities =t (582,320) (689,400) (74,022) (79,151) (80,915)
Non-current liabilities E1 =i (204,846) (303,569) (1,030) (3,702) (8,964)
607,096 179,440 45,796 73,504 115,811

Note: The results of the Group for the two years ended 31 March 2009 and its

assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2008 and 2009 are those set out on
pages 42 to 44 of the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year and
details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in notes 34 and 36
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED

Wi AREEBBE-—ZEEAFZA=+-—HLEMESF
E2EERENR-_ZENER=-_ZFZTNFZA
StT-HREEHAGIRBRNUBRREL2E
F448

PR -BERXM

FEBFAZYE BERRBEDFBHANEEY
AR MEE16

BRE - BiRER2RIES

AARNERZRABHHERADTWREH DR
BRI A G S B TR M 341236 -

REMEE

ARAZRAARERAANRFERS (FA2AEM
BAfiEzRERR) ZPMESREERELERRE
IR MEARDBEREPIEARERRBERRD

MR WMOKHSEFEL2FRZLTE

SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY =

The Company or any of its subsidiaries had not purchased, redeemed or sold RAARREFAMBARNEFAMEBEE BRI Y
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year. EREMARARZLETES

BORROWINGS R

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FEEEECHBRANGS M BIRRMIE0 -
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements and in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2009, the Company did not have any reserves (2008: Nil),
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
and no final dividend (2008: Nil) has been proposed out of such reserves
for the year. In accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, a company may make distributions to its members out of the
contributed surplus accounts under certain circumstances. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account, in the amount of HK$390,328,000 (2008:
HK$120,639,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 46% (2008: 24%) of the Group’s turnover for
the year and turnover attributable to the largest customer included therein
amounted to approximately 15% (2008: 16%). Purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 78% (2008: 51%) of the
Group’s cost of exhibitions for the year and the fees paid to the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 28% (2008: 22%) of the Group’s cost of
exhibitions for the year.

None of the directors of the Company, or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive directors
Ms. Geng Ying (Appointed on 1 August 2009)
Mr. Hung Cheng, Richael (Resigned on 1 August 2009)
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) (Appointed on 15 June 2009)
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 20 April 2009)
Mr. Sun Wei (Appointed on 20 April 2009)
Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai (Resigned on 6 April 2009)
Mr. Chan Siu Chung (Resigned on 20 April 2009)
Mr. Ma Li Shan (Appointed on 7 June 2008 and resigned on 16 January 2009)

Mr. Javed Igbal Khan (Appointed on 7 June 2008 and
resigned on 6 April 2009)
Mr. Fong Wang (Appointed on 7 June 2008 and resigned on 20 April 2009)

Mr. Ip Ki Cheung (Resigned on 15 July 2009)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Tang Ping Sum (Appointed on 30 Apr 2009)
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond
Mr. Lu Xin (Appointed on 11 November 2008)
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (Resigned on 30 Apr 2009)
Mr. John Reynolds
(Appointed on 7 June 2008 and resigned on 11 November 2008)
Mr. Chang Wing Yau, George (Resigned on 7 June 2008)
Mr. Law Sung Ching, Gavin (Resigned on 7 June 2008)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with articles 86(3) of the Articles, Ms. Geng Ying, Mr. Gao
Feng, Mr. Chiu Sui Keung, Mr. Sun Wei, Mr. Tang Ping Sum and Mr. Lu Xin will
be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant of rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all INEDs meet the independent rules and continues to consider
each of them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 10 to 11 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive directors, Ms. Geng Ying, Mr. Gao Feng, Mr. Chiu Sui Keung
and Mr. Sun Wei have entered into service agreements with the Company for
an initial term of three years commencing on 15 June 2009, 20 April 2009, 20
April 2009 and 1 August 2009 respectively.

All INEDs have no fixed terms of appointments. No service agreement has
been or will be entered into between the Company and either of the INEDs.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION ESME

During the year, directors’ remuneration, comprised payments to the directors FRN EEME (BEREELRAEREEMIAF KR
of the Company and its subsidiaries in connection with the management of REAREMBRARDREST 2RIB)ANT ¢

the affairs of the Group, is as follow:

Provident
Basic Housing fund
Name of director Fees salaries allowances Bonuses contributions Total
EEp s EXHe BE&R TEfl NESHER &kt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TiEx TiEx TiEx T TET TiEx
2009: Z2EhE:
Executive directors BTEF
Mr. Hung Chen, Richael HHEE (KR-EEAE
(Resigned on 1 August 2009) /1 —HEF) - 1,685 - 264 12 1,961
Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai RREAE (W=EEAE
(Resigned on 6 April 2009) TA A ABHE) - 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Mr. Chan Siu Chung BEkBEE (R-EERE
(Resigned on 20 April 2009) FA=+A8HE) - 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Mr. Ma Li Shan BYWEE (R-EEAF
(Resigned on 16 January 2009)  — &+ HE1E) - 425 - - 8 433
Mr. Javed Igbal Khan BEEEE (R=EENEF
(Resigned on 6 April 2009) 798 7 A BHE) 49 - - - - 49
Mr. Fong Wang FREE (R-ZEENE
(Resigned on 20 April 2009) 9B =+ HEE) 49 - - - - 49
Mr. Ip Ki Cheung ELags
(Resigned on 15 July 2009) (R=FZNF
t A+ AFE) - 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Independent non-executive BIUERTESE
directors
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BEHLE (RZEENF
(Appointed on 7 June 2008 NAtHEZEFY
and resigned on R-ZEZENF
30 April 2009) DB =+ HEE) 98 - - - - 98
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, 1587w
Raymond 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Lu Xin (Appointed on ERREE (R=ZEENE
11 November 2008) +—A+—HEZF) 47 - - - - 47
Mr. John Reynolds John Reynolds %4
(Appointed on 7 June 2008 (R=ZZFEENFE~F+H
and resigned on EBZFUR-FEENF
11 November 2008) +—A+—HEHF) 52 - - - - 52
Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George BRKHEEE (RZEZENE
(Resigned on 7 June 2008) AN At HFHE) 22 - - - - 22
Mr. Law Sung Ching, Gavin BRERE (RZEENF
(Resigned on 7 June 2008) ANA+HFHE) 22 - - - - 22
459 6,835 2,520 657 56 10,527
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

EEME& @

Provident
Basic Housing fund
Name of director Fees salaries allowances Bonuses contributions Total
EEpE s EXHe EERM TEfl NESHER &kt
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TiEx TiEx TiEx T TET TiEx
2008: ZEBNE:
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Ip Ki Cheung BLELE (RZEENF
(Resigned on 15 July 2009) +A+EABE) - 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai REEEE (R=ZEENF
(Resigned on 6 Apr 2009) 795 7 ABHE) - 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Mr. Chan Siu Chung BIkEEE (R-ZEZNE
(Resigned on 20 Apr 2009) 15 =+ ABHF) - 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Independent non-executive BIUERTESE
directors
Mr. Lai Yang Chau, Eugene BEN (R=EZEtF
(Retired on 25 August 2007) NNAZ+FHRE) 50 - - - - 50
Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George BRKHEEE (RZEZENE
(Resigned on 7 June 2008) AN A+ HFHE) 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Law Sung Ching, Gavin BEERE (RZEENF
(Resigned on 7 June 2008) AN A+ HFHE) 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, (15 4
Raymond 72 - - - - 72
362 4,725 2,520 393 36 8,036

In accordance with the director’s service agreement entered between the
Company and Mr. Ip Ki Cheung, Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai and Mr. Chan Siu
Chung, the former executive directors, on 18 March 2002, a discretionary
bonus calculated as a percentage of the audited consolidated profit of the
Group attributable to shareholders of the Company (after tax but before
extraordinary items and such bonus) in respect of every financial year of the
Company shall be determined by the Board, but in any event, the aggregate
amount payable each financial year shall not exceed 15 per cent of such profit
and shall be payable within one calendar month after the audited consolidated
accounts of the Group for such financial year have been approved by the
Board.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year.

BERRBDDPEAATESELELE - RS
ERREELER-BE_F=A+tNBITYZESE
RBHE EESEABETHREEANBREFERARAR
REGAEERELGSEN BRBERNBRIFELE
HERAREA) REED LT EZRERA 1
ERNM SEMRFEERNRAEISERERER
Z15% W ERESEEHEAEEREBRAFEZR
ERGFAREZ—EBEARZM -

FATEEENEREREREEANS 228 -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the year. Save as disclosed in this report, none of the director has had any
direct or indirect interest in any assets which have been acquired or disposed
of by, or leased to, or which are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by,
or leased to, any member of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 March 2009, none of the directors had
any beneficial interests (including interests or short positions) in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which would be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including the interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which will be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model Code in the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Long positions in the shares of the Company

EEzaENER

AAT - RERQAHHEMHE 2 TR FRBRERT
VHESHEYHERFEAESREEMYAREE
BEEERZEMEN BREAREREEN  FAZ
EENEEEYEEEAAREEAREATABA
HEFHEREBA - HEFHREZENEEZEM
B e

EFERERITHARRKG -HE
BRIRBEGFCHEGRAE

BRTXREEN RZZFEZBAF=ZA=+—-HB #
BEERAQAAREEAHELRD (AERSFRHE
R ([3% 5 R BME RG] SEXVERFT B T 2B E) 2R
- HERORESFTHEEREEZSZRAEEROEXV
HOETRSDMEMNE AR A REX M (BERER
ZRBERIZAEBHRIREFEIRAREES 2 Bx
RAR) NRBERSRME RO EII2F AT HERZ
ROz B EMRARBEEFNEAR D F) R B
R EMNBEZER (BEEEILXA) -

RELXFRGZIHE

Number of Approximate percentage
Name of directors Shares interested Capacity Holding of shares
E=EfR BRERZRBE 514 BEREENESL
Mr. Hung Chen, Richael 423,640,000 Benefical owner 45.27%
(Resigned on 1 August 2009) (Note 1) BEREBA
B L
(R=ZZAFNA—BBE) (K1) 198,000,000 Interest of a controlled corporation 21.16%
BEZEHARZER
Mr. Ip Ki Cheung 1,000,000 Beneficial owner 0.11%
(Resigned on 15 July 2009) (Note 2) BEREBA
(R=ZZZENF LA TEABME) (Hit2) 45,000,000 Interest of a controlled corporation 4.81%

BEEZES QAR 2 ER
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Hung Chen, Richael, resigned on 1 August 2009, is beneficially interested
in 100% of the entire issued share capital of Mega Wealth Capital Limited
(“Mega Wealth”) and 100% of the entire issued share capital of Webright
Limited (“Webright”).

These 198,000,000 shares include the 100,000,000 shares owned by Mega
Wealth representing 10.69% of the entire issued shares of the Company and
the 98,000,000 shares owned by Webright representing 10.47% of the entire
issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2009. Accordingly, Mr. Hung
Chen, Richael is deemed to be interested in 621,640,000 shares under the
SFO.

2. Mr. Ip Ki Cheung, resigned on 15 July 2009, is beneficially interested in 50%
of the entire issued share capital of Capital Concord Profits Limited ("Capital
Concord") which in turn holds 45,000,000 shares representing 4.81% of the
entire issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2009. Accordingly, Mr. Ip
Ki Cheung is to be interested in 46,000,000 shares under the SFO.

In addition to the above interests, (1) Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai, the former
executive director, wholly owns Harbour Rich Finance Limited which in turn
is interested in 30% of the issued share capital of Capital Concord and has
an attributable interest in 13,500,000 shares and (2) Mr. Chan Siu Chung, the
former executive director, wholly owns Pace Maker Finance Limited which in
turn is interested in 20% of the issued share of Capital Concord and has an
attributable interest in 9,000,000 shares.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the share option scheme as set out in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

EFRFETRARRKD  -HR
BRiITREFCEERKE @

Bt -

1. HBEE RZZZNFNA-HBEHE BEEHESR
Mega Wealth Capital Limited ([ Mega Wealth|) &
P E 1T R A 2100% % % UL & Webright Limited
(T'Webright ]) 2382 31T R A 2100%# & °

R-ZZEZERFEF=ZA=+—H " #%%198,000,000
1% B 3 & $5100,000,0008% FAMega Wealth#EH
ZBRH ERQATEBEEHTRMN 210.69% ) &
98,000,000/% FAWebright#E B 2 I (15X 2 T2
HEBTRH210.47%) » At REFHRHBPE
15k {51 » 3t 58k 5E 4 %8 1R B #E 5621,640,00008 4~ A 7]
Bz o

2. RIBEZNF=ZA=1+-0 ELEEX4E HK=ZE
ZhELA+EHBBE Bz B Capital Concord
Profits Limited ([ Capital Concord]) 288 21T,
AN Z50% & 7% A 8 Bl #5828 A 845,000,000
BRGO GAQXAEZBEHITRMD 24.81% °
It REFHFRPERS ELELEREAEES
46,000,000/ A2 B IR 17 2 #E & o

BREMEREN NABTESRREELETER
HHarbour Rich Finance Limited - &2 7%
HCapital ConcordB # TR A& 230% % - L
13,500,000/ R 17 2 % : REABITESHRIKE %L
4 2 & #EBPace Maker Finance Limited @ MiZ2A 7
8| % B Capital ConcordB 1T A 220% # i - FEAL
9,000,0008% % 19 2 #E 2= ©

EEMAKRGRRGZEF

BRRGE I B RRM A ABREAENFTREE
S ARF - EERATDIHEIMAME LA EFHH
EIINEMZY  AEALAVESE FESAZEED
FIBHEA T 2 F X AFEBARRTAREMEMEAE
EBzROHEFMEHE -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, 2,000,000 share options were
exercised by the Company’s employees at HK$1.066 per share and 2,000,000
share options granted to the Company’s employees were expired on 21
August 2008. No share option was outstanding as at 31 March 2009.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND INTERESTS
DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 March 2009, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued
share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

MRRRiERT &
AQRWBRA 82 R ERNGA M B REH 6 -

BE-ZZAF=A=+—HLFE" 2000000
NERERAQRBEEUNER1.066ETITE MK
FARNEMEE 22,000,000 EBRECE R =-ZZNF
NAZt+—-—BE®R - BEBRER-ZZNF=A
=t —HERITE-

FERERREBESRURGHA
ThECHR

REZZBZEAFZA=Z+—H KRR BITRA%
FUEZTHRETDEHRA R RRER SR BERA
FIBOMRATFE AT LMA :

Approximate
percentage of
existing issued
ordinary share

Number of capital of
Name of shareholders Notes shares interested Nature of interests Capacity the company
FATRBEERT
BREHERZ BEEREFRZ
BRER &8 Bt BihBE #HaMH a2 FREBWESL
Mega Wealth Capital Limited 1 100,000,000 Long positions Beneficial owner 10.69%
(“Mega Wealth”) #E BRERA
(Mega Wealth])
Webright Limited 1 98,000,000 Long positions Beneficial owner 10.47%
(“Webright”) #E BRERA
(T Webright |)
Mr. Hung Chen Richael 1 423,640,000 Long positions Beneficial owner 45.27%
(“Mr. Hung”) HE BREBA
HErE (DExE]) 198,000,000 Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 21.15%
A BEZEHNAR 2R
Toeca National Resources B.V. 2 297,200,000 Long positions Beneficial owner 31.76%
(“Toeca National”) #E BREEA
([Toeca National J) 118,000,000  Short positions Beneficial owner 12.61%
HE BREBA
Ramphastos Investments N.V. 2 297,200,000 Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 31.76%
(“Ramphastos Investments”) #E BEZERAR 2 ER
([Ramphastos Investments |) 118,000,000  Short positions Interest of a controlled corporation 12.61%
RE BEZEHNAR 2R
Boekhoom Marcel Martinus 2 297,200,000 Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 31.76%
Jacobus Johannes HE BEZERAR 2 ER
(“Boekhoom Marcel”) 118,000,000  Short positions Interest of a controlled corporation 12.61%
(IBoekhoom Marcel]) HE BEZERAR 2 ER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND INTERESTS

DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO (continued)

Number of
Name of shareholders Notes shares interested
BRiER
BREE &8 B BB E
Evercharm Investments Limited 3 79,000,000
(“Evercharm Investments”)
([Evercharm Investments |)
Grand More International Limited 3 79,000,000
(“Grand More International”)
([ Grand More International J)
Groupsource Investments Limited 3 79,000,000
(“Groupsource Investments”)
([ Groupsource Investments J)
Cosmopolitan International 3 79,000,000
(China) Limited
(“Cosmopolitan International
(China)”)
([ Cosmopolitan International
(China)l)
Cosmopolitan International 3 79,000,000
Holdings Limited
(“Cosmopolitan International
Holdings”)
([ Cosmopolitan International
Holdings )
Wan'’s Family Company Limited 4 64,903,760
(“Wan’s Family”)
(TWan’s Family ) 82,000,000
International Gold Profit Limited 4 50,000,000
(“International Gold”)
(nternational Gold ) 82,000,000
International Securities 4 14,903,760
Investments Limited
(“International Securities”) 50,000,000
(T International Securities |)
82,000,000

FERFEEBEFRURGHAA

FHEBEZER @)

Approximate
percentage of
existing issued
ordinary share
capital of

L)
Short position

g A
2§)

BEAZEHNARzES

Nature of interests Capacity the company

FATRBERT
BEREFRZ

HalH &2 FREBWESL

Long positions Beneficial owner 8.44%

wE BRBEEA

Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 8.44%

Ba BESEHAT2ER

Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 8.44%

BR L NG

Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 8.44%

wE BEZEHAR 2 ER

Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 8.44%

wE BEZEHAR 2 ER

Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 6.94%

wE BEZEHAR 2 ER

Short position 8.76%

%A

Long positions Beneficial owner 5.34%

wE BERBEAEA

Short position 8.76%

KA

Long positions Beneficial owner 1.59%

wE BRBEEA

Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 8.76%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND INTERESTS

DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO (continued)

Number of
Name of shareholders Notes shares interested
RAERZ
BREE &8 B BB E
Capital Builder Investments 4 64,903,760

Limited (“Capital Builder”)

([ Capital Builder]) 82,000,000
Ms. Wan Ho Yan, Letty 64,903,760
Fumz(FzL))

82,000,000
Mr. Ngan Chi Wing 64,903,760
BEEKEE(BELEED

82,000,000
Baron Capital Limited 4 82,000,000
Mr. Mak Wai Chun 5 82,000,000

(“Ms. Mak”)

B8R+ ([Fxt)) 82,000,000
Mr. Wan Chuen Chung, Joseph 5 82,000,000
(“Mr. Wan”)
FEBEE(TFRELE] 82,000,000
Wan'’s Family Company Limited 4 64,903,760
(“Wan’s Family”)
(TWan’s Family |) 82,000,000

FERFEEBEFRURGHAA

S A
§)

THRECZES @
Approximate
percentage of
existing issued
ordinary share
capital of
Nature of interests Capacity the company
FATRBERT
BEREFRZ
HalH &2 FREBWESL
Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 5.34%
wE BAZEHAR 2R
Short position 8.76%
KA
Long positions Interest of Spouse 6.94%
iy AR Ea
Short positions 8.76%
HE
Long positions Interest of Spouse 6.94%
¥R AR Ea
Short positions 8.76%
HE
Short positions Interest of a controlled corporation 8.76%
d= BAEZEHAR B
Short positions Interest of a controlled corporation 8.76%
HE BAZEHAR R
Interest of Spouse 8.76%
[T S
Short positions Interest of Spouse 8.76%
wE [y
Short positions Interest of a controlled corporation 8.76%
wE BAZEHAR 2 ER
Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 5.34%
wE BAZEHAR 2 ER
Short positions 8.76%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND INTERESTS
DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO (continued)

Notes:

1. These 423,640,000 shares include the aggregate of 76,640,000 shares is
beneficially owned by Mr. Hung, a former executive director (Resigned on 1
August 2009), and the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes
as at 31 March 2009 was HK$173,500,000, which can be converted into
347,000,000 ordinary shares at a convertible price of HK$0.5 shares.

Mr. Hung is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital
of Mega Wealth and Webright. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be
interested in the 100,000,000 shares beneficially owned by Mega Wealth and
98,000,000 shares beneficially owned by Webright. Accordingly, Mr. Hung is
deemed to be interested in these 621,640,000 shares under the SFO.

2. Boekhoom Marcel has the ultimate beneficial interest in the entire issued
share capital of Toeca National. By virtue of the SFO, Boekhoom Marcel is
deemed to be interested in these 297,200,000 shares beneficially owned by
Toeca National.

3. Cosmopolitan International Holdings has the ultimate beneficial interest in
the entire issued share capital of the Evercharm Investments. By virtue of the
SFO, Cosmopolitan International Holdings is deemed to be interested in the
79,000,000 shares beneficially owned by Evercharm Investments.

4. Ms. Wan has the ultimate beneficial interest in the entire issued share capital
of Wan’s Family, International Gold and International Securities. By virtue of
the SFO, she is deemed to be interested in these 64,903,760 shares include
the 50,000,000 shares beneficially owned by International Gold and the
14,903,760 shares beneficially owned by International Securities.

Being the spouse of Ms. Wan, Mr. Ngan is deemed to be interested in
these 64,903,760 shares include the 50,000,000 shares beneficially owned
by International Gold and the 14,903,760 shares beneficially owned by
International Securities.

5. This percentage is calculated based on the existing issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 March 2009.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, save for the service contracts of the directors, the Company
had not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate
to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of
the Company.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Except for the Company signed a short term loan facility agreement for the
amount of HK$8,000,000 with Hung Chen, Richael, the former Chairman and
the former executive director and a substantial shareholder for 1 year on 4
March 2009, no contracts of significance, to which the Company, its holding
companies, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiary
companies and a controlling shareholder of the Company or may compete
with the business of the Group.

FERFEEBEFRURGHAA
THEZER @

Kiat -

1. %2%423,640 oooﬂﬁﬁxfb}@%mauﬁﬁ§$i,\
fE (RZZEZRENA— ElEWc) BEREEZ
76,640, oooﬂﬁﬂﬁ{ﬁu&ﬁ_q ThE=RA=+—H
Mok R E N SRR E R AL
#173,500,0008 T * AIIRSROSB T2 RRESE

#:347,000,00008 B Z @ -

k4 B EAMega Wealth& Webright® 38 2
TRAZER REIHFRBAEMRG  MERA
# %&100,000,000% % 98,000,0004% 7 Al EEMega
Wealth&Webright HEEZBG 2 Bs e ®
b RBEFSRAERA HEEHRERAEBZ
621,640,000/% Iz 19 2 #E 2 ©

2. Boekhoom Marcel# HToeca National® # E
TRAZEREGEZ RESHZRBERKRM
Boekhoom Marcel# 1% % # 5 3%297,200,000% &
Toeca National B B 2 R0 2 % ©

3. Cosmopolitan International Holdings# &
Evercharm Investmentsé"BE‘,ﬁﬁHﬁ$2%£’§
BEEERm BREFEFKRBEHKRA > Cosmopolitan
International Ho|dmgs?)}z%E%}?Eﬁ:ﬁm,ooo,oooﬂﬁ
HEvercharm Investments&E &= B 2 R0 2 i o

4.  F L T HEBWan’s Family, International Gold&
International SecuritiesZHEHITRAZERE
R REISRBERL R AEEZ
64,903,7608% i 19 (‘/B$%50,000,000% & 14,903,760
B o )':'JlJ HInternational GoldKInternational
SecuritiesBEHEB 2R 2R o

BEAEAEAFLLI2EB BEAEWAAEETZ
64,903,7608% i% 19 (‘/B$%50,000,000% & 14,903,760
H”"\)”JUEEInternahonal GoldRXInternational
SecuritiesEHEB 2R 2R ©

5. ZESLDNRBALNIR-ZZAF=ZA=+-8
ZHRECBITRAGFE -

EEEW

REFER BRIEBSZRBSNIN  ALAHENR
AL FETEABETLEAGHUREDQT
EAEB 22 BRAEMNENBOETEERTRER -

EXEW

BRALATAR-ZZBEZNE=ZANBEEHLE (FIE
IE AT HTESREIERR)EITAEH —F2
8,000,000 TR ERMERZEN ESHERE
HEERAARLQT EMQ@ﬂ N g PN A EA
BRAAMIUCZEAEGN (RELBIRNEAEERM
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RELARREAFETMERE  BEEAHADTZ
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

So far as the directors were aware, none of the directors or their associates
had any interest in a business that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH CG CODE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance through the establishment and adoption of good practices
and procedures which are in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Company has applied the principles and complied with
all code provisions of the CG Code throughout the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

Details of compliance with the Model Code by directors of the Company is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 16 to 17 of this annual
report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of this report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Details of the composition of the Company’s Audit Committee and the major
work performed by the Committee during the year is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 17 to 18 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng (“HLB”) retire and a resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The financial statements have been audited by HLB who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of HLB as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Geng Ying
Chairman

Hong Kong
31 December 2009
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B A RES

A= N
HLB B & w FH oA
Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

31/F Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

SINO RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS KENFAIR INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Sino
Resources Group Limited (formerly known as Kenfair International (Holdings)
Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 123, which comprise the consolidated
and company balance sheets as at 31 March 2009, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true
and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other persons for the contents of this report. Except
for the limitation in the scope of our work as explained below, we conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement. However, because of the
matters described in the basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraph, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(@)

BETIFLEEBEREME LT (transliterated as “Heilongjiang Northern
Enterprises Group Co., Ltd”) (the “Mine Seller”) and Wealth Gain Global
Investment Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group (the
“Subsidiary”) (collectively referred to as the “Parties”) entered into an
agreement dated 30 October 2007 (as supplemented by a supplemental
agreement dated 31 December 2007) (the “Mine Acquisition Agreement”)
in respect of the transfer of Shuangyashan Northern Sheng Ping
Mining Limited (the “Coal Mine Company”) from the Mine Seller to the
Subsidiary (the “Transfer”). The Parties also entered into an agreement
dated 31 October 2008 (the “Mine Acquisition Extension Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Parties agreed to extend the time of payment of
the consideration for the Transfer to 16 April 2009, with an option to
extend such time for a further three months to 16 July 2009. However,
during the financial year ended 31 March 2009 and subsequently, the
Mine Seller alleged that the Mine Acquisition Agreement did not comply
with the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) and was therefore invalid. The Mine Seller also alleged that
the Mine Acquisition Extension Agreement was filed and registered with
the relevant PRC authorities without the knowledge of the Mine Seller,
and the Mine Seller proceeded to apply for the cancellation of the
registration of the Mine Acquisition Extension Agreement.

On the other hand, the Mine Seller claimed that the only valid agreement
in respect of the Transfer was an agreement dated 25 March 2008 which
was allegedly entered into between the Parties and which was filed and
registered with the relevant PRC authorities.

On 17 January 2009, the Mine Seller filed a statement of claim against
the Subsidiary (the “Statement of Claim”) with the High Court of the
Heilongjiang Province of the PRC (the “Court”) seeking, among other
things, (1) a rescission of the relevant agreements in respect of the
Transfer; (2) the return of the entire equity interest in the Coal Mine
Company to the Mine Seller; and (3) costs and other relief. On 20 April
2009, the Company received a summons from the Court (attaching
the Statement of Claim) as official notice of proceedings against the
Subsidiary (the “Litigation”). Court hearings were held on 22 July 2009
and 13 November 2009 and up to the date of this report, no judgment
has been made by the Court.

On 21 January 2009, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
formed a special committee (comprising all independent non-executive
directors of the Company and a director of the Company) to review the
Transfer (the “Special Committee”). Based on the Special Committee’s
report dated 9 December 2009, the Special Committee formed a
preliminary conclusion that the Mine Acquisition Agreement was legally
binding. Accordingly the Board considered that it was appropriate to
consolidate the financial information of the Coal Mine Company into the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2009 in accordance with the terms of the Mine Acquisition Agreement
and the Mine Acquisition Extension Agreement.

ITREERER

(@)
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On 15 December 2009, the Company issued proceedings against Mr.
Hung Chen Richael (“Mr. Hung”), a former executive director of the
Company and a substantial shareholders of the Company, at the High
Court of Hong Kong with regards to a breach of contract by Mr. Hung
in connection with a sale and purchase agreement dated 25 September
2007 made between the Company and Mr. Hung in relation to the sale
and purchase and subscription of shares in the Subsidiary.

Notwithstanding the preliminary conclusion reached by the Special
Committee in its report dated 9 December 2009 that the Mine
Acquisition Agreement was legally binding and therefore considered
it was appropriate to consolidate the financial statements of the Coal
Mine Company into the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2009 as explained in (a) above, we consider
that the circumstances surrounding the Litigation indicate that there are
uncertainties as to the validity of the Mine Acquisition Agreement and
the Mine Acquisition Extension Agreement which may cast significant
doubt as to the appropriateness of the accounting treatment adopted
by the Group in accounting for the Transfer and the related disclosures
thereof. Any adjustments that might have been found to be necessary in
respect of the above would have a consequential significant effect on the
net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2009, the profit and cash flows
of the Group for the year then ended and the related disclosures thereof.
In view of the extent and potential impact of the significant uncertainties
described above, we disclaim our opinion in these respects.

As explained in (a) above, the Mine Seller has initiated legal proceedings
against the Subsidiary in the PRC. The directors of the Company are
of the opinion, after obtaining legal advice from the Company’s legal
advisors, that the Litigation can be defended and may not result in a
loss of control of the Coal Mine Company. However, there is uncertainty
as to whether the Litigation can be successfully defended. In the event
that the outcome of the Litigation was unfavorable to the Group, this
might result in a possible loss of control of the Coal Mine Company
from the effective date of the rescission of the relevant agreements in
respect of the Transfer, and the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2009 could be affected. In view of the extent
and potential impact of the significant uncertainties described above, we
disclaim our opinion in these respects.
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(d

Due to the Litigation as explained in (a) above, we were denied full
access to the accounting records and management of the Coal
Mine Company. Consequently, we were unable to carry out auditing
procedures that we consider necessary to satisfy ourselves as to the
nature, completeness, accuracy, existence, valuation, classification
and disclosures in respect of all the transactions undertaken by the
Coal Mine Company during the year ended 31 March 2009 and the
related balances as at 31 March 2009. The financial information of
the Coal Mine Company which has been included in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009 is
summarised below:

Income and expenses of the Coal Mine Company as included in the
consolidated income statement of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2009

Turnover =E L0

Cost of sales SHER A
Other income Hug A
Selling expenses HERMX
Other operating expenses Hihge& X
Finance cost K&

Taxation g
Profit for the year REEZR

Assets and liabilities of the Coal Mine Company as included in the
consolidated balance sheet of the Group as at 31 March 2009

Property, plant and equipment

M - BERRE

Intangible assets BRERE
Inventories 7E

Deposits, prepayments and
other receivables

& BNRIEREMERRKIE

Trade receivables EWE S IR

Cash and bank balances RERIWITEER

Trade payables BB SRR

Tax payable FEHBIE

Deposits received in advance Al E

Deferred income ELEUW A

Accrued liabilities and other payables ErtEEREMEMFIE
Other borrowings HtiE&E

Other long term liabilities HithREEE

(d)

HREX(@MtzHeh EETRETEES
BEAR 2B REREERE - Mt - TEREE
ETESRARLEZEREF UEMEREL
AREBE-ZZAF=ZA=1t-HLLFERE
TEBER-ZEZNF=ZRA=T—-—RZEH#HE
BRZMEE - TEM - ERY - FEES - HE
BRRBEERN BEEEBEZ-_ZTNF=A
StT-RLEFEZHREUBRRFTBERERE
DA ZHBERPRNT -

BASKESE"_SEAF=A=+—HL*%F
EREAGRARRLFZNX

HK$’000
FHET

395,793
147,885
212
1,727
86,656
7,563
45,369
106,805

BRASKEAR-SSNF=ZA=+—HZKE
HEEARKRARBMOAFZEERAR

HK$’000
FHET

146,242
741,357
25,185

28,625
33,616
13,395
23,097
40,436
473
2,719
83,627
15,681
76,713
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We were unable to determine whether any adjustments to the financial
information of the Coal Mine Company as set out above were necessary.
We were also unable to carry out auditing procedures that we consider
necessary to satisfy ourselves as to the completeness and existence
of any significant contingent liabilities, commitments and post balance
sheet events relating to the Coal Mine Company. Any adjustments that
might have been found to be necessary in respect of the above would
have a consequential significant effect on the net assets of the Group as
at 31 March 2009 and the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2009 and may have resulted in additional information
being disclosed in the financial statements as to the nature of the
transactions and any significant non-adjusting post balance sheet events
relating to the Coal Mine Company.

Included in “goodwill” as shown on the consolidated balance sheet of
the Group as at 31 March 2009 was goodwill with carrying amount of
approximately HK$341,062,000 arising from the acquisition of the Coal
Mine Company. As stated in note 20 to the financial statements, the
directors of the Company have carried out an impairment testing on
goodwill as at 31 March 2009. However, for reasons as explained in (d)
above, we were unable to perform auditing procedures that we consider
necessary to satisfy ourselves that the recoverable amount of the
goodwill exceeded its carrying amount as at 31 March 2009 and whether
any impairment loss should be recognised in accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 36 “Impairment of Assets”. Any adjustments
that might have been found to be necessary in respect of the above
would have a consequential significant effect on the net assets of the
Group as at 31 March 2009 and the profit of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2009.

Included in “Interests in subsidiaries” as shown on the Company’s
balance sheet as at 31 March 2009 was the Company’s investment in
the Subsidiary with a carrying amount of approximately HK$689,928,000.
As explained in (a) and (c) above, there is uncertainty as to whether the
Litigation can be successfully defended. In the event that the outcome
of the Litigation was unfavorable to the Group, this might result in a
possible loss of control of the Coal Mine Company from the effective
date of the rescission of the relevant agreements in respect of the
Transfer, and the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2009 could be affected. In view of the extent and potential impact
of the significant uncertainties described above, we disclaim our opinion
in these respects.
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DISCLAIMER OF OPINION: DISCLAIMER ON
VIEW GIVEN BY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Because of the significance of the matters described in the basis for
disclaimer of opinion paragraph, we do not express an opinion on the financial
statements as to whether they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and the Company as at 31 March 2009 and of the Group’s
profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and as to whether the financial statements
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In respect alone of the limitation on our work as described in the basis for
disclaimer of opinion paragraph above:

o we have not obtained all the information and explanations that we
considered necessary for the purpose of our audit; and

o we were unable to determine whether proper books of account had been
kept.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY CONCERNING GOING
CONCERN BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 3(a) to the financial
statements which indicates that the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$422,413,000 as at 31 March 2009. These conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in note 3(a) to the financial statements,
indicate that existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 December 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement

meEBak
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
2009 2008
“EBNF —EENEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
i = FHET FET
Turnover BEH 7 609,233 213,795
Cost of sales $HE B AR (147,885) =
Gross profit EF 461,348 213,795
Other revenue H = 7 2,434 1,422
Other income H g X 8 2,833 23,748
Advertising and promotion expenses EERERERX (31,507) (31,792)
Agency commission REREE (13,275) (13,396)
Amortisation and depreciation of RESXB2BHERITE
trade shows and exhibition operation (4,434) (5,707)
Hotel and travel package expenses BIE R REE R X (11,224) (8,603)
Operating lease rentals ReEBHEHES (39,700) (49,160)
Staff costs BT A (52,454) (49,242)
Selling expenses SHEMX (1,727) -
Other operating expenses Hih B (182,609) (75,815)
Impairment loss recognised in ERABFEEZRERSE
respect of intangible assets (8,407) (7,480)
Profit/(loss) from operating activities BEEBRT(BR) 8 121,278 (2,230)
Finance costs 5= 9 (21,594) =
Profit/(loss) before tax BRIBET (&5i8) 99,684 (2,230)
Taxation I8 12 (43,126) (4,944)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEE(BR) &7 56,558 (7,174)
Attributable to equity holders of A TEBEEREM
the Company 56,558 (7,174)
Dividends KR 14 - -
Earnings/(loss) per share atiributable F A FRRES
to equity holders of the Company sREN(BR) 15
— Basic —ER 7 centsiEfll (2 centsiE1l)
— Diluted —-#8 6 centsiEfl (2 centsi& 1)

All of the Group’s operations are classed as continuing.

FEBAMAREXB I BRFRALEET -

BER 2 MY FE B A M R 2 — 510 ©

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
meBEBER
At 31 March 2009 —EZhE=A=+—H

Goodwill

2009 2008
—ETAEF —EENF
Notes HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
F =F FEx FET
Non-current assets FRBNEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- - BERRME 16 151,936 75,291
Intangible assets B EE 19 741,357 603,667
BHE 20 341,062 341,062
Available-for-sale financial assets HEENKERE 22 - 10,377
1,234,355 1,030,397
Current assets e E
Inventories FE 23 25,185 10,776
Deposits, prepayments and Re - ANFRIER
other receivables H b pE W I8 24 46,340 42,928
Trade receivables g2 5 EWFE 25 33,616 20,469
Tax prepayment SERNE AL 3,226 -
Cash and cash equivalents BEeERBEELEEER 26 51,540 67,839
159,907 142,012
Less: Current liabilities -4 b =K
Trade payables g5 ENARE 27 23,097 3,859
Deferred revenue IEFE W 2= 2,720 2,187
Amount due to a shareholder FEA IR RFRIE 28 11,118 =
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2t EERHMEM KA 29 416,543 583,828
Other borrowings HitE & 30 33,953 =
Deposits received in advance iR € 54,377 79,096
Tax payable FES B H 40,512 20,430
582,320 689,400
Net current liabilities B A RRE (422,413) (547,388)
Total assets less current liabilities BEHERTBAR 811,942

Sino Resources Group Limited
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2009 2008
ZEThE —EENF
Notes HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
F =F FTHET FE T
Less: Non-current liabilities W ERBDAR
Deposits received in advance BEE - 6,307
Deferred income 95 3E A 2,719 2,681
Other long term liabilities HRPERS 31 76,713 75,692
Convertible notes R EE 32 115,988 196,518
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEAE &3 9,426 22,371
204,846 303,569
Net assets BERE 607,096 179,440
Equity L =
Share capital B 34 9,358 4,397
Reserves fE 597,738 175,043
Total equity attributable to AL TFBREM
equity holders of the Company EaRE 607,096 179,440

The consolidated financial statements on pages 42 to 123 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 December 2009 and

signed on its behalf by:

Gao Feng

L1

Director

EZ

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

BEREIBEZHEEUBRREN=-ZZAFE+=A
St BHEESSHERRENE  UATIALR

REF !

Chiu Sui Keung

i

Director

EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERmSER

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

At 1 April 2007

assets

in equity

Issue of shares

Equity component of

of subsidiaries

FATIRREEES
(Accumulated
Share losses)/  Convertible Share
Share premium Other Retained notes equity options Total
capital account reserves earnings reserve reserve equity
(RAER)/ TRERE 1
kx ERAERE i 6 FRERH HaMN ek #ada
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$*000
TEx TE R TER TAT TEx TER TET
(Note 35(a))
(M£35(a))
RZZZLFMA-H 2,355 23,517 26,314 (6,390) - - 45,796
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBL A - = (8,975) = = = (8,975)
Exchange differences on AREREER 2 RE
franslation of overseas BIRERRZ
subsidiaries not recognised EXEH
in the income stafement - - 763 - - - 763
Fair value losses in respect of ~ EI{HEHEEI
available-for-sale financial BEZNTE
i . . (15,243) . . . (15,243)
Net income and expense BERRAEERRZ
recognised directly WARR %
25 - - (23,455) : . - (23,455)
Transfer to income statement AHEmftHEe
on disposal of available-for- BHEEMEA
sale financial assets Bak - - (4,482) - - - (4,482)
Net loss for the year AEEFEFE - - - (7,174) - - (7,174)
Total recognised income FEELERAZ
and expense for the year LONYEEE L - - (27,937 (7,174) - - (35,111)
BIRG 1177 10,442 - - - - 11,619
Issue of share options BTERE - - - - - 13,044 13,044
Exercise of share option e R E 165 18,080 - - - (4,565) 13,680
TRRRE
convertible notes Erh - - - - 83,152 - 83,152
Deferred tax arising on issue BTUaRRE
of convertible notes EEZELHRE - - - - (22,371) - (22,371)
Issue of shares upon acquisition [ UK & i B 2 &
TR 700 68,600 - - - - 69,300
Recognition of equity-settled BAURRLEEZ
share-based payment NROBERSHR = = = = = 331 331

At 31 March 2008

RZEBRNE=A=1-H

4,397

120,639 (1,623)

(13,564

60,781

8,810

179,440
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Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

FATIRREEES
(Accumulated
Share losses)/  Convertible Share
Share premium Other Retained notes equity options Total
capital account reserves earnings reserve reserve equity
(RAER)/ TRERE 1
kx ERAERE i 6 FRERH HaMN HER HEHE
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$*000
TE TE R TER TAT TEx TER TET
(Note 35(a))
(M£35(a))
At 1 April 2008, as per above  EAER=ZENEMA-H 4,397 120,639 (1,623) (13,564) 60,781 8,810 179,440
Exchange differences on ARBHEEERZ
translation of overseas BERHHBLR
subsidiaries not recognised ZEREH
in the income statement - - (1,317 - - - (1,317)
Fair value losses in respect of ~ FIEEEENBEEZ
available-for-sale financial NTEEE
assets - - (1,963) - - - (1,969)
Net income and expense BERRAEERRZ
recognised directly WARBIX R
in equity - - (3,282) - - - (3,282)
Transfer fo income statement on A HE A HEHE
disposal of available-for-sale BHEEMEA
financial assets B#ER - = 4,351 = = = 4,351
Net profit for the year KERRTFE - - - 56,558 - - 56,558
Total recognised income FEELERAZ
and expense for the year BARBX AR - - 1,069 56,558 - = 57,627
Issue of shares BITRA 1,205 104,233 - - - = 105,438
Issue of ordinary shares upon ~ R{T{EEERE
exercise of share option mETLBR 326 35,855 - - - (8,645) 27,536
Conversion of convertible notes ~ ER AR ZE 3,430 129,601 - - (30,213) = 102,818
Other movement Hirzg - - 134,237 - - = 134,237
Release upon expire of R B B A o 458
share option - - - 165 - (165) -
At 31 March 2009 R=BERE=ZA=1+-H 9,358 390,328 133,683 43,159 30,568 - 607,096

BEMY 2 B E B A B SRR 2 — &40 ©

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
GERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE

2009 2008
“EBNF —BRERNE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt 2 FHET FET
Cash flows from operating activities BEXBZLARE
Profit/(loss) before tax BB ADEF S (B18) 99,684 (2,230)
Adjustments for: EH TR
Finance costs B R AR 21,594 -
Interest income FE WA (866) (1,225)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHB 15,428 3,810
Depreciation of property, M- BER
plant and equipment REZIE 16 107,630 1,897
Transfer from equity on disposal of HE R ER T EER
available-for-sale financial assets ferE S 4,351 (3,761)
Fair value change of derivative TEMBIANAFE
financial instrument #E (2,047) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz WS - (6,494)
Share-based payment LR G5 RER 2 [ - 331
Share option expenses BRERX = 13,044
Gain on disposal of property, HEWXE - BER
plant and equipment B PA & - (6,373)
Net exchange (losses)/gains R (F518) W FE (3,640) 321
Impairment loss recognised in ERAELEEZ
respect of intangible assets BB 18 8,407 7,480
Operating profit before RERA > RFTEEES
working capital changes 2E 250,541 6,800
Increase in inventories FEEM (14,409) -
Increase in trade receivables B 5 MW IEE N (13,147) -
Increase in trade payables B 5 EARIEEM 19,238 -
Increase in other long term liabilities Hit R AEEEM 1,021 -
Decrease in prepayments for W —ERE AR AN
acquisition of a subsidiary FIRED - 814
Increase in deposits, prepayments & FBARER
and other receivables H {th & Wt FRIE IE AN (3,412) (8,579)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue EEW=RE M OR) 533 (1,848)
(Decrease)/increase in deposits received FEWRE Cfd) /i
in advance (31,026) 3,250
(Decrease)/increase in other payables HAb BT FE R Rt
and accrued liabilities E&CRa) & (167,285) 7,135
Cash generated from operations REXBEEZRE 42,054 7,572
Interest received 2 WF 8 866 1,225
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBFEH (5,343) (2,754)
Overseas tax paid 28I B (23,181) =
Net cash inflow from BEXBzHRSE
operating activities A RE 14,396 6,043
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2009 2008

ZEEATF —EENF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mt 2 T#T FET
Cash flows from investing activities BREZBZEAQRE
Purchase of intangible assets BEEFERE (25,944) =
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BEKRSZE 16 (183,254) (4,765)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWXE - BERRKE
plant and equipment P8 FIE - 9,440
Proceeds from disposal of HERHEERE
available-for-sale financial assets Fri8sE 8,412 8,349
Acquisition of a subsidiary (net cash and WK B B B8 2 R (1 BR P UL BB
bank balances acquired) 2B & RIRITEER) - (16,875)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE M B A B P8 RIE - (64)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits 2E R RITIFRORD - 3,175
Net cash outflow from BRAEHZRERHPE
investing activities (200,786) (740)
Cash flows from financing activities METBZRA&RE
Proceeds from new borrowings FIBMEFR Z FT B 708 33,681 =
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRMD ZFTEFIE 119,295 11,773
Proceeds from issue of shares upon H 4T BB IR RE T 3% 4T
exercise of share options B2 2 Fr 8 58 27,536 13,680
Shares issuing expenses BMDETHX (13,857) (154)
Increase in amount due to a shareholder FEAF — B BRERFRIE L fn 11,000 =
Interest paid ENFE (7,564) =
Net cash inflow from MEEHZRE
financing activities mABRE 170,091 25,299
(Decrease)/increase in cash and HeéeRBE&SEERHE
cash equivalents (RD) 8 (16,299) 30,602
Cash and cash equivalents at FOZHeRE&
beginning of the year %{EEHH 67,839 37,237
Cash and cash equivalents at end FERZEERAS
of the year SEEE 51,540 67,839
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRB&FERA
cash equivalents BRow
Cash and bank balances HERIBITER 51,540 67,839

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
EESEX
At 31 March 2009 —EZhE=A=+—H

2009 2008
—EThE —ZEENF
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’ 000
M 3£ FTHET FET
Non-current assets FRmEBRE
Interests in subsidiaries RMTB ARz = 18 735,117 702,574
Available-for-sale financial assets A EEENKERE 22 - 10,377
735,117 712,951
Current assets mEEE
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables &€ - FA{4 518 & H fth FE W 718 24 129 530
Cash and bank balances ReRBITEE 26 38 1,220
167 1,750
Less: Current liabilities W RERR
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt BERHEMBESRIE 29 160,390 300,248
Amount due to a shareholder FE A3 BRERFRIE 28 11,118 =
Amount due to subsidiaries FEASHI B A R FRIE 18 14,001 =
Other borrowings H At &R 18,272 -
Deposits received in advance ARRE - 3,250
203,781 303,498
Net current liabilities RBDRREBHE (203,614) (301,748)
Total assets less current liabilities BEHNERTDAR 531,503 411,203
Less: Non-current liabilities o EREAR
Convertible notes R EE 32 115,988 196,518
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEBAE &3 9,426 22,371
125,414 218,889
Net assets BERE 406,089 192,314
Capital and reserves BERGEME
Share capital i@ 34 9,358 4,397
Reserves R0 35(b) 396,731 187,917
Total equity L] 406,089 192,314
The consolidated financial statements on pages 42 to 123 were approved BA2Z123E 2GR BBRENR=_ZZNFE+=A
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 December 2009 and ST—HEESSHERRENE  AHTHALR
signed on its behalf by: REEF
Gao Feng Chiu Sui Keung
= I I 54
Director Director
EE EE
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. BEF 2 Bt T A B A SRR R 2 — F 4D o
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS FR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE

l.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sino Resources Group Limited, formerly known as Kenfair International
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered
office of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at Suite 3708, 37/F, Central
Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are involved in the organisation of exhibitions
and frade shows, providing ancillary services and sale of coal. The
principal activities and other particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in
Note 18 to the financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which
is the same as the functional currency of the Company and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following
new standard, amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which
are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 April 2008. A
summary of the new HKFRSs are set out as below:

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

Reclassification of Financial Assets

HK(IFRIC) = Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding

HK(IFRIC) = Int 14

Requirements and their Interaction

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on how the results
and financial position for the current or prior accounting periods have
been prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior period adjustment
has been required.

QNFEH

HMNEREEERAR (AIBEZRER (ZR)E
RAR) [ARARDANHERESEMBLZE
RAB MERMREBHEXZAMERLD A
(TR L e KRRz EMPEEMIUH
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° Z<
AAEBEXEMBURBBEFBEEI8RPIR
EH37#3708E °

KRRz EEXZBRAREER - ENB AR ZE
EXBRENREEREZRES RERER
BUREERR - BETHWEB AR ZEREKRE
RN B IRRMIFE18 ©

MM RUBITES MBI/ AT ZIEE
B REEERN  FEHEONEETN (T
BIT) e

ERMIIREBIIZEEMEREER
((EFEEMBEREEDN])
REBRAFEERERUTHEBEHMAE
((BEEEtMAE ) BAER =S N\FNA—
BRRASEE 2 RFEEER BT R2E (5
HBMBEHERER ) o BB MRS R A
ZMT

RS EREIN WBEEZEHDL
REBPBEERE
EBIZE75% (1BR])

BB (AR BHRE REETFEZS
REZES)

—REE125%

B8 (EABRPKHRE BESEAFEIN
REBZEES) - RENBEEZ
—REEI4R R - HREEEER

K& 2 BB &

BRANET & BB B E RS B p s E S5 HIE
REBRIBRAINEER 2 U EERNTE
[ bt B 78 4F H AT A S 2 o
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS FR R A

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

The Group has not early adopted the following new HKFRSs that have

2. ERWMIIREBIZEEMBEREER
((ERMBEREEMN]) ()

REFEWARZEFERUT S BMERERZHET

NAGETER BT HRE AEBEENEZSE
HEBUBRELENZBERE  EERIRE
ZEHNE R BREENEEEE AR M BR
ANREERZFIFARTEEEATE - 2EH
ERPBREENIEEHARHAREXERY
BUR R mER 25 XN EREE -

been issued but are not yet effective. The Group is in the process of
assessing the potential impact of these new HKFRSs will have a significant
impact on how its results of operations and financial position are prepared
and presented. These new HKFRSs may result in changes in the future as to
how the results and financial position are prepared and presented.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvement to HKFRSs! BAMBREER (B) BEBRBHKREEL
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvement to HKFRSs 20098 BAMBREER (B) BEBBHBRSEES
(Z2BhE)®

BEREENE 1% (BET)  BHEFRZ2°
BESIEAE0N (BET)  REAK
BESEAETS (BB HERBIBBHR

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements?
HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

Borrowing Costs?
Consolidated and Separate Financial

Statements®
HKAS 32 & HKAS 1 Puttable Financial Instruments and EREENERER HENBIARESR
(Amendments) Obligations Arising on Liquidation? BRI ERE (BT EEZER
HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged ltems? EBEHEREIH% (BT) REREMIER

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27

(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

Firsttime Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards®

Cost of an investment in a Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate?

Share-based Payment Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations?

BEMBREEUFIH
(&)

ERMBHRELAZIRR
EBS R E275 (B3])

BRUBREREAF2 (BT

BREANTBHBREED

BRERWELR  £E
BHBEERHENT

Z A

AR A - BB R Rk 82

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations® ERUBREEUEINS (KBT) EBEH

HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Financial Instruments: Disclosures — BRUBREENETS (BF) BBIE RE-UERH
Improving Disclosures about Financial BT ANRE
Instruments?

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments? BERYBHSEEYELR BEAE

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 & Embedded Derivatives* BE (ERFBREREZEE) BMATEIR

HKAS 39 (Amendments) -REERRERE

B3935 (5T
HK(IFRIC) - Int 13 B (ARBBRERBEES) BHRETE

Customer Loyalty Programmes®

-REEINR
HK(IFRIC) - Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of 5t (ARBBEREREZEES) HEEMERR
Real Estate? -REE1SH
HK(IFRIC) - Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign 58 (ARUBRERBZES) BHN2EFREZHWS
Operation® -REE16H
HK(IFRIC) — Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners® B (ARUBREREBZEE) BRGADRERSER
-REEI7H
HK(IFRIC) - Int 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers” 58 (ARUBRERBZES) RERFLEBCEEEY
-REE18H
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
except for the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for annual periods

beginning on or affer 1 July 2009.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 30 June 2009

Effective for transfer of assets from customers received on or after 1
July 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
except for the amendments to HKAS 38, HKFRS 2, HK(IFRIC) - Int 9
and HK(IFRIC) - Int 16, effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2009.

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the accounting for
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July
2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment on changes
in parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control, which will be accounted for as equity transactions. HKAS
1 (Revised) will introduce a number of terminology changes (including
revised titles for the consolidated financial statements) and will result in
a number of changes in presentation and disclosure. The directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of the other new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”), and Interpretations issued by the
HKICPA and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In
addition, the financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

2.

ERAMIIREBIZEEMEGREER
((ERMBEREEMN]) ()

| BEAR-ZEZEAF-A-HREERHKZ
FEHE  EEEBUBRELEAESRZ
BRI HERR=-ZZAFLA—HR
HERm < FEHRB

. HMIZZRAF-A-HRHEBRHRBZFE
HE £

P OHMCERAFLtA-HIHERFRBZFE
HE £

¢ HTERENFLA-BRHERAKZFE
HE £

S O HZERENF+A-BRHERAKZFE
HE £

¢ HI-ZZAFAAZ=THREEZHRKZF
EHE LN

7 RIEZEZBAFELA-—HIZBRWEMRERF
EBEELEN

¢ EARSEZNF-A-—BHHERHKZ
FEHMB HEHEBSHELEIE &
B YR EERFE25 - BB (BB 5K
EREBEEE) -RBEIRRES (BRI
BRERBEZES) BB ZBR
Sh BERAR-ZEZNEFE LA -—HHHEH
¥z FEHE

FEREEMBREEDEIR (RIET) TEE
BHRBEHA-ZTNFLA-—BRZEHAA
BEFERSHB2ME R BR2BHERS G
ZEFTRE - BEEEAE27N (RERT) e
HEFHRSLAARMBEARA 2 HEAREEZE S (X
BEYREZGE) 2 STEE 2B BEIE
BERXG BEGSTERER (KB BHRS
BEHE (BERERGEUBREREHE) LEEH
2 RFEFEL2ZIENE - ARAESEY B
R IR RSB ER BRI R EHAEE 2%
BRUBREETEEERTE -

EXEHBFRER

UITARELEHBERRBEEACEIEGTHR
EoBRBAERBI WERRERM2NZEEF
EERER -

HEHRBREEZRAEBAZEBUBREE
BREBEERM ST RAMAEER - BBUK
HELAR—BHEE  HEESESHMAER
fAZMAERAZERE BN BREER FEG
ER ([FBEEER ) K2R - o - BEH
REFHIMES LHHRA (T EHHRA D) REE
DNEMRPIZBRARESRE o
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS SRR P 5
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation

3. EXERIRFEE(])

(a) REEE

53

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is historical cost except for certain financial assets and
financial liabilities which are carried at fair value.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the Group’s net current liabilities of
approximately HK$422,413,000 at 31 March 2009. The directors
of the Company have been taking steps to improve the liquidity
of the Group. As set out in note 45 to the financial statements,
subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Group carried out a fund
raising exercise which involved the subscription of 178,000,000
new shares at a subscription price of HK$0.338 per share. The
subscription of new shares was completed on 26 May 2009 and
10 June 2009 respectively. The Company received net proceeds
from the fund raising exercise of approximately HK$60,000,000. In
addition, Mr. Gao Feng, a shareholder of the Company, has agreed
to provide continuing financial support to the Group. As such, the
directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full its
financial obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

(il  Mine Acquisition Agreements and the 2008 Agreements
EEILXACEEBEREME LA (transliterated as
“Heilongjiang Northern Enterprises Group Co., Ltd”) (the “Mine
Seller”) and Wealth Gain Global Investment Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group (the “Subsidiary”) (collectively
referred to as the “Parties”) entered into an agreement dated 30
October 2007 (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement
dated 31 December 2007) (the “Mine Acquisition Agreement”)
in respect of the transfer of Shuangyashan Northern Sheng Ping
Mining Limited (“the Coal Mine Company”) from the Mine Seller
to the Subsidiary (the “Transfer”). The Parties also entered into
an agreement dated 31 October 2008 (the “Mine Acquisition
Extension Agreement”), pursuant to which the Parties agreed to
extend the time of payment of the consideration for the Transfer
to 16 April 2009, with an option to extend such time for a
further three months to 16 July 2009. Around early December
2008, the Company received complaints from the Mine
Seller and the Mine Seller alleged that the Mine Acquisition
Agreement was invalid as it did not comply with the relevant
laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The Mine Seller also alleged that the Mine Acquisition
Extension Agreement was filed and registered with the relevant
PRC authorities without the knowledge of the Mine Seller
and the Mine Seller proceeded to apply for the cancellation
of the relevant registration of the Mine Acquisition Extension
Agreement.

REFIEIRR T AR 2 A EAE R iR LR
HETRAFEIGZUBEERGBE
BERSb o

RIFRGS M BERRE  AARESECERE
AEER=-ZZANF=ZA=Z+T—HBZRY
B B F 422,413,000 Tt HEZE E
FEBZRRRBES - AR REESIRE
Bt - DRBAEAEEZRBES - WP
BRMTASAE  REFBER  NEBE
TEEEE  WRIEREBRKR0.338EBTZAE
B33 18178,000,0008 37 I 17 R 8 1 R
BNERFR=-FEAFAA=TARER=
ZENFAATEER MALEAEEBE
BE B W R PR S FRIEF #E#960,000,00058
T WA RRNERRBSELALEERERA
SERHSEVHEXE - Elt - ESHE
&S 5% B2 40 A T RS BRR B A H E
BB - Bt ANEREHBMRIDIRE
BREEERH -
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R-ZEZtF+HA=+H  BEIL
FEXESEEEREELAA ([RESE
B 1) EARQ Tz 2 EK B D TWealth
Gain Global Investment Limited ([ Fff
BARD (HBIETAL ] MMEBE AR
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ED ML HE(RARA-—ST L
F+-_A=+—Hz@WAaHBEM@E
7)) (TRBEWEFHZ] - TN H AT
YHBMA-ZEZENFE+A=+—HZ
thaE ([RIBEBBERHZE] B
ARNFRERZNEEREZREL
HME_ZZTHhFWNA+<HB WAJE
BEE-—SEH=ERAZE_ZZNFt
BtARB -HAR-_ZENF+=-A L
G ARFNERES HRF - KE
BErEHEBREREEREETH
EAREME ([HE)BEEERER
MITEHE N - BEELTER  HIE
WEESRHBERRAENEREES 2
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BT ERaR ML
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i)

Mine Acquisition Agreements and the 2008 Agreements
(continued)

On the other hand, the Mine Seller claimed that the only valid
agreement in respect of the Transfer was an agreement dated
25 March 2008 which was allegedly entered into between the
Parties and which was filed and registered with the relevant
PRC authorities (the “2008 Agreement”).

The Company’s ex-chief financial officer and ex-financial
controller both informed Mr. Hung Chen Richael, a former
director of the Company, on or around 20 June 2008
that, unknown to the Company or a former director of the
Company, Mr. Hung Chen Richael, at that time and without
their consent, the terms of the Mine Acquisition Agreement had
been unilaterally amended and submitted to the relevant PRC
authorities by the Mine Seller and that the PRC authorities had
duly registered and approved the agreement which became the

2008 Agreement.

The principal difference between the Mine Acquisition
Agreement and the 2008 Agreement is that according to the
Mine Acquisition Agreement, the Transfer Consideration is to
be used by the Mine Seller to seftle the Coal Mine Company’s
long term liabilities and interest plus any contingent liabilities,
the Mine Seller would be liable for the deficiency. Pursuant to
the terms of the 2008 Agreement, however, the Mine Seller
does not bear such responsibility and the Subsidiary is obliged
to settle payment in foreign currency of an equivalent sum of
a total of RMB140,000,000 which consideration is stated to
include the registered capital of RMB20,000,000 paid up by
the Mine Seller and staff redundancy fees of RMB32,000,000.

On 21 January 2009, the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) formed a special committee (comprising all
independent non-executive directors of the Company and a
director of the Company) to review the Transfer (the “Special
Committee”). Based on the Special Committee’s report
dated 9 December 2009, the Special Committee formed a
preliminary conclusion that the Mine Acquisition Agreement
was legally binding. Accordingly the Board considered that it
was appropriate to consolidate the financial information of the
Coal Mine Company into the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 in accordance
with the terms of the Mine Acquisition Agreement and the Mine
Acquisition Extension Agreement.

3. EXERIRFEE(])

(a) REEZE ()

(i)
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Financial information of Shuangyashan Northern Sheng Ping

3. EXERIRFEE(])

(a) EBRE X (R)
(i ZMBUIFHFEREFTRELRFZ

55

Mining Limited

On 18 June 2009, the Company received from the Coal
Mine Company a notice issued by the Mine Seller on 18 May
2009 pursuant to which, among other things, the Mine Seller
warned the Coal Mine Company (i) not to permit the Company
and other parties to perform activities; and (ii) the Coal Mine
Company should not address to any request made by the
Company and the Subsidiary, until final decision is held by the
PRC Court in relation to the litigation between the Subsidiary
and the Mine Seller. On 1 July 2009, the Subsidiary appointed
Heilongjiang Jianmei Juangye Co., Lid to manage the overall
operations and monitor the safety production of the Coal Mine
Company (the”New Management Company”). During the
period from 9 July 2009 to 24 July 2009, the Subsidiary issued
several notices to the Coal Mine Company for the dismissal of
three directors of the Coal Mine Company and the appointment
of new chairman and directors (the “New Management
Team”). However, it is believed that, due to the influence of the
Mine Seller, the existing management team of the Coal Mine
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Company; and (ii) has discontentment with, and is reluctant to MBRENRE  R(i)FTEELERER

accept, the take-over of the New Management Company and
the New Management Team.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BT ERaR ML
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii)

Financial information of Shuangyashan Northern Sheng Ping
Mining Limited (continued)

The financial information of the Coal Mine Company, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, was consolidated in the
financial statements of the Group. The financial information
was prepared by management based on the Coal Mine
Company’s management accounts and related reports made up
to 31 March 2009, after making the necessary estimates and
adjustments arrived at using all relevant information available
to the Group. Because of the circumstances mentioned above,
the Group’s management did not have full access to the
relevant accounting records and related supporting documents,
it is uncertain as to whether all appropriate estimates and
adjustments have been made. The details of the financial
information of the Coal Mine Company which has been
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2009 is summarised below:

Income and expenses of the Coal Mine Company as
included in the consolidated income statement of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2009

HK$'000
Turnover 395,793
Cost of sales 147,885

Other income 212

Selling expenses 1,727
Other operating expenses 86,656
Finance cost 7,563
Taxation 45,369
Profit for the year 106,805

Assets and liabilities of the Coal Mine Company as
included in the consolidated balance sheet of the
Group as at 31 March 2009

HK$'000
Property, plant and equipment 146,242
Intangible assets 741,357
Inventories 25,185
Deposits, prepayments and
other receivables 28,625
Trade receivables 33,616
Cash and bank balances 13,395
Trade payables 23,097
Tax payable 40,436
Deposits received in advance 473
Deferred income 2,719
Accrued liabilities and other payables 83,627
Other borrowings 15,681
Other long term liabilities 76,713
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Notes to the Financial Statements
S S e
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

()

(d)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 March 2009.
The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are consolidated from their effective dates of acquisition or
disposal, respectively.

Intra-group transactions and balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated on
consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.

Business combination

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the purchase
method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of
the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognised at
their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets
(or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair value less
costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.
If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is
recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Company control another entity.

In the Company’s financial statements, the investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS FR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBREE (W)
POLICIES (continued)
(e) Revenue recognition (e) SR
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits Wiz T AR S B I EVS KB AR - milE s
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured BE A SERTE B - MU T EERR

reliably, on the following bases:

(i)  Participation fee income is derived from the letting of exhibition (i) Z2REBRARBHEREHVKES
booths and the provision of decoration facilities for the BUBEMBERE  WEBARER
exhibition booths, and is recognised when the decoration RUMBERIEREREEXRITRHER
facilities are provided and when the shows are held; IN:

(i) Entrance fee income is recognised on a cash receipt basis; (i) ABSBRAZRFKESEIAAR

(iii) Revenue from hotel and travel package services provided is (i) REBEERKEERRE 2 WENRE
recognised when the services are rendered; HRFEEERAR

(iv) Advertising fee income earned from the publication of trade (ivy EEBRARBAESGRESREE
show and exhibition booklets is recognised when the trade SHMSET RESRESLRES
show and exhibition booklets are published; BT H AR ERAR

(v) Internet advertising revenue and portal income is recognised (v) REESRERAMBEHBARZRES
ratably in the period in which the advertisement and HEHEZERLEARERAELAEE
information is displayed on the website of the Group; MU T ARz R HIER AR

(vi) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective (vi] FIEWANEREBRFREZERAR &

interest method; and

(vii) Revenues associated with the sale of coal and other goods are (vii BxEEMERZEERNARBRE
recognised when the title of the goods has been passed to WEIRHEEBRMERCERGAEE
the customer which is at the date that the customer receives FERXRFUBRR ZEFEZEImHE
and accepts the goods. Acceptance occurs when the customer REERIEEES -

agrees to the amount and quality of the delivered goods.

(f) Property, plant and equipment (f) %k -BER®RK
Building held for own use which are situated on leasehold land, REELH EFERAZEF  mESHA
where the fair value of the building could be measured separately BZEFZ2ATFEJEHASE L AFE
from the fair value of the leasehold land at the inception of the lease PBATE  BEFIEEMYE  BERREE
and all other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at B URANER R ERREEEBIR -

cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the B DR E 5T o] B E 2 UL E & 0% 8
cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated ME - BERZEBEEE 2KAEREGETE
residual value, if any, over its estimated useful life. The principal BREE (WA FE MM HIRUTE
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows: EFERGHE:

Buildings 2% to 10% B3 2%210%
Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms HEWERE BENERBD
Furniture and equipment 2% to 25% N & 2%%E25%
Fixtures and fittings 33'/,% HEREM 33'/,%
Computer equipment 25% BERB 25%
Motor vehicles 5% to 12.5% RE 5%%212.5%
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BT ERaR ML

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(f) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

3. EXERIRFEE(])

(f) T3 mBER®M (&)

The residual values and useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
the income statement.

(g) Goodwiill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over
the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of
the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is
presented separately in the consolidated balance sheet.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is test for impairment before the end of that financial year. When
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated income statement.
An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
a jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill
capitalised is included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal.

(h) Intangible assets

(il  e-Commerce platform

Acquisition costs of purchasing an e-Commerce platform are
stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

(9)

(h)
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Intangible assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

(i) Mining rights
Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and are amortised on a straight line basis over the shorter
of their useful lives estimated based on the total proven and
probable reserves of the coal mine or contractual period from
the date of commencement of commercial production which
approximates the date from which they are available for use.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each balance
sheet date.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to definite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Inventories

Inventories of coal are physically measured and are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises direct
materials and, where applicable, direct labour and overheads
that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition, is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less all further costs to completion and
costs to be incurred in selling, marketing and distribution.

Inventories of auxiliary materials, spare parts and small tools
expected to be used in production are stated at weight average cost
less allowance, if necessary, for obsolescence.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
balance sheet when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments. Financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BT ERaR ML
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)

i

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
that requires delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. The accounting
policies adopted in respect of each category of financial assets
are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit or loss, of which interest income is
included in net gains or losses.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables including other receivables,
pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as any of the other
categories. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured
at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in equity,
until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is removed from equity and recognised in
income statement. Any impairment losses on available-for-sale
financial assets are recognised in income statement. Impairment
losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not reverse
in subsequent periods. For available-for-sale debt investments,
impairment losses are subsequently reversed if an increase in
the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.
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BT ERaR ML
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)

i

Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost
less any identified impairment losses at each balance sheet
date subsequent to initial recognition. An impairment loss
is recognised in income statement when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired. The amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses
will not reverse in subsequent periods.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been impacted.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

(i)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

(i) default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

(iii) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period of 30 days, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BT ERaR ML
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)

i

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be
reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is
recognised directly in equity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)

1.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into
other financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in
respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, of which the interest expense is included
in net gains or losses.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including creditors and accruals,
securities trading and margin payable, deposits and receipts
in advance, bank and other borrowings and amounts due to
associates are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain both
financial liability and equity components are classified
separately into respective liability and equity components on
initial recognition. On initial recognition, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using the prevailing market
interest rate of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible loan
notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded call option for the holder to convert
the notes into equity, is included in equity (convertible notes
equity reserve). Transaction costs that relate to the issue of
the convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued)

ii.

ii.

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Convertible notes (continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
notes is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, representing by the option
to convert the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible notes reserve until the
embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in convertible notes equity reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium). Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible
loan notes equity reserve will be released to retained profits.
No gain or loss is recognised in income statement upon
conversion or expiration of the option.

If the conversion option of convertible notes exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated from
its liability component. On initial recognition, the derivative
component of the convertible notes is measured at fair value
and presented as part of derivative financial instruments. Any
excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the
derivative component is recognised as the liability component.
Transaction casts are apportioned between the liability and
derivative components when the instruments are initially
recognised. The portion of the transaction costs relating to the
liability component is recognised initially as part of the liability.
The portion relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in income
statement.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid or
payable is recognised in income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
S S e
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

iv.  Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of
a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by the
Group and not designed as at fair value through profit or loss
is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee
contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.

(k) Deferred revenue

(

Deferred revenue represents amounts received in advance for
services fo be rendered.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years, and it further excludes income
statement items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary difference can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial
recognition (other than a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investment in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(M

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except
when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(m) Provisions

(n)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of
money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligations.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so
that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an
asset is recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o)

(p)

Dividends distribution

Final dividend proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the balance
sheet, until they have been approved by shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability in the
Group's financial statements.

Interim dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the
Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such
exchange differences are recognised in equity in the consolidated
financial statements. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date, and their income and expenses are franslated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity
(the translation reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is
disposed of.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(p) Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.

(q) Employee benefits

i. Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as at
the balance sheet date is permitted to be carried forward and
utilised by the respective employees in the following year. No
accrual is made at the balance sheet date for the expected
future cost of such paid leave earned during the year by the
employees and carried forward as the amount is immaterial.

ii.  Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The contributions are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

(r) Equity-settled share-based payment

transaction

The fair value of share options granted is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in
a capital reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options, the
total estimated fair value of the share options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that the options
will vest.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r) Equity-settled share-based payment
transaction (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options that
expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the income
statement for the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price of
the company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised in the capital
reserve until either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to
the share premium account) or the option expires (when it is released

directly to retained profits).

(s) Related party transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (a) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (b) has an interest in the
Group that gives it significant influence over the Group; or (c)

has joint control over the Group;
(i) the party is an associate;

(iii) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(iv) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or its parent;

(v) the party is a close member of the family of any individual

referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual

referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a related party

of the Group.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related

parties.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(1)

(v)

(v)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits and shortterm, highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interests and other costs incurred in connection
with the borrowing of funds. All borrowing costs are charged to the
income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as
an incentive fo enter into an operating lease are recognised as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight line
basis.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially stated at
cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

(w) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is
engaged either in providing products or services (business segment),
or in providing products or services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and
rewards that are different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting, the
Group has chosen business segment information as the primary
reporting format and geographical segment information as the
secondary reporting format.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include
items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment. Segment revenue,
expenses, assets, and liabilities are determined before intra-group
balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of the
consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-group
balances and transactions are between group enterprises within a
single segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on similar terms as

those available to other external parties.
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B RS FR TR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(w) Segment reporting (continued)
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the
period to acquire segment assets (both tangible and intangible) that
are expected to be used for more than one year.

(x) Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is a
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group
will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants relating
to costs are deferred and recognised in the income statements
over the period necessary to match them with costs that they are
intended to compensate and are presented separately from the
costs. Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant
and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred
government grants and are recognised in the income statements on a
straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3 to the financial statements, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in deftermining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many fransactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

3.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS FR TR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 4, FREHIEREHTFTRERZEER

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY iR (%)

(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies RS RRZMBAER ()

(continued)

(ii)  Impairment of assets (i) EERE
The Group tests annually whether the assets have suffered any FEESEREEATREETIR - BE
impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating RREELEENUZAEIREE  DREFE
unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations which require ALBRERGFTZEREEFELEE °

the use of assumptions and estimates.

(i) Estimated impairment of goodwill (iii) PR Z 1716 A
The Group performs annual tests on whether there has been REBD R REVBHRRMASAE 2S5
impairment of goodwill in accordance with the accounting policy BX SFEAEERAHREMEE R
stated in Note 3. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units SE4ABENz2URKSENREFEHAER
are determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations AHEEE 2SS ETEEEREARER
require the use of estimates and assumptions made by management EEEHMATTREBR FAFRANEERE
on the future operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and tEREABEEFEZRR -

other assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.

(iv] Provision for obsolete inventories (iv] BREFEZERE
Management reviews the condition of inventories of the Group at BEBNEAEARRAEEFEZER -
each balance sheet date and makes provision for obsolete and slow- WEHHEBNATEESHEZRERFH
moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale. FEFLHEER EEEXTEREBEFANESR
Management estimates the net realisable value for such inventories EXREBAERETEEEEZT2EF
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market B - EBEENEEEBEHTHEREME -
conditions. Management reassesses the estimation at each balance
sheet date.

(v)  Share-based payment () KRB BEREZ (13
The valuation of the fair value of share options granted requires AECEEBREZATEREEFEHA
judgment in determining the expected volatility of the share price, the B UEEREFERRE RO ZFBTR
dividends expected on the shares, the risk free interest rate during B -BREARHRNNEREIZE  UKRE
the life of the options and the number of share options that are R T 2 BRENEE - BEFBEER
expected to become exercisable, details of which are set in Note 36 B RRMIE36 c EAITEBIRE 2B
to the financial statements. Where the actual outcome of the number HEBRRNREMT  ZRKTEEBER
of exercisable options is different from the previously estimated BeHEBRTRBEHNGSERER -

number of exercisable options, such difference will have impact
on the consolidated income statement in the subsequent remaining
vesting period of the relevant share options.

[vil  Estimated impairment of trade receivables (vi] B ZEWIEZ 1455 E
When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group takes EFHEBEFE2EZEHES  AEEKZE
into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The amount BEEBEARBESRzMs REFEZS
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the B REEERABEHEMGTRREESR (T
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future BREREEZRREERE) UMBEE
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) HIRFT BRI (RS EARFTE 2B
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. FIR)MBEBECENELRE ERRKRE
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where M2 BRSEENRELD » BIAREERRE -
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, impairment RZZBEBENE=A=1+—H  EZEKFHE
loss may arise. As at 31 March 2009, the carrying amount of ZIREEN A33,616,0008 T (ZZEEN
trade receivables is approximately HK$33,616,000 (2008: & 120,469,000 7T) °

HK$20,469,000).
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B RS FR TR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

(vii)

(vl

Mine reserves

Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be
economically and legally extracted from the Group's properties. In
order to calculate reserves, estimates and assumptions are required
about a range of geological, technical and economic factors,
including quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates,
production costs, transport costs, commodity demand and commodity
prices.

Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the
size, shape and depth of ore bodies or fields to be determined by
analysing geological data such as drilling samples. This process may
require complex and difficult geological judgments and calculations
to interpret the data.

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves change
from period to period, and because additional geological data is
generated during the course of operations, estimates of reserves may
change from period to period. Changes in reported reserves may
affect the Group's financial results and financial position in a number
of ways, including the following:

—  Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in
estimated future cash flows.

- Depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged in the income
statement may change where such charges are determined by
the units of production basis, or where the useful economic lives
of assets change.

Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses
its judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance
sheet date.

Property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS16, the Group estimates the useful lives of
property, plant and equipment in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated
at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical
obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also perform annual reviews on
whether the assumptions made on useful lives continue to be valid.

4.
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B RS R R FIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity investments,

borrowings and cash and bank balances. Details of these financial

instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with

these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these

risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these

exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely

and effective manner.

Market risk

(i)

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), Macau and Hong Kong and majority of transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Macau Pataca (“MOP”)
and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group is exposed to limited foreign
exchange risk as most assets and liabilities are denominated in HK$,
MOP, and RMB. Therefore the Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from these currency exposures. The conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk in respect of exchange
fluctuation of HK$ against RMB. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency assets
and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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S S e R

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated

5. HERBREE (&)

MERREEREBRE R (HE)

45 B BR (#%)
(i) SMEmE (&)
AEBRHEBBUNETECEREE

monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date are as PE®EEZERMENT :
follows:
31 March 31 March
2009 2008
—EEAE —EENE
=A=+—H =BA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Assets g5E
RMB AREE 127,871 333,969
usD Ep 4,534 10,740
MOP e 752 91
Liabilities af®
RMB AR 320,090 330,440
usD E 105 -

Sensitivity analysis on foreign currency risk management

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in HK$ against the relevant foreign currencies.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items, and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to
foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the
loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender of the
borrower. A negative number below indicates a decrease in profit
where the Hong Kong dollars strengthen 5% against the relevant
currency. For a 5% weakening of the Hong Kong dollars against the
relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the profit and balances below would be positive.

SMNEE R EHE 2 S BB DT

TRFAFIAEB BT ZEBIMNEAEREZES%
ZHRBE - AR EEEE A SR E INERIRAEF
FIRAZBRELLRB5%  HREEETE A
SENACERSE HREINEESREE
ZNESHEEWIEE  YEHRERFRZRE
HEER EEHS%2HE - RES M BEMPR
ERRAEBRNEIXBHEZER  MARE
RARUBRZBATUMIEEEE - TIXH
Z BB B T AR THES B IEFR 2
WD EE o BT RSB RESS  BAEE
HBRARATEZEEEY  MTIZERERE
2 o

31 March 31 March
2009 2008
—EThEF —EENF
=RA=+—A =B=+-—H
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FExT FHET
Impact of RMB AR ZZE
Profit or loss (note) A E 18 (A EE) 9,611 44,916

Note:

This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on receivables and
payables denominated in respective currencies at the year end.

TERERFERERTAZEBFEZRERER

& 1 550 78 P TED g 49 L Bt
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. UERBEE (])

Financial risk management objectives and policies MERREEAERBE (E)

(continued)

Market risk (continued) h 4% R B (#8)

(i) Price risk (i) 1E#5 /2 fE
The Group’s equity investments classified as available-for-sale AEBZRAREIEAHIEEMTEE -
financial assets which are measured at fair value at each balance REFHEBYERATEFTELSIAE
sheet date and expose the Group to equity price risk. The Group's B RAERERE - AEEZRAERE
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity securities operating BMEREPREBXMKRELLLEE L
in purchases and sales of listed securities, which are quoted in MEFEBZRAE S - EEEURITE
the Stock Exchange. The management manages this exposure by BB F2REAESESBRERRE © tE5
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk profiles. REEBEEERERRE YRS EREZEY
In addition, the Group will monitor the price risk and will consider L B e

hedging the risk exposure should the need rise.

Sensitivity analysis on price risk management 1B 1% 3 B2 B B RLZ 7 47

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the LT SEBEDFRIERE B BAEY >

exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date. BAEREE R TEE o

If equity prices had been 5% higher/lower, the Group's: HBRAB® T TH5%  REH :

e  available-forsale financial assets fair value reserve would o THMHEBBEEAT ASEIEE
increase/decrease by approximately HK$421,000 (2008: WA 412,000 5T (Z BB\ E
increase/decrease by approximately HK$519,000) as a result #0 FAH#519,000857%) » FER
of the changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial BRI E R EEN A L EEE -
assets.

(iii) Interest rate risk N

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable- AEENREREBEREIREES RIZEMEM ©

rate borrowings. It is the Group's policy to keep its borrowings at REBNBRERREEETZE - LEER

floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate FEMERR -

risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and AEEPHEERMEEENF RERF

financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management BRHRAHE2RABECEAREE - - &

section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly SEZRERBNERBEEENELRSE
concentrated on the fluctuation of HSBC prime rate arising from the BUBTRBUZEEMELELERTE

Group's Hong Kong dollar denominated borrowings. BERNRZRE -

Sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk management T 2L 2 B FE B R = 5 AT

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on UTHBESNNBRESTETERENE

the exposure to interest rates for derivatives and non-derivative TAFEEFZERTEE - FEDH

instruments. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial NBRAEEANNARES IR
instruments outstanding at the balance sheet date were outstanding BICHENRE o T ESE A S R IBERF

for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2008: Nil) increase or RE KBS - T35 B 4R 4T & B = IR 50

decrease in HSBC prime rate is used when reporting interest BEE (=2 )N\E : 8) LR - khEE

rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents BaA R S g8~ 5214 o

management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MERBER (]

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk management (continued)
If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variable were held constant, the Group's:

e  post tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2009 would
decrease/increase by HK$23,000 (2008: Nil). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable rate borrowings and the interest rate swaps which
were designated as hedging instruments of fair value hedges.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
balance sheet.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regards, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade or other
receivables. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and bank
balances, monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by management. Reports
with maturity dates of other borrowings and thus the liquidity requirement
are provided to management for review periodically. Management will
raise or refinance bank borrowings whenever necessary.

MERREERE MK R ()

4% B B ($8)

(i) FFE 7z ()
FIF B EFE SR 54T ()
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. BMERBRER (§)
Financial risk management objectives and policies MEREETEEERBE (&)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBDESERE (&)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be TEREAMEBBLEESHEEE R EHE
seftled into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period BEHAR  BIEHAEAZANTTE 2R
at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts HEETON EARECSERESYERS
disclosed in the table are based on the contractual undiscounted FERetE  HBWMT :

payments, as follows:

At 31 March 2009
R-EEAE=ZRA=1+—H

Between  Between  Between More

Less than 1to3 3 months 1 year than
1 month months to 1 year to 5 years 5 years Total
—fEAR -—-E=fER Z@ERAE-F -—FEIF BALF it

HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
TR TR TR TR TR TEx

Non-derivative financial liabilities it HMBAE

Trade payables ENESHE 18,464 4,633 - - = 23,097
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2N EBEREMENTE 414,893 - 1,650 - = 416,543
Amount due to a shareholder TR RFIE - - - 11,118 = 11,118
Other borrowings Hinfg & 15,681 18,272 - - = 33,953
Other long term liabilities HRHEE - - - 76,713 - 76,713
Convertible notes MRREE - - - 173,500 = 173,500
Totdl B3t 449,038 22,905 1650 261,331 - 734924

At 31 March 2008
R-EENE=A=1+—H

Between  Between  Between More

Less than 1to3 3 months 1 year than
1 month months to 1 year to 5 years 5 years Total
—fEAR -—-E=fER Z@ERAE-F -—-FEIF BALF it

HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
TR TR TR TR TR TEx

Non-derivative financial liabilities  FE#i&MBAE

Trade payables EBNE5HE 2,741 297 821 - - 3,859
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2N EBEREMENTE 25,053 323,778 234,997 = = 583,828
Other long term liabilities HRHEE - - - 28,545 47,147 75,692
Convertible notes AREEE - - - 345,000 = 345,000
Total @t 27,794 324,075 235,818 373,545 47 147 1,008,379
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MERBER (]

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as
follows:

e the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (including
derivative instruments) with standard terms and conditions and traded
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted
market bid prices and ask prices respectively; and

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(including derivative instruments) are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable current market
transaction as input. For an option-based derivative, the fair value is
estimated using option pricing model.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts (which includes other
borrowings, convertible notes), cash and bank balances, and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on an annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

MEIRZLFE
MBEERMBEEZAFPERUATHREE

o EABEEEKRRGEH  YRRBEBHSEE
BEUBEERMBKARG (BEMTEIR)
ZAEE DARSEMSEARELRE
BT R

e HuUBEERMBAR (BENEIR)
ZAFRE DREAREEEN » WRFTR
REREDN  HKAFERBAZTERRK
MERG2ERBBERTH - UABEAE
E2OETAMS » D FEDRABEEE
B AT o

KRBEERR  RUBBRRTCEZUBEER
BREEREEEA N FEBES -

BEERER

FEBEERHER  UBRFRAEE ZERE TR
BRE UWEBBLERRESZSEHAFDIER
ETREAOR - AEB 2 EERBESTE
BEEFEE-

FEBMeEAEREERYR (HBEEMER
AR EE) RERBTESRRAQAERR
BEARGRES (HEEESRTRARRERE) -

FEBESTERIEREE - FRUBRT 2 —
B AEEESERESRAREEESKEH
ZEkE e
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MERAKEE(E)
Capital risk management (continued) BEERBEEE(8)
The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is calculated as AEERAELAE B RERER  PABER
either total borrowings divided by total capital or net borrowings divided DBERGFEERUBLER NEEFZER
by total capital. The gearing ratios as at the balance sheet date are as =R I
follows:
31 March 31 March
2009 2008
—EEAE —E2EENEF
=R=+—H =B=+-—H
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
T#T FHBT
Total debt (i) @ ER () 161,059 196,518
Less: Cash and bank balances W BRERREEEHEER (51,540) (67,839)
Net debt R EH 109,519 128,679
Equity (i} (i) 607,096 179,440
Net debt to equity ratio FEBE R = 18% 71%
Total debt to equity ratio BEBHERLLR 27% 109%
Notes: Hiat -
(i)  Total debt comprises amount due to a shareholder, other borrowings and ) #EXEFREN-—ERRARERITERERE
convertible notes as detailed in Notes 28, 30 and 32 respectively. (BRAFE D BIE N MIFE28 ~ 30K%32) °
(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group. (i) HBVBELAEBEZREELRMHE -
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. BEBEH

Segment information is presented by way of two segment formats: (i) on
a primary segment reporting basis, by business segment; and (ii) on a
secondary segment reporting basis, by geographical segment.

The Group's operating businesses are structured and managed separately,
according to the nature of their operations and the products and services
they provide. Each of the Group’s business segment represents a strategic
business unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of other business segments.
Summary details of the business segments are as follows:

(i) the trade shows and exhibition operation consisted of trade shows
and exhibition operation and providing ancillary services in Hong
Kong, Macau and the United Kingdom; and

(ii)  the coal operation consisted of production and sale of coal in the

PRC.

In defermining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues and results
are attributed to the segments based on the location of the customers, and
assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of the assets.

DEERUAMED HEAZS ¢ (I)1RE -2 R
SEEZEB I R()RE-SHREEEZ
i&uu/-\n

REBREXBDBRBEAEBHERHEMRZ
EmRRESBETHABRERE - AEES—%
BoBRNR—FEMEBEN  REERRRHE
A BB RAEERER MEL D ERE o
EB D BB ZBENT ¢

() RESXE BEEREIRESRRES

RREHEERE S &

(i) B BEEREH-

REAEBZBED I - WERFEZRETHN
EHBEES  BEERREEMEHLES -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Business segments

ments

“EEAESASH—BILER

RESH
“EBEBAEF

SEHMEHE)

2009
Trade shows
and exhibition Coal
operation operation Consolidated
RESERH RRER o
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET FHB T
Turnover - 4]
Turnover from external customers REIREF2EXEEE 213,440 395,793 609,233
Result £
Segment result DEEE (11,243) 159,737 148,494
Unallocated income Ko BUA 2,680
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOBMEETEH (29,896)
Finance costs Al & B A (21,594)
Profit before tax R %5 Bl a 99,684
Taxation BiE (43,126)
Profit for the year NEERA 56,558
Trade shows
and exhibition Coal
operation operation Consolidated
RESERH RERER o=
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FHET FHBT
Assets BE
Segment assets DEBEE 38,947 1,329,482 1,368,429
Unallocated corporate assets ROBMEEEE 25,833
1,394,262
Liabilities iR
Segment liabilities PEERB 72,243 242,746 314,989
Unallocated corporate liabilities AN TaE =N 472,177
787,166
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ZEHBEH (&)
Business segments (continued) RS (W)
2009 (continued) —ETAEF (W)
Trade shows
and exhibition Coal
operation operation Unallocated Consolidated
REERH RERER RS E =e
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
F# T FHET FHET FHB T
Other information Hh&d#
Capital additions BERRE 1,067 179,666 2,521 183,254
Depreciation e 2,456 104,987 187 107,630
Amortisation ey 1,978 13,450 - 15,428
2008 —ETI\F
Trade shows
and exhibition Coal
operation operation Consolidated
RESEYR BREH e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FERT FET FHET
Turnover EXa®
Turnover from external customers REINREFE 2EEEE 213,795 - 213,795
Result iR
Segment result D EPELE 2,292 = 2,292
Unallocated income ROBUBA 6,899
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOBEEZH (11,421)
Loss before tax RRB1 Al 5 18 (2,230)
Taxation HE (4,944)
Loss for the year REEEE (7,174)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. FEWEH (]
Business segments (continued) RS (W)
2008 (continued) “EENFEM#R)

Trade shows

and exhibition Coal
operation operation Consolidated
RESERH RERER o
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FHE T FHE T
Assets BE
Segment assets DEBEE 100,989 1,059,294 1,160,283
Unallocated corporate assets ROBMEEEE 12,126
1,172,409
Liabilities iR
Segment liabilities PEHERE 101,217 369,365 470,582
Unallocated corporate liabilities RAOMEEEE 522,387
992,969
Trade shows
and exhibition Coal
operation operation Unallocated Consolidated
RESES R R X & B Re
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FERT FEXT FHET TR
Other information Hth&E#
Capital additions BERRE 75,315 - - 75,315
Depreciation e 1,897 - - 1,897
Amortisation ey 3,810 - - 3,810
Impairment loss recognised REFEERIAZ
in respect of intangible assets HEEE 7,480 - - 7,480
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HWEH (M)
Geographical segments it & 2 8B
The following table presents revenue and certain asset and expenditure TREJIAZE LR (BFEEE - HE R
information for the Group’s geographical segments, including Hong Kong, FIREE) 2Rk ETEERIHER -

the PRC, Macau and the United Kingdom (“UK").

2009 2008
—EEAE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$" 000
T#T FTET
Revenue from external customers: REIFRERZWS :
Hong Kong B8 181,740 173,631
Macau P 24,454 23,904
UK xE 7,245 16,260
PRC FE 395,794 -
609,233 213,795
Carrying amount of segment assets: SHMEEZIREE :
Hong Kong 58 380,176 446,511
The PRC R E 1,014,086 725,898
1,394,262 1,172,409
Capital expenditure: BAXH :
Hong Kong BB 3,588 4,541
The PRC A ] 179,666 70,774
183,254 75,315
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7. TURNOVER AND OTHER REVENUE 7. EXTREMKE
Turnover represents the aggregate of participation fee income, entrance EEEEREREREERESRESZSREER
fee income, hotel and fravel package income, advertising fee income, A ABEBEBRA - BERKREEZRA - EEE
portal income from exhibitions and trade shows and sale of coal. Relating WA~ AFIRR AR SEEIE R AAEE - BIIER
to the sales in the UK, the turnover is stated net of output value added BloHEREMS  EXHFEREFEEERY
tax of approximately HK$2,063,000 (2008: HK$2,846,000) accrued at 2,063,00058 T (ZFZ N\ F : 2,846,000/& t)
17.5% of the gross income generated from the exhibition and shows held #ZIERE - FAREUNCEAEER CRESRES
in the UK (2008: 17.5% of gross income generated from the exhibition RESMELEBRAEEBBRAZI75%(=F
and shows held in the UK). ZN\F EHREEBNRCRESEREZREENE

EBURAZ17.5%) 5112 °

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and other revenue is as follows: REBzEZBREMKSZOMOT :
The Group
x&KE
2009 2008
—EZhEF —EENFE
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
FHEx FET
Turnover BxH
Participation fee income ZREWA 196,170 198,429
Entrance fee income AZBUWA - 639
Hotel and travel package income B E RREEZRA 9,682 5,513
Advertising fee income BEEEWA 7,588 7,413
Portal income INEEEA PN - 1,801
Sale of coal SHEE % 395,793 =
609,233 213,795
Other revenue Hfhig 2
Interest income FE WA 866 1,225
Floor management fee income S EBEBE WA 1,500 =
Forfeited deposit received BWER B ZRE 68 197
2,434 1,422
Total revenue Bl 611,667 215,217
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8. PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8. BEXKAT (BW)
The Group
F5ME
2009 2008
ZEEATE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
T#ET FTER
The Group’s profit/(loss) from operating AEEZEEEB R (FEB) EMBR :

activities is arrived at after charging:

Amortisation of intangible assets B E = 15,428 3,810
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥% - BiERRE 2T E 107,630 1,897
Total amortisation and depreciation E R ALE 123,058 5,707

Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration E IR (BIEFEEEME (#£10))

(Note 10))

- wages and salaries - TER¥N=E 51,524 47,899

— refirement benefits scheme contributions — RIREFIFH B 930 1,012

— equity-settled share-based payment — DR RBEREZAR = 331

52,454 49,242

Auditors’ remuneration % BB B 1,900 503
Minimum lease payments under operating THREFKEHERS

lease rentals of land and buildings (note (i) =2 &K E 1K (KaL(i)) 39,700 49,160
Share options expenses (Note 36) BB IR R X (M2 36) - 13,044
Transfer from equity on disposals of HERMHEEREREEREL

available-for-sale investments 4,351 =
and after crediting: I AEFTA

Other income: Hftthr A :

Exchange differences, net ERXE=EFH - 1,083

Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME BERREBNRE

equipment - 6,373
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEK B ARz W - 6,494
Transfer from equity on disposals of HEAHEERERFRERE DL

available-for-sale investments - 3,761
Fair value change of derivative TEERTEAFEEZD

financial instrument 2,047 -
Other income H g A 786 6,037

2,833 23,748

Note: Btat -

(i) The amount includes rentals paid for the venues of exhibitions and trade ) ZENEEEINZEETZREEREZRE
shows held in the United Kingdom, net of input value added tax of BEBiXzcle  EBHREAFER
approximately HK$1,194,000 (2008: HK$1,279,000) accrued at 17.5% X HBEZI75%(ZBEN\F 1 17.5%) 5
(2008:17.5%) of the gross rental expenses for the year. RZEBEIZERNI,194,0008 T (ZFFN

F 11,279,000 T) °
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9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERF
The Group
5@

2009 2008
ZEEATE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
T#ET FET

Interests on other borrowings wholly HitBEREFABHEEBREZFE
repayable within five years 7,836 -

Interests on amount due to a shareholder ARAFANBEEEEN

wholly repayable within five years —ERRREZFE 118 -

Imputed interest expense on convertible ARREEZEEFNERX (F7£32)
notes (Note 32) 13,640 -
21,594 -
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2009, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

10.EXH &
RELHRARESEDDEAE R ZREM
ARBRE-_STNFSAS+-ALFEZE
EHeMT :

The Group and the Company

FRERFLT Provident
Basic Housing fund
Name of Director Fees salaries allowances Bonuses contributions Total
EERS fid Exie RERM i LOHESHR &t
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$" 000
TAR THAR FAR TAR TAR THER
2009: ZEEINE:
Executive directors HER
Mr. Ip Ki Cheung ELBRE (RoFENEAATHAHE)
(re-designated on 15 June 2009) - 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai FRBEE (R-EENFHANARKE)
(resigned on 6 April 2009) = 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Mr. Chan Siu Chung REBEE (K=FENEMF=THFHF)
(resigned on 20 April 2009) - 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Mr. Hung Chen, Richael HHLE (R-EEEMA-FHAEZH
(appointed on 29 April 2008 IH=FENE/\A-HRHE)
and resigned on 1 August 2009) - 1,685 - 264 12 1,961
Mr. Ma Li Shan BULKE (R=FENERFLHEEF
(appointed on 7 June 2008 YRZEERF-FTAHBE)
and resigned on 16 January 2009) - 425 - - 8 433
Mr. Javed Igbal Khan BEREE (REFBNEXALHEEF
(appointed on 7 June 2008 UR=EENEHAAARE)
and resigned on 6 April 2009) 49 - - - - 49
Mr. Fong Wang FERE (K=EENEAALHEZF
(appointed on 7 June 2008 and UR-FZNEMA =1 AFHE)
resigned on 20 April 2009) 49 - - - - 49
Non-executive director FUTES
Mr. Ip Ki Cheung (re-designated RASKE (R-ZEEAEAATLABE
on 15 June 2009 and resigned UR-ZEENFLATEARE)
on 15 July 2009) - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUFH{TES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond HRELE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BRERE (RoFENERFLHEEF
(appointed on 7 June 2008 UR=EENENA=THEHE)
and resigned on 30 April 2009) 98 - - - - 98
Mr Lu Xin BREE (K=F8NE1-F1—-HEZH)
(appointed on 11 November 2008) 47 - - - - 47
Mr. John Reynolds John Reynolds’t % (H=FE/EAFLHE
(appointed on 7 June 2008 and FHUR=FEET—F1—HBHE)
resigned on 11 November 2008) 52 - - - - 52
Mr Chan Wing Yau, George RAHEE (K=EENEANFLHBE) 22 = = - - 22
[resigned on 7 June 2008)
Mr. Law Sung Ching, Gavin BRERE (REEENEAALARE) 22 - - - - 22
[resigned on 7 June 2008)
459 6,835 2,520 657 56 10,527
2008: ZB2NE:
Executive directors BrES
Mr. Ip Ki Cheung £y - 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai RIREEE - 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Mr. Chan Siu Chung RkBEE - 1,575 840 131 12 2,558
Independent non-executive directors BUFH{TES
Mr. Chan Wing Yau, George RokthtE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Lai Yang Chau, Eugene RENEE (H-28tF
(retired on 25 August 2007) NA=1EAES) 50 - - - - 50
Mr. Law Sung Ching, Gavin BRELE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BRBELE (H-FELF 72 - - - - 72
(appointed on 25 August 2007) NA=1ZAEZH)
362 4,725 2,520 393 36 8,036
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10.EE=@M £ (&)
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to BE-_ZZANER-ZFZENF=ZA=Z+—HLHF
waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2009 and ERYEEERESIEDSHREEMME 228 -
2008.
During the years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008, no emoluments were BE-EZNFR-ZEENF=ZA=1+T—HL
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or upon FER AEBETEARS| MBEHAMBERER
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2008: nil). None B SMFARBRERNEE XS (ZZ2ZEN
of the directors has waived any emoluments during the year. FE) FAYBBEHEEMME -
11.FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 1N.EEEEHFER
The five highest paid employees during the year included five (2008: FRAAEBREHEEERERE (ZEENF: =
three) directors. Details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 10 to Z)ES HMFBRERMBERRMZTI0R o

the financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the details of the remuneration of the BE-_ZZN\F=A=+—HILFE HHWA
remaining two non-directors, highest paid employee are as follows: AIEEReFES  HMESFHEBUOT
The Group
5|
2009 2008
—EEAE ZE2EENF
HK$’000 HK$" 000
T#T TET
Basic salaries and allowances HEARFERIEMN - 1,172
Bonus TEAL - 536
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R KR A B AR = 24
- 1,732
The number of employees whose remuneration fell within the following MENFUTSREE2EBEAHAOT :

band is as follows:

Number of employees

BERAH
2009 2008
=t L 582 —EENF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z#3x£1,000,000% 7T - 2
During the years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008, no emoluments were BE-ZZhFR=ZZENF=AF=+—HL
paid by the Group to the non-director, highest paid employees as an FER AEEXEARSIMESNMNBERER
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss i SEFRBRAEEREESRSHEETH

of office (2008: nil). E(ZEZENF  E) -
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12.TAXATION 12. 18

=B RSB
Current year EAFEE
BEFEBEER

Hong Kong profits tax:

Over-provision in previous years

Overseas income tax: BINFRIS R
Current year ERFE
Under-provision in previous years BEFERETIR
Deferred tax (Note 33): B IE (M17233)
Current year ERFE

The Group
5@

2009 2008
ZEEATE —EENEF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FHET FET

722 4,833

(715) -

7 4,833
45,369 -
- 111
45,369 111
(2,250) -
43,126 4,944

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$69,875,000 (2008: HK$79,246,000) that are available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised due to the
unpredictability of the future profit streams.

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the Revenue
Bill 2008 and reduced corporate profit tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5%
which is effective from the year of assessment 2008/2009. Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2008: 17.5%) on
the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation on overseas profits
has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the
rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

REBREBELE ZHIBEELNR69,875,000
B (ZZEZEN\EF 79,246,000/ 5t) » Al R
HAREHELEBIELR R ZERTER - A
RERERFRRENEE - QI EERIEERIRE
o

REZBZENEARAZ+ABE BELESBEB=
ZEN\FR AFHAERYH-FTEN=—ZF
NERBFERBEERGSHRER7.5%HEE
16.5% o BB RGBT 1R 5 P d 51 FESRBLEFI A
BEI16.5% (ZFB\F 1 17.5%) REBER - F
IREBRBRBFRERDGER > REAEEKE X
BEARNRTHETE -
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12. TAXATION (continued) 12. 1A ()
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit/(loss) before FRAMELZ HRGEERSERNERB AR (&
tax per the consolidated income statement as follows: B) RN T :
2009
ZEEAE
Hong Kong The PRC The USA Macau Total
i FE XE AR an
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
TER TR THER THER TET
Proft/[Lose] before fox BB/ (58) (46,544 146316 185) o) 99,684
T RERHEHEIHE 7680 [165% 36579  25% 13 (15% - - 28886 29.0%
Estimated tax effect of expenses REEEREERE
not deductible in determining FAMARL 2 5
taxable profit Ege 4,291 9.2% 8,861 6% 13 15% - - 13165 13.2%
Estimated tox effect of income REEERBERE
not taxable in determining BARKRA 2 k5t
bt HHye 7 ey m) - : . . - g0y (0.8%)
Over provision in previous years NEEECERRS (715)  (1.5%) - - - - - - 715)  (0.7%)
Estimated tax effect of unrecognised ~ KERHBEEZ
fax losses hARBYE 2,593 5.6% - - - - - - 2,593 2.6%
Tax charge at the Group's REEERAEE
effective rate for the year ERBRHEZHELE (2,243)  (4.8%) 45,369 31% - - - - 43126 43.3%
2008
“EEN\E
Hong Kong The PRC The USA Macau Total
8 HE %H R s
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$ 000
TARL TAT THET THART TARL
Pl flocsIBefore tax BRAE/ (58) 5,982 7,322 (180) 710) 2,230
el RERRENE 2HE 1047 175%  (1830) [25.0% (7)) (150% (85 (120% (895 [40.1%)
Estimated fax effect of expenses REEERHERE
not deducfible in defermining TAAA R % 2 f5t
faxable profit h%EE 6,540 109.3% 1,830 25.0% 27 15.0% 85  12.0% 8,482  380.4%
Estimated tax effect of income RETERT NS
not faxable in determining BERBMA 2 &5
b el Hhye 4703 [78.6% - - S 4703 [2109%
Under provision in previous years ~ HMEEE 2 EHEESD 1 1.9% - - - - - - 111 5.0%
Estimated fax effect of unrecognised ~ REERHIEEE 2 5t
tax losses HEye 1,949 32.6% - - - - - = 1,949  87.4%
Tax charge at the Group's RASERAEEZER
effective rate for the year REFEZHESH 4944 82.7% - - - - - - 4944 221.8%
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13.LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 13.XAFIRREGEFEFESIR
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended BE-_ZZAE=-ZA=+—BILEE AN
31 March 2009 which has been dealt with in the financial statements of Ao ERERIADATREELEAEEEHIE
the Company amounted to approximately HK$24,403,000 (2008: profit # 524,403,000 T (ZZZENEFE  HAH
of approximately HK$8,240,000). 8,240,000 %) °
14.DIVIDENDS 14. R 82
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of AATBERBE-_SENE=/A=1+—AIt&F
the year ended 31 March 2009 (2008: Nil). FERRIBEEARE (ZEE)\EF ) o
15.EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 15.ZAFIREEESERF (5i8)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share AATREELESREARBERR  (FE) Y
attributable to equity holders of the Company is based on the following BT EESE
data:
2009 2008
bt 13 B3 —EENEF
HK$’000 HK$" 000
T#T FHET
Earnings/(loss) 27 (BR)
Earnings/(loss) attributable to equity AR EEREAREF (BE) 2AAFH
holders of the Company for the purpose REREMLEF, (EE)
of basic earnings/(loss) per share 56,558 (7,174)
Effect of diluted potential ordinary share: BEBRIEBRERZEE !
Interest expense on convertible notes AR EENF S X W 13,640 -
Deferred tax arises in respect of interest ARBREENE I HEE
expense on convertible notes YR 3E B 18 (2,250) =
Earnings/(loss) attributable to equity AR ESREERE (FB)
holders of the Company for the purpose ZADNRARREMEF, (FE)
of diluted earnings/(loss) per share 67,948 (7,174)
2009 2008
—EBhTF —EEN\F
Number of shares BiH#®HE

Weighted average number of ordinary shares FARZTEESRELRERR (FiE)

for the purpose of basic earnings/(loss) ZEBRIMREFTH

per share 839,247,493 313,891,254
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEBEEBER2ZE

Share options issued by the Company KRBT ZERE - 30,608,760

Convertible notes R EE 347,000,000 690,000,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares FARFTEESR#BERR (EHE)

for the purpose of diluted earnings/(loss) 2B R R I9 B

per share 1,186,247,493 1,034,500,014
For the year ended 31 March 2008, diluted loss per share is the same as BE_ZE \F=RA=t-HALFEZESRET
the basic loss per share as the outstanding convertible notes and the share BEESREXSHEMER  REASREETER
options outstanding had anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share. SBERATEERELUSREAEEAERBESY

€,
=
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 3% - BER &R

The Group *5E
Furniture Fixtures
Leasehold and and Computer Motor
Buildings improvements  equipment fitings  equipment vehicles Total
#F HEWRKE  RHRRHE  KERE# EHEH AE &t
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TiEn
Cost: BEE:
At 1 April 2007 RZB2LEMA-A 3,294 4,633 6,205 2,897 6,550 2,500 26,079
Additions 2K - 2,237 815 902 811 - 4,765
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERHBAR 40,126 = 27,390 = = 3,034 70,550
Disposals e (3,.294) (3.411) 150) (185) - (2,500) (9,440)
Exchange alignment EZRZ - - 4 - 66 - 70
At 31 March 2008 and RZZBENFZA=t-BER
1 April 2008 “ZZ\EMA-H 40,126 3,459 34,364 3,614 7,427 3,034 92,024
Additions #F 112,954 1,290 62,585 - 233 6,192 183,254
Exchange alignment Ex3E 577 - 394 - 14 44 1,029
At 31 March 2009 R-ZBEAF=R=1-H 153,657 4,749 97,343 3,614 7,674 9,270 276,307
Accumulated depreciation REAERRE
and impairment:
At 1 April 2007 RZB2LEMA-A 1,509 3,881 5,923 2,897 5,456 2,014 21,680
Provided during the year ERER 53 659 251 134 592 208 1,897
Written back on disposals HERE (1,562) 2,885) (23) (185) - (2,222) 6,877)
Exchange alignment EZHE - - 2 - 3 - 33
At 31 March 2008 RZZBENFZA=t-BER
and 1 April 2008 “ZZ\EMA-A - 1,655 6,153 2,846 6,079 - 16,733
Provided during the year ERER 70,369 1,346 33,890 301 650 1,074 107,630
Exchange alignment ExHE - - - - 8 - 8
At 31 March 2009 R-ZBEAF=R=1-H 70,369 3,001 40,043 3,147 6,737 1,074 124,371
Net book value: BEBE:
At 31 March 2009 RZBEAE=A=1+-AH 83,288 1,748 57,300 467 937 8,196 151,936
At 31 March 2008 RZZENFZA=T-H 40,126 1,804 28,211 768 1,348 3,034 75,291
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17.PREPAID LAND PREMIUM 17. At B A
The Group’s prepaid land premium represents prepaid operating lease AEBzEMNTHBEREEAMKCLEAENT  H
payment and its net book value is analysed as follows: BREFESAOT :
The Group
5|
2009 2008
ZEEAE —ZENF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET
Carrying amount at beginning of the year REZREE = 355
Disposal HE - (355)
Carrying amount at end of the year REZEZREE = -
The leasehold land was held under medium term lease in Hong Kong. ZHET B IREBRIABIEFS -
18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 1. RMIBLATIZREE
The Company
r: 3/
2009 2008
—EEAE ZE2EENF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
T#T FHB T
Unlisted investments, at cost FEMEBE  BEAAE 697,604 697,604
Less: Impairment loss recognised in W RIRERAER 2
respect of investment cost REEE (6,493) (6,493)
691,111 691,111
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE WL B A R IE 44,006 11,463
735,117 702,574
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and FEUE I A Bl I I » REREEEZEK
have no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the HeARARESAA  ARAAHEEAE—FA
Company, the Company will not demand repayment within one year from BAEERER  FEREAMERAFRBE
the balance sheet date and are therefore considered as non-current. =30
The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no BB ARREEIKE R EREEEENK
fixed terms of repayment. H o
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18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 1. RMEBATZHEE ()
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2009: UTFTAR-ZZENF=A=1+t—HBZZENBEL
AIRE:
Percentage of
Place of equity attributable
incorporation Nominal value  to the Company
and operations of issuved FAFEEEKHLL
Name EMBIR share capital  Direct Indirect Principal activities
1] EERE BERTRFEHE E& M FERHE
Pro-Capital Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$50 100 - Investment holding
HBELHE 50%T REER
Wealth Gain Global Investment Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding
EBRELHE 1270 REZER
Capital Harvest Assets Limited British Virgin Islands US$20 - 100 Investment holding
HBELHE 20%7 REZER
Group Idea International Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100 Investment holding
EBELHE 1270 REZER
Guangzhou Kenfair Exhibition The PRC Nil - 100 Organisation of exhibitions and
Company Limited HE it trade shows in the PRC and
ENTRERERABRAR provision of consultancy

services for exhibition

RPEERREGRESRES

RiRHRESER RS
Kenfair (Beijing) Exhibition Company Limited The PRC US$1,750,000 - 100 Organisation of exhibitions and
BER (L) BRERAH HE 1,750,000% 7t trade shows in the PRC and

provision of consultancy

services for exhibition
REEERREEREZRES

RERRESBERE

Kenfair International Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Organisation of exhibitions
REEARERAA BE 100% 7t and trade shows in Hong Kong
and Macau
REBREMEERES
RESRES
Kenfair Infernational (Overseas) Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100 Organisation of overseas
BE 1087 exhibitions and trade shows

BREIREERESRES

Kenfair International (Shanghai) Limited The PRC US$2,200,000 - 100 Organisation of exhibitions
FERRREERAH HE 2,200,000% 7t and trade shows in the PRC

RAEERREGRESRES

Kenfair International (Shenzhen) Company Limited The PRC US$150,000 - 100 Organisation of exhibitions
FYBRREBRAH HE 150,000 7t and trade shows in the PRC

RAEERREGRESRES
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18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. RIB ATz & ()

Percentage of

Place of equity attributable
incorporation Nominal value  to the Company
and operations of issued FRFEEEIERLL
Name B3 R share capital  Direct Indirect Principal activities
1 EEHE ERITR*EE HE Lif: IERE
Kenfair Macau Exhibition Limited Macau MOP 25,000 - 100 Organisation of exhibitions
| 25,0002 7t and trade shows in Macau
REMERREERESRES
Kenfair Publications Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100 Provision of advertising services
BE 108 and publication of trade
show and exhibition booklets
REESREREREZRESST
Kenfair Travel Limited Hong Kong HK$2,500,000 - 100 Arrangement of hotel
BRIRERRDA E 2,500,000 7t accommodation and
travel package
ZHBEEERKEER
Kenfair (U.S.A.) Limited USA US$1 - 100 Organisation of overseas
EE 1270 exhibitions and trade shows
ERENREERESRES
Lucky Healthy Management Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Investment holding
HBELHE 1270 REER
Polonius Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100 Dormant
BB 107 EEXH
Shuangyashan Northern Sheng Ping Mining Limited The PRC RMB20,000,000 - 100 Coal Mining
ERLLAATREEREMELT HE  AK%20,000,0007 oo
Note: Hat
(i)  Kenfair (Beijing) Exhibition Company Limited, Kenfair International () B (AR EREBRLA  LEERRE
(Shanghai) Limited, Kenfair International (Shenzhen) Limited, Guangzhou ARAT S EYERREARAT  BMNT
Kenfair Exhibition Company Limited and the Coal Mine Company were BRRESAERATREBATEAER
formed as wholly-owned foreign enterprises in the PRC. qﬂ}ﬁﬁz%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ% .
(i)  The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the opinion (i) ERFIFIEAEEZHNBLR  NESERR

RAHAEB 2R ERIEERHEE - B
RE LA MHEBARZFE  8SER
BDITR e

of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive lengths.
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19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. KL EE
The Group *5KE
Mining e-Commerce Licence
rights platform rights Total
BRE =EFERFES YREFiE Bae
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
T BT TET FHE T FHE T
Cost: B#E:
At 1 April 2007 R-ZEZLFEMAB—H - 34,219 17,632 51,851
Acquisition of subsidiaries ERKEB A F 593,282 = = 593,282
Disposal of subsidiaries HEME AT - = (17,632) (17,632)
At 31 March 2008 and R-ZZBENF=ZA=+—H
1 April 2008 R_ZZN\FMAE—H 593,282 34,219 - 627,501
Addition during the year FRIBH 160,181 - - 160,181
Exchange alignment E =R 1,361 - - 1,361
At 31 March 2009 R-ZEZhFE=A=1+—H 754,824 34,219 - 789,043
Accumulated amortisation Rt HERAEE :
and impairment:
At 1 April 2007 R-ZEZLFEMAB—H - 13,219 14,632 27,851
Amortisation provided for the year 4 ;4 f# §8 %5 - 3,135 675 3,810
Impairment loss recognised ERAZBEEE - 7,480 - 7,480
Disposal of subsidiaries HEME AT - - (15,307) (15,307)
At 31 March 2008 and R-ZZBENF=ZA=+—H
1 April 2008 R—_ZZN\FMAE—H - 23,834 - 23,834
Amortisation provided for the year & R#H % 13,450 1,978 - 15,428
Impairment loss recognised ERAZREEE - 8,407 - 8,407
Exchange alignment E =R 17 - - 17
At 31 March 2009 R-ZEZhFE=A=1+—H 13,467 34,219 - 47,686
Net book value: IR R E -
At 31 March 2009 RIEEAFE=A=+—H 741,357 = = 741,357
At 31 March 2008 R-ZEZENF=F=+—H 593,282 10,385 - 603,667

The mining rights represent the rights to conduct mining activities in the
coal mine situated at Jixian County, Shuangyashan City, Heilongjiang
province, the PRC and have legal lives of five years, expiring in December
2012. In the opinion of the directors, the Group will be able to renew
the mining rights with the relevant government authorities continuously at
minimal charges. The mining rights are amortised over 43 years using the
proven and probable mineral reserves of 63,072kt under the assumption

that the Group can renew the mining rights indefinitely till all proven R o

reserves have been mined.

RERARNTEEEIEAERLTEERZ
BRRETRRED 2R - RBEEZ2BRPRT
F-REZB-ZFETZAER -EFRR A&
BEREAXNIDEER  BREEEEEBRNTER
JEABERUERE  FRIERELLG3,072F WM E KA KR
HEEREERZAIFHE BT EBRRAEEES
ERPCERBEEEEMECRARECESH
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19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 19. | B E ()

The e-commerce platform represents “Kenfair.com” held by the Group.
Kenfair.com is widely used in the Group’s operation and generates income
through membership fee, advertising fee and on-line application from its
users. It acts as a virtual exhibition-sourcing platform for the suppliers
to search for the target buyers. Members receive the latest information
related to trade shows and exhibitions held by the Group. The cost of
the e-commerce platform is amortised on a straightline basis over the
estimated remaining useful life of seven years.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group assessed the
recoverable amount of the e-commerce platform and impairment loss
in respect of the e-commerce platform approximately HK$8,407,000
(2008: HK$7,480,000) was recognised. The recoverable amount is
determined based on value in use calculation. The calculation used cash
flow projections based on the financial budgets approved by management
covering a five year period and a discount rate of 12.514% per annum.

The key assumptions for the value in use calculation for the e-commerce
platform are as follows:

Budgets market share and sales — average market share and sales in the
period immediately before the budget period is expected to be unchanged
over the budget period. The value assigned to the assumptions reflect past
experience. Management believes that the planned market share growth
and budgeted sales over the budget period is reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin — the basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements.

Licence rights represent the non-exclusive rights to use the data contained
in the annual edition of a business directory which contains the contact
details of the enterprise in Beijing, the PRC. The use of such data
facilitates the development of exhibition business, and allows the Group to
immediately and directly approach the potential customers.

The cost of licence rights is amortised on a straight-line basis over ninety
months. On 14 January 2008, the Group disposed the licence rights to an
independent third party through disposal of subsidiaries.

EYHEFARIEBRAEEMFE Z[ Kenfair.
com | ° Kenfair.comBEZERARAEE 2 & E
WEBRESEE EEERHAFPZESKRFEMT
KU A o Kenfair.comBEEERHERREES K
BYs UESEEER -2EUENEEASE
B EESREERREE RN EN &7
BMEFTAZHAARNUE S ARG T AT EAFH
Lt FEF L -

RBE_ZZEANF=ZA=Z+—HLFER £&
EFtEFHETEzABEEE  YHEFH
B ¥ AHAMEEES 407,000 T (ZZFN
F 17,480,000 7T) o Al [E & 2B R AR B AE
BEFEEEE ZAEEEARSREFER M
BeneRllREENEEE M EcAFHEY
BEEUREF12.514% 2 HRE -

REFTHEFAMS  EREEFEELIZEER
RAT :

BETSHERRIEE -BERSEHA 2 FHH
SHEAERREENEREAEHALEZE - &
RAFMB T2 HERRBESSR EEEMRRE -
BAEHRZFETSEERERRAEHEENS
2 ith A LAZE R ©

BAEEANX-BEEETHEEEMNR2BERAZ
BEEREERHAEFEZA —FEINZFHER
R BRELARREMER -

BFRECARKED (HBEATEL R 2ox
N BFE) FERASAEEE 2 FBRER -
ERERBEADARRES XY  XAEAE
EEREEERERERFR -

B ZAAUERERNTER T U#E - =
ZENF-ATHERA FAEEZEBHEWSE QT
HEFAEEET B YFE=F -
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20. GOODWILL 20.m &
The Group . 3 |
HK$’ 000
TER
Cost: 5% 3E
At 1 April 2007 R-ZEZLFMA—H 920
Acquisition of subsidiaries BB Y R A =) 341,062
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBE AR (920)
At 31 March 2008, 1 April 2008 RZZEZENF=A=+—H - ZZEF/\FMA—H
and 31 March 2009 F—EZAFE=R=+—H 341,062
Impairment: Wi :
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008, R-ZEZ+FWA—H - —BZBN\F=A=+—8"
1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009 —EE\FNA-BR=ZEZENF=ZA=+—H -
Carrying amounts: AR R {E -
At 31 March 2009 R-ZEZEhAFE=ZA=+—H 341,062
At 31 March 2008 R-ZEZENF=A=+—H 341,062

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group assessed the
recoverable amount of goodwill associated with the Group’s coal
operation. The recoverable amount of the coal operation was assessed
by reference to value in use. A discount factor of 19% per annum was
applied in the value in use model.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group assessed the
recoverable amount of goodwill associated with the Group’s coal
operation. The recoverable amount of the coal operation was assessed
by reference to value in use. A discount factor of 22% per annum was
applied in the value in use model.

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in note
21.

REBE-ZZNF=A=1+-HLEE F5E
AMEEAEERE R EBEETE A REEE -
BRRFER W EBEDREEBEENME &
REEEXEASFI0%2THRER -

RBE=ZZENF=ZA=Z1+—HLFE  x£H
AHEEAEERE R EBEETE A REEE -
RRFER W EBEDREEREENME &
REEEXERAEF2% 2T HER -

EEEERENAZFERWE21KE -
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21.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 21.BERENR

As explained in note 6, the Group uses business segments as its primary
segment for reporting segment information. For the purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill with indefinite useful lives set out in note 20 has been
allocated to following cash generating unit (CGUs). The carrying amount
of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) as at 31 March 2009
and 2008 is allocated as follows:

WS - ARBERBEB D BESBED
HEMZETEZDH - ETHENANS @ M
20fTEAERENERAFHZ2HECTET T
ReELEN((REELEN]) - R=ZZNF
R—ZZZNF=A=1+—0 BEREREFRE
BEER) 2REBIEBERMOT ¢

2009 2008

—EZThEF —EE)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

T#ET FET

Coal operation HRETR 341,062 341,062

Coal operation

The recoverable amount of the coal operation is determined based on a
value in use calculation. The calculation used cash flow projections based
on the financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period and a discount rate of 19% per annum (2008: 22% per annum).
Cash flows beyond the five-year period have been extrapolated using a
steady 3% growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term growth
rate for the relevant industry. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculation relate to the estimated mine reserves and the estimated prices
of mineral resources. As at 31 March 2009, the recoverable amounts of
the CGU exceed their corresponding carrying amounts. Management of
the Group determines that there is no impairment of the CGU containing
goodwill.

BREY
BeE4BENsTRESEESRELEAEETE
EEE c ZFTERFERBESREREA  MAER
EEANEREEREEEMECTENUKTE
HURBFIO%(ZZENEFE  §8F22%) 2iTH
RoBARAEHRESTUBENIRE R RH#
o RREEANGRETECZERERNMIE
BRBEBAITEZFHRPERE -stEEASP
BEZIEBRREGHBEERER GTRRER
BB -R-ZEZNE=A=1+—H BELELE
Al E S ERBEBREE ~5SEEEE
ETEEREcRBeEL BN ERE -

22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 22, ATHPBEMBEE

The Group The Company
&M b 3/
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEBNF —EENF ZEThAEF —EBRENE
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THT TR T#ET TET
Equity securities listed in REBLHZRAES
Hong Kong at fair value (note) BAVE (KaE) 10,377 - 10,377
At market value Bmi5EE 10,377 - 10,377

Note:

The fair value is based on the quoted market bid price at year end as quoted
by the Stock Exchange.

Bt -

RNFEDRBBI AR RNFLEE 2 HEFEH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZTAF=A=1+—HILFE
23.INVENTORIES 23.%®
The Group
5@
2009 2008
ZEEATE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET FET
Raw materials A 25,185 10,557
Finished goods B - 219
25,185 10,776
At 31 March 2009 and 2008, all inventories were stated at cost. R-EBRER-_Z=EEN\E=H=+—H " fiFd
TFEREA K
24.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 24. %%  RAARBERAEMEKRRIE
RECEIVABLES
The Group The Company
*5H e 3N
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZETLE —EENF ZETAE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$" 000
THT TET TFET TET
Deposits RE 5,822 17,712 - =
Prepayments RN RIE 25,641 16,695 129 530
Other receivables H b fE W FR 0B 14,877 8,521 - =
46,340 42,928 129 530
25.TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. RSB AR
The credit period granted to customers ranges from 30 to 180 days. The AEBBEFEFZ2EEHNFI0EIS0H B S
aged analysis of trade receivables is as follows: FEWRRIE 2 BRE D AT AT -
The Group
T5E
2009 2008
ZEThE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHB T
0 to 30 days 0Z30H 16,244 4,757
31 to 60 days 31£60H 6,001 5,039
61 to 90 days 61Z290H - 3,449
91 to 180 days 91HZ180H 5,963 =
Over 180 days HiE180H 5,408 7,224
Total Fa 33,616 20,469
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25.TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 25. W H BRI ()

According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows a
range of credit periods not exceeding 180 days fo its trade customers.
Trade receivables are all denominated in RMB.

Aging of trade receivables which are not considered to be impaired is as
follows:

Over 180 days #iB180H

REFABEFZEENR  AEERTEZEF
ZIEEHTHBI180H - EZEUHRIEEZHIUA
R#EtHE -

WRABRBEZE S BYWHIREZRRDTWT :

The Group
5@

2009 2008
ZEEATE —EENEF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FHET FET

5,408 7,224

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number
of customers that have good track record with the Group. Based on
past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance if
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the directors of
the Company consider any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit were initially granted up to the reporting
date. Accordingly, the directors of the Company considered that provision
for impairment in value be made in respect of trade receivables to their
recoverable values and believe that there is no further credit provision

CANEYERECESRRABRREAS AR
FER REEAEBZEBERTHERL - R
BER EEEAGEANMLSEARELRER
B ARACFEEZAWEEREE  MERDRE
RALEHEE - REBW ERZEERTEE
IR o

EMEESEUKE TERREE  AAAE
SREEESBURAZEHERADSELE
HAMEEREANBHEARD - Bt &
ANEERBAYE S ERNEEAEERER
TEREE  LAESERELREAEZEE
SRR AR

required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

26.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. Bi&RBITHRR

The Group The Company
xEE . 3/ |

2009 2008 2009 2008

—EEhE —E2ENE —EZhE —EENF

HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000

THT TET THET FET

Cash at banks and on hand BROTRFEES 51,540 55,358 38 1,220
Time deposits EBER - 12,481 - -
Cash and cash equivalents HERBITEER 51,540 67,839 38 1,220

RZZBZENF=A=+—H0 AEEZEHER
of 1.1% per annum and these deposits have an average maturity of 14 REFE %L MEZEERZFHRHEE
days. 148 °

As at 31 March 2008, the time deposits of the Group carries interest rate
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27.TRADE PAYABLES 27. B EAREA
The aged analysis of trade payables is as follows: EZEARBZREINMOT :
The Group
5@
2009 2008
ZEEATE —EENEF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
T#ET FET
0 to 30 days 0£30H 3,519 2,741
31 to 60 days 31£60R 1,114 17
61 to 90 days 61£90R 1,273 280
91 to 180 days 91&%180H 11,434 121
Over 180 days ##iB180H 5,757 700
23,097 3,859
28. AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER 28. FEfBRERE
The amount due is unsecured, bearing interest at a fixed rate 8% per MIEEIEA - REEFFEBETE - WARR

annum and repayable within twelve months from the date of drawing.

BB B ET 1218 B R EE o

29. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. RtARRHEMEFRRIE
The Group The Company
XxEH ¥ /N

2009 2008 2009 2008

—EBBNE —=2ENE —EEAE —EENE

HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FHET FE T FHT FE T

Accrued liabilities ZTERE 205,946 350,915 160,390 300,248

Other payables H fth fE 4 7R 34,040 56,356 - -
Amount due to a former EBN—EHEBARZ—&

shareholder of a subsidiary A1 B R B FRIE 176,557 176,557 - =

416,543 583,828 160,390 300,248

Included in accrued liabilities and other payables, HK$158,600,000
(2008: HK$300,000,000) was consideration payables for acquisition
of “Wealth Gain” and approximately HK$176,557,000 (2008:
HK$176,557,000) was payable to a former shareholder of the Coal Mine
Company.

Rt EREMENFTIEEH - 158,600,000
BT (ZZ2ZJ\F : 300,000,000 7T) & U iE
Wealth GainZz B 1C1E » 89176,557,00058 T
(ZZZNF 176,557,000/ T) R E T HEE
DR ZATIRER °
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30. OTHER BORROWINGS 30. Hftifg &
The Group The Company
*EE . /N
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEELEF —EENF —EThEF —EENEF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THET FET FHET FET
Secured borrowing (note) EBEREE (L) 18,272 = 18,272 =
Other borrowings HiEE 15,681 = - =
33,953 - 18,272 -
Note: B
The secured borrowing is secured by the shares of a wholly owned subsidiary EEREENUAATD—H2ENBARZRE A
of the Company, bear interest at 1% above prevailing market rate per annum B RBATHSHNEN-—E2FFEFE > L8
and has no fixed term of repayment. E EBR o
31.OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES J1.EfthRHAKIR
The Group
T5EE
2009 2008
ZEThE —EEN\FE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHB T
Repayable: ARUT FHEE :
In the second to fifth years E_EFEEHF 76,713 38,060
After the fifth years RER - 37,632
76,713 75,692
Other long term liabilities represent government assistance granted by HitRHEBENTEREIEAH LT ERERE
the Ministry of Land and Resources of Heilongjiang Province, the PRC, PR DGE AR FT IR T 2 BN & BY - BRIRRIE L
in relation to the transformation cost of the mining rights. The amount is NTERTZRERR  HERZEHE2FH
recognised at initial amount granted and subsequently stated at carrying DUBREIEIER - RIBA BB = @ BUFEB &K
value with reference to the agreed terms. In accordance to the agreement, s REVHFRBEESERHABETE=ZFH
the government assistance is unsecured, non interest-bearing and % UhEFHSs HEE -

repayable by nine annual installments, commencing in the second year
from the date of issuance of the mining rights certificate.
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES
On 31 March 2008, the Company issued HK$345,000,000 zero

coupon convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes”) which as part of the

BE_STAFSAS+—ALEHE

consideration for the acquisition of the Subsidiary and its subsidiary, the

Coal Mine Company (the “Wealth Gain Group”).

32. WA R %
—EEN\F=ZA=Z+-B AARET
345,000,000 THE L THRRER [TRRE
B FRAKBHEBAAREHELAREAR
(I Wealth GainE 8l 1) 2 #4318

The Group and
the Company

FRERFLTE
2009 2008
ZEEATE —EENEF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET FET
Liability component BEHH 116,372 209,415
Derivative component T4 I B (384) (12,897)
115,988 196,518
Liability component REBRB

At beginning of the year REA] 209,415 -
Issuance of Convertible Notes BTABRBREE - 209,415
Converted into Company’s shares BROEEQNTRG (106,683) -
Imputed interest expense charged 2RISR X 13,640 -
At end of the year RER 116,372 209,415

Derivative component TEIRBG
At beginning of the year REH] (12,897) -
Issuance of Convertible Notes BITAIRREE - (12,897)
Converted into Company’s shares BRAEEQRFRG 14,560 -
Fair value change NFEEE (2,047) =
At end of the year RER (384) (12,897)
Carrying amount R E 115,988 196,518

The terms of the Convertible Notes are as follows:

a. convertible at the option of the note holders into fully paid ordinary
shares on or after 31 March 2008 and up to and including 30
March 2013 at a conversion price of HK$0.5 per share;

b. redeemable at the option of the Company at 100% of their principal
amount at any time and from time to time, by written to notice to
redeem the whole or part of the outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Notes; and

c. convertible at the option of the Company to request the note
holders for mandatory conversion of the prescribed amount of the
Convertible Notes on or after the fifth anniversary of the issue date.

AR R ZRRUT ¢

a. ERERBBATEER-ZENF=ZA=+-—
BEAZE=-Z—=F=ZH=1H (8%
A EBROSETZEREARRREE
BAHEEBER

b. ARXRAEEBRMEMERERFRERRA
EEZ100%ETER  AXBBHEEE
LB 2 5 A0 Al R R R 2 REE
rEHE R

c. ARFAUERERBTHHETMABFN
HEZRZBEFAARTERRAESHZ
A]REREREE -
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32.CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 32. W[ BE R R (#8)

The Convertible Notes do not bear interest on the principal amount of the
notes outstanding. The Convertible Notes will be redeemed on maturity at
a value equal to the aggregate of its principal amount outstanding.

The Convertible Notes are denominated in HK$ which is the same as the
functional currency of the note issuing entity. As such, the exercise of the
conversion option will give rise to the settlement by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of shares of the Company. The
conversion option is therefore accounted for as an equity instrument and
is determined after deducting the liability component and the derivative
component from the total proceeds.

The embedded derivatives relating to the Company’s redemption option in
note (b) above which are not closely related to the host contract shall be
separately measured and included together with the liabilities component
as a financial liability. The fair value of the derivative component is
determined based on the valuation performed by Savills Valuation and
Professional Services Limited (“Savills”) using binomial option pricing
model (“Binomial Model”). The fair value of the liabilities component is
determined based on the valuation performed by Savills using discounted
cash flow method. The effective interest rate of the host contract is
determined to be 10.5%. The residual amount is assigned as the equity
component for the conversion option and was included in the convertible
notes equity reserve.

The liability component is carried as a long term liability on the amortised
cost basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The derivative
component of the Convertible Notes is subsequently measured at fair value
with changes recognised in the income statement. The value of the equity
component is not remeasured in subsequent years.

As at 31 March 2009, the fair value of the derivative component is
approximately HK$384,000 (2008: HK$12,897,000) and is calculated
using the Binomial Model. Details of the variables and assumptions of the
model are as follows:

Share price at 31 March 2009: HK$0.22
Remaining life at 31 March 2009: 3.58 years
Risk free interest rate: 1.25%
Expected volatility: 80%
Expected ordinary dividend yield: Nil

As at 31 March 2009, the fair value of the liability component of the
Convertible Notes was approximately HK$111,970,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, convertible note with an
aggregate amount HK$171,500,000 was converted into the ordinary
shares of the Company. Total number of ordinary shares converted was

343,000,000.

AR RES P RAREE A EFETE c JBE
SERRNIHSRESREREERSREZE
BEmEE -

AR RELUBTEME - WRARAANIEE
oA RREZTESEFUEEEHE 2R
SHRMEEHE 2 A D RRY © BIRERF L IRE
BITAZHFAANR  YARMBRELBEREES
BHRITETERHEBEE -

BHELEXMFEbZA R A BERE ZBRAXITE
TH HEFSHAWEZJER BIMTEL
Lo aEe A ARG - TETREZD
FEERBEE -—AFHEHHEREXE[RER
RA([E-AFEES ) A-EAHEEEERX
(T=EAEX D ET2EEMEE E{Eﬁﬂﬁz
DPERBEE - FEEHRUITRRESR
ETZEEMERE - I%Zx’JZEB?%%U-?-DFZE?%
10.5% - RIpS W B ABRREEEIG 0 I
Bt AR EEEEREE -

SEMODERBERASELEIERBEE EE
BEREEBILE - TRRIEZITETAEROGHE
BEQAFEFE  SHRWERER - EEIMD
ZEETENIEFEENTE -

R-ZBENF=ZA=Z+—-—B TETEMD
ZAFEHR384,0008 T (ZEE)\F:
12,897,000/8 ) » JHAZIBABHAFTFE - ZE
X2 BHREBRFABUT :

R=ZZENF=ZA=+—H 0.228 7T
ZIRME :

R=ZZBNF=ZA=+—H 3.58%F
ZRIGRFH

kR = 1.25%

AR IR - 80%

AHEERRKRER: i

REZEZNF=ZA=+—H TRREEEER
DZAFELNEI,970,0008 T °

RBE-ZZNAF=ZA=+—-HLEEFER &#
171,500,000/ T 2 TR ZHEE ERK AR F
ZEBR - PTEREBERNZHAR343,000,000
g
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33.DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax balances recognised by the
Group and the Company and movements thereon:

At 1 April 2007

33.RERTA
BT R/AEERARARR 2 RIELER AR
RHEMEE :

The Group and
the Company

Charge to equity for the year

At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008

Conversion of convertible notes
Credit to consolidated income statement

for the year

At 31 March 2009

TKERFAT

Convertible

notes

] % B R

HK$’000

FET

R-ZEZLFEMNA—H =

FRTERE = HBR 22,371
R-ZEENF=A=+—H

FE—ZEENFHA—H 22,371

HRTBRRER (10,695)

FRFTAGREEER
(2,250)
R-EESAF=A=+—H 9,426

At 31 March 2009, the Group had unused estimated tax losses of
approximately HK$69,875,000 (2008: HK$79,246,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At 31 March 2009, the Company had unused estimated tax losses of
approximately HK$22,659,000 (2008: HK$26,857,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

REZBZAF=ZA=1+-—H AEEEHEY
69,875,000/8 5T (ZF 2\ F : 79,246,000/8
TT) Z AR E) A EH IR R 18 AT LU 8 R AR A
B A AR SR Al SR 2 T AT FETE - B3 R R R A
RIBEE °

REZBZAF=ZA=+-—H A2 FAFHEL
22,659,000/8 5T (= F &)\ F : 26,857,000/8
TT) Z AR B A EH IR R 18 AT LU R AR A
B A AR SR Al SR 2 T A FETE - B3 R R IR A
BRIBEE °
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34.SHARE CAPITAL 34.*F
Number of shares Amount
K8 E Ba
2009 2008 2009 2008
—2BhF —EENE —EShF —EENF
000 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
T T Bz FHT FE T
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEO0.01E T
(note i) ZEBR (Bati) 2,000,000 1,000,000 20,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHRE :
At beginning of the year RED 439,660 235,452 4,397 2,355
Issue of shares (note ii) BATIRD (K7 2Eii) 120,500 117,726 1,205 1,177
Exercise of share options 17 fE 88 IR R (H7atiii)

(note iii) 32,608 16,482 326 165
Conversion of convertible notes B@RuRRRE (fZ32)

(note 32) 343,000 - 3,430 -
Placement of shares (note iv) B EMR D (Kitiv) - 70,000 - 700
At end of the year RER 935,768 439,660 9,358 4,397

Notes: Wt

(i) Pursuant to an extraordinary general meeting held on 18 April 2008, (i) REBER=ZZNFNAT+NBRETZRREH
the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from ARE - BEEBIER,000,000,0008% & 21T
1,000,000,000 shares to 2,000,000,000 shares by the creation of an 7 BARAT ZEERZAHT,000,000,0008%

additional 1,000,000,000 unissued shares. #1ZE2,000,000,0008 °

(i)  On 8 August 2007, 117,726,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each were (i) =ZZTEFNANH 117,726,000 5K HE
issued at a price of HK$0.10 per share by way of open offer to the EHO.01B T ZHBRH U RMEESNRER
qualifying shareholders on the basis of one offer share for every two 0.10BT2ERBTTFTRERRR  HERSE
shares. BERMRROAUERE - REERD -

On 21 May 2008, 120,500,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each R-ZZEENFEAZ+—H HO#EERE

were issued at a price of HK$0.99 per share by way of placing to ABREE (BBIRAEEREBEALSRH

institutional and individual investors who are third parties independent SEEEREMZHEAL BEZZALHE
of and not connected with the Group and its connected persons or any MEZE=F) RER099B T ZEIX BT
of their respective associates. The net proceeds was approximately 120,500,000/ EIRE{E0.0 18 T Z# IR ©

HK$105,438,000. Fr8 s IE TR A105,438,000/8 7T ©

(iii)  On 20 February 2008, 16,481,640 shares were allotted and issued at a (i) R=FFENF=-A=+H BE FCapital

price of HK$0.01 each pursuant to the exercise of share options granted Builderz i IR # ¥ 17 fi£ i Ao 2% & 3 17

to Capital Builder. The exercise price was HK$0.83 per share. 16,481,640 8 REEO.01E T 2R © 1T

®EREZR0.83B T °
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34.SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 34. K%
Notes: (continued) Hiat - (#8)
(i) (continued) (i) (%)

On 14 April 2008 and 21 April 2008, 16,481,640 and 14,127,120
shares were respectively allotted and issued at a price of HK$0.01 each
pursuant to the exercise of share options granted to Capital Builder. The
exercise price was HK$0.83 per share.

R-ZZNFOATHAR=-ZZENFTA
—+ —H ' B# FCapital Builderz & % #&
AT D B A3 R 21716,481,640 K&
14,127,120l 8 REEO.01EB T ZRM ° 1T
FEARABRO.B3E T -

On 28 April 2008, 2 May 2008, 22 May 2008 and 20 June 2008,
1,300,000, 400,000, 100,000 and 200,000 shares were respectively
allotted and issued at a price of HK$0.01 each pursuant to the exercise
of share options granted. The exercise price was HK$1.064 per share.

R-ZBEENFONA=+N\NB -=ZZ2Z2EN\EHAH
AZHAR -ZEENFHEA-+ZHRZ=ZZEZT
NERAZ+H ERUEZEREETEM
2 Bl i 2% & 2% 47 1,300,0008% + 400,0000% -
100,000 }.200,000% F IR EE0.01/8 T 2
B - TEERER.064E T

(iv) Z2ZENF=ZRA=+—H  ADAEBHRERE
RIEBRO0.5B T 2 EHKEE70,000,000R &
REEO.01BIT 2R » U N WEHE QT
Z BB AE o

(iv) On 31 March 2008, the Company, through a placing agent, placed
70,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each at a placing price of HK$0.5
each for the purpose of settlement of part of the consideration for the
acquisition of the Subsidiary.

35.RESERVES
(a) The Group

The detailed movement of other reserves as shown in the
consolidated statements of changes in equity on page 45 to page 46
of the financial statements is as follows:

35. %
(a) EKEH
HBBEEASEAE 2 GARBRBERN
FImz B REENFMAZSNT

Available-
for-sale
financial
assets
Special Consolidation Exchange fair value
reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
HHE
MERE
F Gk R REGME ER G0 O E G #a
HK$" 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TER TER TET TER TER
At 1 April 2007 RZZZtFMA-H - 8,975 - 17,339 26,314
Disposal of a subsidiary HENBAR - (8,975) - - (8,975)
Exchange differences on translation of ARBHEEED Z
overseas subsidiaries not recognised BREBNHELA
in the income statement EEZERER - 763 - 763
Transfer fo income statement on disposals AEHETHHEENBERE
of available-for-sale financial assets MEAREE - - (4,482) (4,482)
Fair value losses in respect THEERBER
of available-for-sale financial assets ZATEEE - - (15,243) (15,243
At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 R-ZEN\F=A=+-H
R-ZEN\EMA-A : 763 (2,386) (1,623)
Fair value losses in respect THEENBEE L
of available-for-sale financial assets AVERE - - (1,965) (1,965)
Transfer to income statement on disposals HETHHEENBEER
of available-for-sale financial assets EABRR - - 4,351 4,351
Other movement Hi#g 134,237 = = 134,237
Exchange differences on translation of ARBEERIZ
overseas subsidiaries not recognised BWERIHE A A
in the income statement EECERER - (1,317) - (1,317)
At 31 March 2009 RZZShE=A=+-H 134,237 (554) - 133,683
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35.RESERVES (continued) 35. f#fi (#)
(b) The Company (b) 27
The detail movement of reserves of the Company is as follows: RABHBRFAEZEOT -
Available-
for-sale
Convertible financial
Share notes  Accumu- assets Share
premium Contributed equity lated  fair value options
account surplus reserve losses reserve reserve Total
MR
THRERE RENTHE Bk
B ARIE BARR 1] 2R 1] L1 L1

HK$ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$' 000
TERL TAR TEL TET AR TERL AL

[note i
(Hiti)

At 1 April 2007 R-E2tEMA-H 23,517 7,076 - (15,243) 15,063 - 30,413
Net profit for the year FRENEE - - - 8,240 - - 8,240
Issue for share option RTERE - - - - = 13,044 13,044
Issue of shares RkH 10,442 - - - - - 10,442
Exercise of share options TERRE 18,080 - - - - (4,565 13,515
Equity component of TRREE

convertible notes ERe - = 83,152 = = = 83,152
Deferred tox arising on issue ~ BATARREEEE

of convertible notes LR - - (22,371) - - - (22,371)
Transfer to income statement HETHEE

on disposal of available- BEEEM

forsale financial assets EABER - - - - (2,206) - (2,206)
Fair value losses in respect BETHEE

of availablefor-sale BHEEZ

financial assets NTEEE - - - - (15,243) - (15,243)
Recognition of equity-settled ERNERER 2

share-based payment DR RER 5 = = = = = 331 331
Issue of shares upon acquisition EUEKE A

of subsidiaries i 68,600 = = = = = 68,600
At 31 March 2008 and RZBENE=ZA=1-H

1 April 2008 KZZZN\EWAE-H 120,639 7,076 60,781 (7,003 (2,386) 8,810 187,917
Net loss for the year FRERTE - - - (24,403) - - (24,403
Issue of shares BIRA 104,233 - - - - = 104,233
Exercise of share options TEERE 35,855 - - - - (8,645) 27,210
Fair value losses in respect BETHEE

of availablefor-sale BHEEZ

financial assets NTEEE - - - - (1,965) - (1,965)
Transfer to income statement HETHEE

on disposal of available- BEEEM

for-sale financial assets EABRE - - - - 4,351 - 4,351
Conversion of convertible notes B w2 R Z 15 129,601 = (30,213) = = = 99,388
Release upon expiry of REREERMER

share option - - - 165 - (165) -
At 31 March 2009 RIEEAE=A=+-H 390,328 7,076 30,568 (31,241) - - 396,731
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35.RES

Note:

(i)

ERVES (continued)

Contributed surplus

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair
value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation during the year ended 31 March 2002, over the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefore and the
capitalisation of the 30,000,000 shares allotted and issued nil paid.
Under the Companies Law (2001 Second Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, the contributed surplus account is distributable to the shareholders
of the Company under certain circumstances. Details of distributable
reserve are set out in page 25 of the financial statements.

36.SHARE OPTIONS

(i)

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for
the purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the Scheme include any executives and full
time employees of the Company, including all executive directors of
the Company and its subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on
10 April 2002 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share option in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their subsidiaries, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of
the share options granted would be determined by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date which
is not later than five years from the date of the offer of the share
options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier.

35. fitifis (#)

Biiz

(i)

BARER

ARBZHABGERBREZE-ST_F=
A=t-RLEERETZERAEAMBAZ
MEBLRRGZATVE SHESBRIZEH
BREROMBT2ADAROEE 2 ZHR
& 75 1L P o 2% % 847 :230,000,0008% K A AR
RGO - REFMEHESARE(ZZZ-—F5
SRR  ARBAEE TIERABAR
BRARA 2 IR RRAEH 2K - A QB A 2
KRR Z BN B RRE25H -

36. Bz g

(i)

LEGBRERZARES
AABRE-BBRES (D -
FUMBAREMEBRRDEHERMZ 2 ER
SHEELTHERBER - ZFB2EE
KSEECERAQNITEATRAEREHE
B (BEARARAEEMMELD R ZHE
TES) - ZER-_ZZF-_FHAtTHE
£ BRIFAE M NEBUE IR %At
BRAZFERZBAET T FAREAR

REZAARSEEREIMERTEZE
REMSRz2BEEROBEVENRET
BARD B MEMESEE BRTRDZ10% ° &
SEEEERSEEMEMI2E R HER
ERREVTEZRTZHESROHME UER
BAEMBEERTROZ1%RR - LE—
SREBEREZBRE  BERRRA
SERBRRHLE -

LEAAATES TBZTHAEREEZRR
FEREZEMHBALREBRE  LEE
FEUS B FFATESHAE - 1L - ARME
1218 B 2R A @ A 2 5 o E AR B 2
AzETERRABUFHTESREMEM
BRE MEBEBERASQAREAREE
BATIR1D 201 % AE (RERXHBHA R
ARG 2 ERETE)#EB5,000,000% 7T
MABERRRAE LESRRAE -

REBREZEZZTNEHES B HES
28 MEM  ARAEXINEHRIBLTZR
BARE - IREREZTEHNHESE
B URETEBHRAERSG  BRESR
REBRERZRE N QB R FHZETE
EREH(HAREE)EHER
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36.SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 36. iR 1 ()
(i) Share-based payment transactions (i) DR SERZARES ()

(continued)

The exercise price of the share options would be determined by BREZITEEHESEE - ERESER)
the directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock RATROREBREZZREAB(XES
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the EXR)EBRM2WHE ) R(i)&AA8 R
offer of the share options, which must be a business day; and (ii) HREBEEZEELYAHARAEARS A EE
the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares Rz FHRHERERRSE » EREE
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the TEEARAEE -

offer, provided that the subscription price shall not be lower than the
nominal value of the shares.

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as RFEECEREZAFTEERAS —EE
an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve B MERRZENFESHEELN -
within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the ZAFEIIAREE BT RBEREER
Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model, taking into account the HEZHRARKGAUEGREREEER
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. Where REtE c WEEBENERGZEBREZA
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming BITHEBRY - RIBREZ G AT ELRE
unconditionally entitled to the share options, the total estimated fair JRE<S u‘l'&ﬁﬁﬂxgﬂgr EEIHEEERE
value of the share options is spread over the vesting period, taking B HIR F LA # o

into account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that REBHA SRIEHEECERER
expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair B -RBEFERIZETAFLEZEMHE
value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the income BB FABERNFEZBREE
statement for the year of the review, unless the original employee BRIEBREEEIHTERAEBEEZER
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding MERFEE D AEERZRER® o E"Ea 5
adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount B BRE—EXH R FLULRAZE
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number RREB2EREREHE (Eﬂﬁ$ﬁ%1ﬁ
of share options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the ZAEFETRE) MR BERRERER D
capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving EHE@ZFE{EEEEZE%E{'%#EU[@%?I\ o R
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s MEDRERBETER  BEEBEREET
shares. The equity amount is recognised in the capital reserve until ﬁ(a,\@iﬂxﬁ/ﬁnﬁﬁﬁﬂ—;)‘SZ%H"#EF‘,%
either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to the share (EHERELZREERE) B -

premium account) or the option expires (when it is released directly
to retained profits).

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to BRESEAERUDMBREIERRAS

vote at shareholders’ meetings. ERE-
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36.SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 36. iR 1 ()
(i) Share-based payment transactions (i) DR SERZARES ()
(continued)
At 22 August 2007, 4,400,000 share options have been granted —EELENA=Z+=H  AEEEEER
to the employees of the Group which 400,000 share options were 4,400,00017 BE B # » 400,000 i iR #E
lapsed and 4,000,000 share options are remained outstanding for EREBEZEENF=A=+—HLEFER
the year ended 31 March 2008, 2,000,000 share options were KA 0 [ 8R4,000,00010 B8 IR B AR AT
exercised during the year ended 31 March 2009 and 2,000,000 2,000,0000 EREERBE—ZZTNF=
share options were expired on 21 August 2008. No share option A=+—HIEFERETEM2,000,0001
was outstanding as at 31 March 2009. BRECA-ZZENFNA=-T—HER
R-ZBZENF=ZA=+—H LEBERED
RATEE ©
The consideration of HK$1 was paid on the grant of an option. The ARANERBRERES M 1BTZAE -
share options may be exercised at any time commencing from 22 RIBBRESE BRETR-_ZZLEN
August 2007 to 21 August 2008 in accordance with the Option B-+-—BZ=—ZZEN\FNAB=-+—HL
Scheme. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the BT - THEEBRAATEEEE  #45
Company, and will be at least the higher of (i) the closing price LTRMEFHRSE  (|RX27AROREY
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the BHEBRISERERMIIZEHE: R
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the offer date; and (ii) ([IADRARMREEENE B AEEE
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the BEBIAEARERMIZFGRTE -

Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date.

Details of specific categories of options are as follows: BREZFBOT :

Category of Exercisable  Exercisable  Outstanding Granted Exercised Expired Lapsed  Outstanding

participants Date of grant period price per share ot 1/4/2008  during year  during year  during year  during year at 31/3/2009
st 1 1% RZZBNE

mA-A ZR=1-H

SHERN #HAN fTEH BRTER A& MR EniTE EMER ERENR AR

Employees of the Company 22/8/2007 22/8/2007- HK$1.066 4,000,000 - 2,000,000) 2,000,000) - -

ADAEE 21/8/2008 10667

In accordance with the terms of the share-based arrangement, BEARDAER ZZHNGRR  BE=F

options issued during the financial year ended 31 March 2008 were ENFZR=+T—HLEURFERET

vested over the vesting period. BRECREBHREES -

The Group recognised the total expenses of approximately AEBRBE=-ZTENF=ZA=+—HL

HK$331,000 during the year ended 31 March 2008 in relation to FERARARHE 2EREBRIRERAZN

share options granted by the Company. 331,000 7T ©
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36.SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(i)

Share-based payment transactions
(continued)

The fair value of the share options granted during the year ended
31 March 2008 is HK$0.13547 each. Options were priced using
a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model. Where relevant,
the expected life used in the model has been adjusted based on
management’s best estimate for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions (including the probability of meeting market
conditions attached to the opinion), and behavioural considerations.
Expected volatility is based on the historical share price volatility
over the past 5 years. To allow for the effects of early exercise, it
was assumed that the employees of the Company would exercise the
options affer vesting date when the share price was two and a half
times the exercise price.

Inputs into model

REB#HzRE
Exercise price TREE

Grant date share price

Expected volatility TEH R iE
Expected life of the options T8 H B8 BR A A R
Dividend yield BB =

Risk-free interest rate 5 7 [ Kl =

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company's share price over the previous two years.

The Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model has been used to
estimate the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair value of the share options are based
on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

36. BB IE ()
(i) BBRGSERSARES (K

BE-_ZEN\E=-A=1+—-HLEEEAR
HZEBRENATERSH0.135478 T °
BREDUEHFENHEEEREEE - £48
B 2EXERANERFHERIEEERE
A IEE - THERS (BEERBRER
E2HSHRENEKE) URTAZEREZZ
FENREMGMIMAR - BYRIEIRER
ERFENRABBLEMEE - BEEER
RITEBREZYE  ERIRQAFAEEH
REBAHE EREATEEN-HRZ
BT (BB AR A o

AR 22

HK$1.060% 5t
HK$1.0667% 7T
52.02%

1 year®

8.2%

3.94%

KRB ABEMEA D AREZKE
i E

EHREHEETERATD AU G EREZ
DNVE-FEBREAFERAAZ2HR
BRLDZENES 2REMST - BREZE
BEBEETEBERRZTEAZHMEH -
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36.SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

36. Rz i (%)

(ii) Share options granted to Capital Builder

Investment Limited

The Company granted 47,090,400 share options (the “Options”)
to an independent third party, Capital Builder Investment Limited
(“Capital Builder”), on 21 November 2007. Capital Builder shall be
entitled to require the Company to allot and issue up to a maximum
of 47,090,400 new shares at the subscription price of HK$0.83
upon and subject to the terms set out in the option agreement
(“Option Agreement”).

The fair value of Options granted to Capital Builder is recognised
as a share option cost with a corresponding increase in a capital
reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date, using
the binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted.

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any one
year is not permitted to exceed 20% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, unless an approval by shareholders at
general meeting has been obtained.

The consideration of HK$1 is paid upon grant of Options together
with HK$5,000,000 was paid as deposits to the Company for setting
off against the subscription price payable by the subscriber for the
relevant subscription share on a pro rata basis. Options may be
exercised at any time commencing from 21 November 2007 to 20
November 2008 in accordance with the Option Agreement. The
subscription price represents: 1) a discount of approximately 18.63%
to the closing price of HK$1.02 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the last trading day; 2) a discount of approximately
19.26% to the average closing price of HK$1.028 per share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last five consecutive trading
days immediately prior to the date of the Option Agreement.

Details of the Options are as follows:

Exercisable  Exercisable  Outstanding

Participants Date of grant period price per share ot 1/4/2008

“EINE

mA-A

SHERN #HAN fTEH BRTER A&

Capital Builder 21/11/2007  21/11/2007- HK$0.83 30,608,760
20/11/2008 0.83%7

(ii) #&-FCapital Builder
Investment LimitedZ i B% i&
ARAAR-_ZZELFE+—A=-+—HEH
3 % = 75 Capital Builder Investment Limited
(I Capital Builder]) & Hi47,090,40017 B8
B (THERR#E ]) ° Capital BuilderBfEZ R
RATRIEERERZ ((BRERR]D
B2 RRERBESRO.83E T & & &
TE%47,090,4008% # AR 17 ©

& F Capital Builderz i8R 1 2 A ¥ EHE R
RA-RBRERE  MEZEAZERRRES
MEEIZ N o ZAFETIRIR L B AR R
PR IR B 2 AR R R AR A R L = TR A A A

B

REA—F A EMEARERATEREZE
RESRNEBTRORERTROHE -
THEBARDETREBEITRD 220% @ H
RIRR KRS ERRERHL A E BIMEBI o

IBT2REERNREBRESZMS M
5,000,000 8 T2 REEXNFALE » K
RPN A X AREERBASREBERE
ROMENzRABE BREIJR=-ZF
tFEF+—HA=+—-HE=ZEZENE+—8
=+ HIEBEAREERE R RERTE
REER  )VRORREXZBEBIMZ
Wi BRESR.02BTHT#EA18.63% ;5 2)
EEBREHGZAKREEREARXRSZAE
Bt X Ft iz PRI W RIE S R .02878 T T
#19.26% °

BREZFBOT
Granted Exercised Expired Lapsed  Outstanding
during year  during year  during year  during year ot 31/3/2009
RZZBAE
ZR=1-H
MR EniTE EMER ERENR

RF{TE

- [30,608,760] - - -
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36.SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
(ii) Share options granted to Capital Builder

36. iR 1 ()
(ii) #&-FCapital Builder

117

Investment Limited (continued)

The Group recognised the total expenses of approximately
HK$13,044,000 for the year ended 31 March 2008, in relating to
share options granted by the Company.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year ended
31 March 2008 is HK$0.277 each. Options were priced using
a binomial model. Where relevant, the expected life used in the
model has been adjusted based on management’s best estimate for
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions (including the
probability of meeting market conditions attached to the opinion),
and behavioral considerations. Expected volatility is based on the
historical share price volatility over the past 5 years.

Inputs into model

Investment LimitedZ i B& ig
AEEREZE=-ZEENE=A=1+—H1
FERALNGRE2ERERIAERIZY
13,044,000 Jt °

BE-ZENE=A=1t—HALEEREH
ZERENAFERSH0.2778T - BR
DU EXNAEEEENEE - #H8
ZEAFTEANEHFHERESERY
TAIEE TERG (EFERERERE
ZHSRENEE) URTAEEREZZ
EHREGFMAZR - BHREIREB A
EFEHRMERCREMERE

AR 22

Grant date share price REBHZRE HK$1.03% T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.83% 7T
Expected volatility TEH R iE 60%
Option life BREED 1 year®
Dividend yield REE 4%
Risk-free interest rate 4 [ b ) 2= 1.21%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company's share price over the previous two years.

The binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of the
options. The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.

TAHRIETD B £ R F A QR RE ZKIE
i E o

“HEAPREERX AU G EREZ
DNFE - FEBEREATFERIAZZ2HR
BRLEZEENES 2 REMT - BREZE
EREETEIEBRRZTIESHMEE -
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37.PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Company
At 31 March 2009, an equity interest of a wholly owned subsidiary of the

Company has been pledged to an independent third party to secure credit

facilities granted to the Company.

37. REEH
F2F

R=

ZEENFZA=ZT—HB  ADA—H2EHW

BRAIZRABRCEERTF—BIE=7
ARARAEREEREZHT -

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. MHEIHR
The Group
*5E
2009 2008
—EZhEF —EENE
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THET FBT
Categories of financial instruments: HMBEIRZER
Financial assets MEEE
Loans and receivables B EWFRIE 100,033 96,829
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEENKERE = 10,377
Financial liabilities HMBARE
Amortised cost [SF: 529N 677,412 859,897
39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATIONS 39. X RARREFR
The Group and the Company TEERELT

(a)

On 17 January 2009, the Mine Seller filed a statement of claim (the
“Statement of Claim”) against the Subsidiary with the High Court
of the Heilongjiang Province of the People’s Republic of China (the
“Court") seeking, among other things, (1) a recession of the relevant
agreements in respect of the transfer of the Coal Mine Company
to the Subsidiary (the “Transfer”); (2) the return of the entire equity
interest in the Coal Mine Company to the Mine Seller; and (3)
costs and other relief. On 20 April 2009, the Company received a
summons from the Court (attaching the Statement of Claim) as official
notice of proceedings against the Subsidiary (the “Litigation”).

Subsequent to the hearings held on 22 July 2009 and 13 November
2009 and up to the date of this report, no judgment has been made
by the Court. The directors of the Company are of the opinion, after
obtaining legal advice from the Company’s legal advisors, that the
Litigation can be defended and may not result in loss of control of
the Coal Mine Company.

(a)

—EENF-A+tA BEESHEHE
ARIMEFEREIESRARER ([
B RIXBPRELE (RREAE]) - B
RER(HFPEE) (1)BUEERERKE QR
BEEBEAR (TEE]) 2AEHE (2)m
ERELRERBLR 22HRE  KX(3)
ERAREMHEES R-BTFAFENA=T
B ARAREEERBHZER (MERER
PR EZ) - R LB Q RREFR
(TEFa 1) 2 ENEBA -

RZZEZENFLtA-ZT+T-ZHER=ZZ=LEF
+T—Bt+=BETRME BFELHEEA
B AREAEH c KRARESHREEBEAA
FAIARBEBZEERRERE  WHRHATTF
il MOETSERBAUHBBELAT 22
HIFE o
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39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATIONS 39. R AR ()
(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued) FEERFNF(HE)
(b) On 15 December 2009, the Company issued proceedings against b) R=ZTZNAF+=-—A+HB XQABAEES

BEERHERAAMNATESR —BETE
REABEE(HEE]D) RBEAEERRF
AREBRERAEEEREN  MABSKEA
AABEREERHERBEMZENRE
RARD -—BR=-ZFZLtFAA=+AHA
AN EE WS  ERENEERRRAS
RRBAHRAEECBBIEER AR -

Mr. Hung Chen Richael (“Mr. Hung”), a former executive director
and a substantial shareholders of the Company, at the High Court
of Hong Kong with regards to a breach of contract by Mr. Hung, in
connection with a sale and purchase agreement dated 25 September
2007 made between the Company and Mr. Hung in relation to the
sale and purchase and subscription of shares in the Subsidiary. In the
opinion of the directors, based on legal advice, the Company has a
genuine and valid claim against Mr. Hung.

40. COMMITMENTS 40. % i
The Group
*5H
2009 2008
ZEEhE —EEN\EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T FET
Commitments for the acquisition of property, WEEYZE - BEK

plant and equipment RfG 2 AT - 140

41.0PERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 41 . BEHR R

The Group leases certain of its office properties and exhibition venues AEBRBLEEHEZHHEREETHRAZYE
REBSH PRAEYXHEHNKLHEED -
FHH-—2=F1% MERESHZHASHAIR

REBEHMBE  —RAEIR-EH-

under operating lease arrangements. Leases for office properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years and the leases for
exhibition venues are negotiated according to the exhibition periods,
normally less than one week.

At 31 March 2009, the Group had total future minimum lease payments RE-ZBEAE=ZRA=1+—0 ' XEERETAH
fHz L RABFELEHOMER T 5 HRA A
ZARRBBMBHMNREHNT ¢

under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings
falling due as follows:

The Group
x5E

2009 2008
ZEShE —EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THET FET
Within one year —FR 35,929 36,027
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EZELF (BEEREME) 3,697 9,268
39,626 45,295

REER ARALBEALEREZH (=%
ZNEFHE) o

The Company did not have significant operating lease arrangements at the

balance sheet date (2008: Nil).
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42, MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 42. EXREBEALES

In additions to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these BT BREREMEAFRBECRZ REHRIN

financial statements, during the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group REBE-ZENF=ZA=Z+—HLEE XL FH

had entered into the following material related party transactions: BRI THERBEALRS -

Key management personnel remuneration FEEBRARME

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid to FTEEBAESZHE (BIFWNM KRR T0H

the Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 10 fo the financial statement BECENFARARAESZRE)UOT :

is as follow:

The Group
*5H
2009 2008
—EEAE —EENEF
HK$’000 HK$" 000
T#T FTET

Short term employee benefits EHEREREF 15,243 15,648

MPF Contribution BESMR 98 111

Share-based payment DU D R EHE 2 K - 232

15,341 15,991

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” in Note 8 to the financial MEBBHEEEIE IRA](BHHRKRMES)

statements. A o

Transactions carried out with related parties HEAEALETZES

The Group
*%E

2009 2008

ZEEAE —EENEF

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

TET FET

Interest expense paid to a shareholder, @) IR R B E X2
Mr. Hung Chen Richael AME X H 118 =
43. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 43. X BFBETH

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group had the following major RBEZZZNF=ZA=+—-HILFE  x&H

non-cash transactions: BTIERFRERS :

(i) As at 31 March 2008, the Company issued and allotted a total (i) R=ETBENFE=A=+—H8 X2 RER
of 70,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at HK$0.5 per 0.58 T2 BT RE#E470,000,000
share which was approximately HK$35,000,000 to Mr. Hung Chen, REREE0.OIBIT2EBR FTH_MEL
Richael, as the partial consideration for the Acquisition. {B{E A35,000,0008 7T J3 BIEZ W EE

BI1H 2 BHAE

(i) As at 31 March 2008, the Company issued convertible note in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$345,000,000 to Mr. Hung Chen, (i) R=EZBENFZA=+—H AQF@EHH
Richael, as the consideration for the Acquisition. SeEBITA S HE B345,000,00078 T 2

HREREE  FRARBEEZKE-
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44.ENVIRONMENTAL CONTINGENCIES 44 RRBRAR

To date, the Group has not incurred any significant expenditures for
environmental remediation and has not accrued any amounts for
environmental remediation relating to its mining operations. Under existing
legislation, management believes that there are no probable liabilities that
will have a material adverse effect on the financial position or operation
results of the Group. The PRC government, however, has moved and may
move further towards more rigorous enforcement of applicable laws,
and fowards the adoption of more stringent environmental standards.
Environmental liabilities are subject to considerable uncertainties which
affect the Group’s ability to estimate the ultimate cost of remediation
efforts. These uncertainties include: (i) the exact nature and extent of the
contamination at various sites including, but not limited to mines and

BERK AEELARBEHENERECA
BAKE - IR B 7 B AR AE A5 AR B 0 BB 0B
BUE—SHHEEASENES - ERAEER
T EEBASTEREEATEEAEEN
HERARCEELAEEACEYENEE - A
- FEBRFC LA TEE - S ERERRE
WATEREERFENEBENBBREEE
BRABERNTEEEERA  LUETEE
EEEH BRBRBEEBNRANED - 22
FREEZEE  (IHEhE (BIEEFRNE
B DEEAMCEENEERMTE) FRt
SRR ENRE ; (()FENEE TR

processing plants whether operating, closed and sold; (ii) the extent of (i) S EHRBEAOR ; (iv)RBHERENR
required cleanup efforts; (iii) varying costs of alternative remediation B R(vHFEEBERNER - HRARMNZTITRE

strategies; (iv) changes in environmental remediation requirements; and
(v) the identification of new remediation sites. The amount of such future
cost is indeterminable due to such factors as the unknown magnitude
of possible contamination and the unknown timing and extent of the
corrective actions that may be required. Accordingly, the outcome of
environmental liabilities under proposed or future environmental legislation
cannot reasonably be estimated at present and could be material.
The Group has not incurred any expenses in respect of environmental
remediation during this year (2008: Nil).

45.POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

In addition to events disclosed elsewhere in theses financial statements, the

EX BRI s e R B AR E SR
E OMAEBESRSIRNER - ALt KEHE
BREARRNBRBERELEREAEEHNRRA
ENEEELTEANSERE  BAAKTIE
Ko AN EL B R (R 30 4 50 3R 45 40 1B 0 8% 15 (E AT R
X (ZEZENE &) o

45. "EH&ER
PR B ER MO EERN  AREZ

Group has the following post balance sheet events: HEABREZENT :
(a) On 26 February 2009, Pro-capital Investments Limited (“Pro- (o) R=Z2FAF-A=-F+RA A2AFAZE

capital”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a
formal sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai
and Mr. Javed Igbal Khan to sell the entire share capital of Group
Idea International Llimited and the amount payable to Pro-capital,
amounting to approximately HK$2,975,000, with a consideration of
approximately HK$5,000,000 which will be satisfied by cash. The
disposal was completed on 6 April 2009. The transaction constituted
a connected transaction. For more details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 6 April 2009.

& {8 A FPro-capital Investments Limited
(TPro-Capital |) BRI & £ REEE K
AN EREEHZE 0 LUHEGroup Idea
International Limitedz 2 &B 2 8 17 B 24< BA
K H P& f$Pro-Capital 2 E K #2,975,0007%
7T 185,000,000 T AR S BT o H
ESEHER-ZEZNFOARHENR - X5H
BR—EEERS - At BF2 A A
HBRA-ZZENFHARHZAM -

(b) On 15 April 2009, Twinkle Win Limited (“Twinkle Win"), a wholly- b)) R=ZFZAFEWA+HHAB > Twinkle Win
owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a memorandum of Limited ([ Twinkle Winl > KA Gz & &
understanding with Right Source International Limited and Fortune Ff$ B X &) E2Right Source International
In Investments Limited (collectively referred to as “the Vendors”), in Limited & Fortune In Investments Limited (&
respect of the proposed acquisition of the entire shareholding in BIEAF)BEZRRBELRE (5E) BR
Realty Investment (Group) Limited. For more details, please refer to DR Z2EBRER] L RRE % o HthEF1E
the Company’s announcement dated 15 April 2009. F2HARRABH-_ZEETNFNA+EA

2D e
(c) On 29 December 2008, the Company announced a change of the () R=ZENF+ZA=THhAH TAREM

Company’s financial year end from 31 March to 31 December. On
15 April 2009, the Board announces that it has resolved to change
the financial year end date of the Company back to 31 March from
31 December with immediate effect.

BAARZHBEELAEAR=A=1+—
AAT=—A=t—H R=-ZZNAFMNA
TEHA EEREMRRERQFAZTBEF
E#&EHBRT-_A=+—HXE=ZA=+—
B ENBEAER -
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45.POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (continued) A5. BEB®ER ()

(d) On 19 May 2009, the Company entered into a subscription d R=ZFFEARERA+NE  &xAFEACE
agreement with ACE Channel Limited (“ACE”), under which ACE Channel Limited ([ ACE ) 7T 32 2 B8 th &% -
have agreed to subscribe 178,000,000 new shares to be issued by Bt ACERERBSHARATEITZ
the Company. The consideration to be received by the Company for 178,000,000 #7 A& 10 o A< 2 &) 8 17 &%
the issue of the 178,000,000 new shares shall be used for general 178,000,0008% % A% 14 Fr W BR = K E #& 1
working capital purposes including but not limited to the payment of —REEES AR BEATRNTKE
the consideration of acquisition of the Coal Mine Company. For more RIEARZRE - A BEFE2EA QA A
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 19 May MA—ZZENFEATABAZAM -
2009.

On 26 May 2009, the Company has completed the first phase RZZBZEAEREA=ZF+AB  ARAFAZEK
subscription. The 89,000,000 new shares at the subscription price E—PEERRIEEE - 89,000,000 31 A% 15
of HK$0.338 per share were alloted and issued to ACE. For more ERER0.338B T 2R B ERERETT
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 26 May ACE - Hitizx BB 2HAA XA RHA=ZF
2009. NERBZ=+RBZQ

On 10 June 2009, the Company has completed the second phase RZZBZFEANEASATH  XATEREZM
subscription. The 89,000,000 new shares at the subscription price RFBEBE1E - 89,000,000 R E RS
of HK$0.338 per share were alloted and issued to ACE. For more f%0.338B T 2 R EEEHl 2% | 21T FACE °
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 10 June HithFBHEZ2EARARABHE-_ZZhEF
2009. NATHZAM -

(e) On 26 June 2009, a lawyer letter was issued by Heilongjiang Far le) R=ZZZAFEANAZ+B BEIRRE
East Lawyer Group, as the Subsidiary’s PRC lawyers (“Heilongjiang MEBEXR (ERHNEB AR 2R EEA)
Lawyers”), to the Mine Seller, requesting the Mine Seller to provide (TEBEE IR IEBEE R —NEM
written information on particulars of the name of receiving bank, B EREEESUEZMEREEWRET
the account holder’s name and account number, eftc. (“Payment E2B RFEBAZBRERFHEBEFSE
Particulars”) to effect the payment of Transfer consideration. TRFEFEED  UBRZINEZERE -
Subsequently, the Subsidiary issued another two reminding letters % HMBLARLAAOKEESEHEE S MWE
to the Mine Seller, to keep repeating the request for Payment ERE  BERERRHAKFE -BREWEB
Particulars. Notwithstanding that the Subsidiary had endeavored REACEBOARBEELEHRZHBHE - U
to discharge its obligation of settling the Transfer consideration SIETERBREBHBEHHRETR
timely pursuant to the Mine Acquisition Extension Agreement by BRXNEEREZEE BREBEELFNRE
serving several notices to the Mine Seller, the Mine Seller has not FIM B A B s BRI R AR G ©

yet informed either the Subsidiary or Heilongjiang Lawyers of any
Payment Particulars.

On 16 July 2009, the Subsidiary received three civil decrees R=ZZAFLA+B  WEARWKEAR
(“Intermediate Court Decrees”) and a notice requesting for settlement EERTEWREETFRARZER ((WHEESD
of third party debts (“Third Party Notice”), all dated 14 July BERDBHARA-ZZNRFLA+H
2009, issued by Heilongjiang Haerbin Intermediate People’s Court Hz=mREIEE [FAERESDR
(“Haerbin Intermediate Court”). Pursuant fo the Intermediate Court —NEREFE=ZANBTEMNEZEETZEA
Decrees and the Third Party Notice, legal actions were taken by E(E=ZABHAE]D - BEBEFPERES
sub-branch of the Heilongjiang branch of the Agricultural Bank of REZANBHE  PERERBRTEERIED
China (“Heilongjiang Agricultural Bank”) on 13 July 2009 at the TEEZT((BHEIEZEBTENR=-Z
Haerbin Intermediate Court in respect of disputes arising from loan ZNELtAT=ZBERHEET R LERE
agreement(s) entered into between Heilongjiang Agricultural Bank, BEOTEHERT BEEHEEARE S EL
the Mine Seller and Jiamusi Northern Coal Chemical Engineering ITEREEARNTLZERBEMEEZ
Co., Ltd (“Loan Agreement Proceedings”). MPRBUERTE ([ERBREREFRD ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HBE-ZZAF=A=1+—HILFE
45.POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (continued)

(e)

(f)

(continued)

In accordance with the Intermediate Court Decrees, in the light
of the Loan Agreement Proceedings, (i) the Subsidiary is ordered
not to settle the total sum of RMB66,433,400 with the Mine Seller
directly; and (ii) if it is necessary to settle the total payment of
RMB66,433,400 with the Mine Seller, such payment shall be paid
into the Haerbin Intermediate Court instead. In accordance with
the Third Party Notice, the Subsidiary is ordered (i) not to seftle the
Transfer consideration with the Mine Seller directly; and (ii) to pay
into the Haerbin Intermediate Court the sum of RMB73,566,600
or fo raise objection against the Third Party Notice within 15 days
after receiving the same. The Haerbin Intermediate Court will enforce
the Third Party Notice if there is no objection or non-performance
on part of the Subsidiary upon expiry of the time limit set out in the
Third Party Notice. The total sum referred to in the Intermediate Court
Decrees and the Third Party Notice is RMB140,000,000 (which is

equivalent to the sum of Transfer consideration).

Upon seeking Heilongjiang Lawyers’ legal opinions on the
Intermediate Court Decrees and the Third Party Notice, the
Subsidiary was advised by the Heilongjiang Lawyers, among others,
that the Intermediate Court Decrees and the Third Party Notice were
entirely lawful and should be complied with. As in Heilongjiang
Lawyers’ opinion, the obligation of payment of Transfer consideration
can be discharged through payment of Transfer consideration into
the Haerbin Intermediate Court, the Subsidiary was thus further
advised to arrange payment of RMB140,000,000 into the Haerbin
Intermediate Court. The Subsidiary has effected payment of
RMB140,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$159,320,000)
into the Haerbin Intermediate Court on 20 July 2009.

On 13 October 2009, the Company entered info a memorandum
of understanding with Mr. Chen Kangliu (collectively referred to as
“the Seller”), pursuant to which the Group intends to acquire and
the Seller intends to sell the entire shareholding of Harbour Score
Holdings Limited. For more details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 13 October 2009.

46. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 31 December 2009.

45. GHA®EE (&)

(e)

(f)

(%)

REPBERMES  ERE R REER
B (MBARABS I SEEARERES
EREHARY66,433,400C Z2FHE : &
(B EEREBRELSENZESLARYE
66,433,4007T 2 FRIA R » FE [0 13 BB AR
ERRNERENE - REFE=ABAZE - 1
BARAES (| TEEEARRELEN
EERE R()VEAREER R ERRM
AR¥73,566,6007T 2 FRIADNIE W 2% 5
ZABAZZBEFTHEEARRERE o
EZE=ZABNEMH ZRBBH 2R
Z A0S~ B 3 AR R S B A R I
BBTERGS  IREETRERESR
FIRMTZE=ZABAE - REPFERES
RE=ZANBHE FRZRBALBEHSARE
140,000,000t (HHERERENE 2 L) ©

B & A B 7 75+ BRE TR B B P AR
EREBESTREFZANBMENERZZRR
BEREHPEE) PRERBESRE=ZAE
HEZTEEH  BEET - BREILEME—
TRETUBBEREETR LG REE
ZREERETIXVERAE2ZEE - Bt
Fif B 2 R FE ) MR BB R AUE B T AR W
140,000,000t ° B A B ER =N
FLtA-THAREETRERRTZEA
F#140,000,0007T (1851 159,320,000
BIT) ZFRIA e

REZZZAF+A+T=H  ARREREN
RETERD T LRBRESE  HiIt &K
SEBEKBEMBELFREEBSERERA
Al 2 ERE - At ER2HA 2 EHE
ACEZNFTRAT=H2Afi-

46. FEMBGHERTI RSE

ZUMBRRENR=-ZENF+=B=+—HEE
EEMERRET -
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